Notice of Cabinet
Date: Wednesday, 9 September 2020 at 10.00 am

Venue: Skype Meeting

BCP

Council

Membership:

Chairman:
Clir V Slade

Vice Chairman:
Clir M Howell

CliIr L Allison Clir A Hadley
Clir D Brown Cllr S Moore
Clir L Dedman Clir M Phipps

Clir Dr F Rice
Clir K Wilson

All Members of the Cabinet are summoned to attend this meeting to consider the items of

business set out on the agenda below.

The press and public are welcome to view the live stream of this meeting at the following

link:

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Mld=4254

If you would like any further information on the items to be considered at the meeting please
contact: Sarah Culwick (01202 795273) or email democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

Press enquiries should be directed to the Press Office: Tel: 01202 454668 or

emalil press.office@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

This notice and all the papers mentioned within it are available at democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk

GRAHAM FARRANT
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

1 September 2020

on the Mod.gov app

(83

Available online and

BCP Council Offices, Town Hall, Bourne Avenue, Bournemouth BH2 6DY



Maintaining and promoting high standards of conduct Selflessness

Councillors should act solely
Declaring interests at meetings !n terms of the public
Familiarise yourself with the Councillor Code of Conduct which can be found in interest

Part 6 of the Council’s Constitution. Integrity

Before the meeting, read the agenda and reports to see if the matters to be Councillors must avoid
discussed at the meeting concern your interests placing themselves under

any obligation to people or
organisations that might try
inappropriately to influence
them in their work. They
should not act or take
decisions in order to gain
financial or other material
benefits for themselves,
their family, or their friends.
They must declare and
resolve any interests and

Do any matters being discussed at the meeting relate to your registered interests?

Disclosable Pecuniary Local

Interest Interest v

Declare the nature of

Declare the nature of Do you have a personal
the interest the interest interest in the matter?

h 4

v

h 4

,t

.

Do NOT participate Applying the bias and Consider the ]| You can relationships
in the item at the pre-determination bias and pre- take P
meeting. Do NOT tests means you may determinaliion partin
speak or vote on the need to refrain from tests the Councillors must act and
item EXCEPT where speaking and voting meeting take decisions impartially,
you hold a speak fairly and on merit, using the
dispensation v and best evidence and without

E
™ vote discrimination or bias
v You may also need

to leave the meeting

- Accountability
You are advised to | Please seek advice You may need to _

leave the room from the Monitoring refrain fr?'rc')lliﬁgeaklng & Councillorg are acc_ountable
during the debate | Officer ) to tl‘_le_ public for th_e|r
v decisions and actions and
must submit themselves to
[ You may also need ) the scrutiny necessary to
to leave the meeting. ensure this

| Please seek advice ) Openness

Councillors should act and
take decisions in an open
and transparent manner.
Information should not be
withheld from the public
unless there are clear and
lawful reasons for so doing

Honesty & Integrity

Councillors should act with
honesty and integrity and
should not place themselves
in situations where their

What are the principles of bias and pre-determination and how do they affect my

participation in the meeting?

Bias and predetermination are common law concepts. If they affect you, your
participation in the meeting may call into question the decision arrived at on the
item.

In all the circumstances, would it lead a fair minded and informed observer to
conclude that there was a real possibility or a real danger that the decision

maker was biased?
honesty and integrity may

Predetermination Test be questioned
At the time of making the decision, did the decision maker have a closed mind? Leadership

Councillors should exhibit
v these principles in their own
behaviour. They should
If a councillor appears to be biased or to have predetermined their decision, actively promote and

they must NOT participate in the meeting. robustly support the

. . . . " principles and be willing to
For more information or advice please contact the Monitoring Officer challenge poor behaviour

(anne.brown@bcpcouncil.gov.uk) wherever it occurs



mailto:anne.brown@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

AGENDA

Items to be considered while the meeting is open to the public

Apologies
To receive any apologies for absence from Councillors.

Declarations of Interests

Councillors are requested to declare any interests on items included in this
agenda. Please refer to the workflow on the preceding page for guidance.

Declarations received will be reported at the meeting.

Confirmation of Minutes

To confirm and sign as a correct record the minutes of the Meeting held on
29 July 2020.

Public Issues

To receive any public questions, statements or petitions submitted in
accordance with the Constitution. Further information on the requirements
for submitting these is available to view at the following link:-

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s2305/Public%20ltems%2
0-%20Meeting%20Procedure%20Rules.pdf

The deadline for the submission of public questions is Wednesday 2
September 2020.

The deadline for the submission of a statement is 12.00 noon, Tuesday 8
September 2020.

The deadline for the submission of a petition is 12.00 noon, Tuesday 8
September 2020.

Recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Board

To consider recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Board on
items not otherwise included on the Cabinet Agenda.

DLEP - FWP Corridor Programme
This Cabinet Report has been developed to:

i) Note the allocation of £1,050,000 of Dorset Local Enterprise
Partnership (DLEP) funding and seek approval to add it into the
2020/21 LTP Capital Programme for delivery of the Wallisdown
Road element of the FWP corridors programme.

i) Note the commitment for BCP Council to deliver complimentary
schemes as part of this programme.

iii) Seek approval to progress with detailed design and stakeholder

engagement for the Wallisdown Road element of the programme.

21 -28


https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s2305/Public%20Items%20-%20Meeting%20Procedure%20Rules.pdf
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s2305/Public%20Items%20-%20Meeting%20Procedure%20Rules.pdf

Adult Social Care Strategy

This report presents the Adult Social Care Strategy for approval after being
considered by the Health and Social Care Overview and Scrutiny
Committee on 27" July 2020.

The report outlines how Adult Social Care has engaged with stakeholders,
including people who use services and carers, in order to inform he
strategic priorities for the next 4 years.

It set outs how the priorities align to the Fulfilled Lives objectives in the
Corporate Strategy and the Council’s wider transformation programme. The
strategy responds to national drivers, legislation and where performance
measures and customer feedback indicates that strategic change is
required to deliver improvements in outcomes and services.

The report highlights the potential to develop new approaches to service
delivery as a result of learning through the COVID 19 pandemic. The
overarching priorities for the Strategy are:

Engage with individuals and communities to promote well-being
Support people to live safe and independent lives

Value and support carers

Enable people to live well through quality social care

Deliver Services that are modern and accessible

Performance Management Framework

Following approval and adoption of the Corporate Strategy and delivery
plans on the 12 February ‘20, Cabinet also supported the development of a
Corporate Performance Management Framework as a mechanism for
monitoring progress and ensuring accountability for delivery of the
Corporate Strategy and six delivery plans.

A draft performance management framework has been developed for BCP
Council. The framework proposes how the council can monitor and review
progress with delivering the priorities set out in the Corporate Strategy and
all other council strategies and plans.

It encompasses the roles and responsibilities of officers, reporting
arrangements and the review process.

The new BCP Corporate Performance Management Framework is an
amalgamation of the legacy Council’s frameworks and is based on best
practice guidance from the Local Government Association.

Emergency Active Travel Fund Programme

Update on progress of Tranche 1 Emergency Active Travel Fund
Programme schemes and retrospective approval of the indicative schedule
of schemes in the Tranche 2 application to the fund. This programme aims
to introduce at pace temporary and experimental active travel measures
that subject to successful trials could be made permanent to lock in the
potential active travel benefits (shift to active travel by the public) as result
of the Covid-19 pandemic.

29 -40

41 - 50

51-62



10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

Bournemouth Christchurch Poole Parking Standards Supplementary
Planning Document

The Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) sets out
a consolidated approach across BCP to supersede earlier legacy council
Parking SPDs and establish new local parking standards for residential and
non-residential development schemes. On adoption the SPD will be a
material consideration which will apply when determining future planning
applications. Cabinet is requested to endorse the current draft Parking
Standards SPD and agree its release for a four-week consultation
commencing 7 September 2020.

Waste Services Policies

Since the formation of BCP Council in April 2019 it has been known that
within waste services, there are several operating procedures that need
to be aligned between the three legacy councils.

Prior to developing our own waste strategy, there are several primarily
operational decisions that need to be made as carrying on as we are is
becoming increasingly difficult.

By addressing and aligning differences in service such as bin sizes and
colours, charges for bins, collections of other recyclables and subsidies for
home composting and real nappies, efficiencies can be made operationally,
and clearer communication messages given to residents across BCP
Council.

Public Spaces Protection Orders (PSPO)

This report follows on from a report made to Cabinet in March 2020. It
reports the results of a public consultation now completed, which sought
views on the varying of the current PSPO in place for Poole Town Centre
and Holes Bay. The report now recommends that Cabinet adopt the
proposed amendments.

In addition, the report considers the use of PSPO’s across BCP and seeks
approval of a further public consultation which seeks to consider a BCP
wide PSPO aimed at managing general anti-social behaviour issues across
our communities.

Traffic Regulation Orders - Riverside Avenue

To approve the advertisement of changes to the Traffic Regulation Order
(TRO) for the prohibition of motor vehicles restriction on Riverside Avenue
shown in Appendix 1.

Traffic Regulation Orders - Hurn Court Lane

To approve the advertisement of changes to the Traffic Regulation Orders
(TROs) on Hurn Court Lane to prohibit motor vehicles to provide a
dedicated quiet two-way route for the enjoyment of walkers, cyclists and
horse riders.

63 - 144

145 - 168

169 - 176

177 -182

183 - 190



15.

16.

17.

Exclusion of Press and Public

In relation to the items of business appearing below, the Committee is
asked to consider the following resolution: -

‘That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public
be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the
grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as
defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act and that the
public interest in withholding the information outweighs such interest in
disclosing the information.’

Disposal of Broadwaters site, Wick Lane. Bournemouth (change in
sale price)

The site of Broadwaters, a former care home, was declared surplus and
was marketed for sale in Spring 2019.

A preferred bidder with a residential offer was selected, however extensive
discussions between the potential developers and the Local Planning
Authority have resulted in a much smaller scheme being possible than was
originally envisaged. This has in turn resulted in a reduced bid for the site.
This report sets out the new sale price and requests approval to dispose of
the site at that level.

Cabinet Forward Plan
To consider the latest version of the Cabinet Forward Plan for approval.

191 -198

No other items of business can be considered unless the Chairman decides the matter is urgent for reasons that
must be specified and recorded in the Minutes.



Agenda Item 3

-1-
BOURNEMOUTH, CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL
CABINET

Minutes of the Meeting held on 29 July 2020 at 10.00 am

Present:-
ClIr V Slade — Chairman
Clir M Howell — Vice-Chairman

Present: Clir D Brown, Clir L Dedman, ClIr A Hadley, ClIr S Moore,
Clir M Phipps, CliIr Dr F Rice and ClIr K Wilson

Also in Clir P Broadhead and ClIr M lyengar

attendance:

197. Declarations of Interests
Councillor S Moore declared a local interest in Minute No. 211 (Significant
Changes to Maintained Schools for September 2020 and 2021) and
remained present for the discussion and voting thereon.

198. Confirmation of Minutes
The Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 24 June 2020 were confirmed
and signed as a correct record.
Voting: Unanimous

199. Public Issues
The Leader advised that 1 public question had been received in relation to
Agenda Item 6 (Referral from Council — Motion). The Leader advised that a
copy of the public question had been circulated to the Cabinet and had
been published on the Councils website.

200. Recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Board
Cabinet were advised that there were no additional recommendations from
the Overview and Scrutiny Board on items not otherwise included on the
Cabinet Agenda on this occasion.

201. Referral from Council - Motion

A report was presented to Cabinet, a copy of which had been circulated to
each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix ‘A’ to these
Minutes in the Minute Book.

The Leader reminded Members that this report had been brought to
Cabinet following the Motion to Council that it be considered.



202.

CABINET
29 July 2020

Councillor lyengar addressed the Cabinet on behalf of the Conservative
Group Leader and provided an overview of the report as presented to
Council, and the reasons for presenting it.

The Leader thanked Councillor Iyengar for his introduction and welcomed
some of the ideas. Further to this Portfolio Holders spoke in turn addressing
the areas raised within the report relating to their portfolios.

In addition Councillor White addressed the Cabinet as the Shadow Portfolio
Holder for Children and Families responding to the comments made by the
Portfolio Holder for Children and Families.

In closing Cabinet highlighted that it would be imprudent to change the
budget for the current in year when it is not known whether there will be a
second wave of the Coronavirus pandemic which would have significant
budgetary implications, but further to this felt that areas within the report
and comments made could be taken on board through the year.

RESOLVED that Cabinet noted the report.

Update on BCP Council's response to the COVID-19 pandemic

The Chief Executive presented a report, a copy of which had been
circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'B' to
these Minutes in the Minute Book.

The Chief Executive advised that this report provided a further update
summarising the Council’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic since the
last meeting of the Cabinet.

In presenting the report the Chief Executive highlighted that the key
activities for the Council during June and early July had been to respond to
the challenges resulting from the relaxation of Government restrictions on
movement and the opening of a wider range of businesses, together with
working on a transformational approach to re-introducing and resetting
Council services.

The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board addressed Cabinet
advising that at their recent meeting the Board resolved to make the
following recommendation to Cabinet in respect of this item:

The Overview and Scrutiny Board recommends to Cabinet that it seeks to
bring in year rigorous, responsive and robust enforcement action into
current operational practices, particularly in regard to parking and overnight
camping on the beaches.

The Leader thanked the Board for their recommendations and in relation to
this highlighted that the by laws relating to overnight camping were very out
of date, and that the intention was that these will be reviewed during the
winter stressing that this wasn’t feasible for a review to be carried out over
the summer season. In addition the Leader advised that a new policy will be
established with regards to clamping and towing away and that this was
already being considered.

RESOLVED that the Council’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic be
noted.



203.

204.

CABINET
29 July 2020

2019/20 Financial Outturn Report

The Portfolio Holder for Finance presented a report, a copy of which had
been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix
'C' to these Minutes in the Minute Book.

Cabinet were advised that this report provided details of the final financial
outturn for the revenue account, capital programme, reserves and the
housing revenue account (HRA) for the financial year 2019/20. In relation to
this Cabinet were advised the general fund revenue outturn is a surplus of
£0.2 million for the year, and that consequentially this means that the
council has successfully delivered the outturn within the financial
parameters of the original 2019/20 Budget set by the Shadow Authority and
without drawing down on the financial resilience reserves set aside to
manage the high level of uncertainty in the first year of the new council.

Cabinet were further advised that this was an improved position compared
with the anticipated overspend leading to a draw on reserves of £2.7 million
predicted at quarter three, and that the improved position overall is
generally from work concluded in the final quarter to establish the opening
balance sheet of BCP Council including the position in relation to inherited
debt. The finally agreed position, coupled with a full review of all legacy
council balance sheet items, has generated £3 million of favourable one-off
variances to balance the annual position.

With regards to the financial cost of the Covid-19 Cabinet were informed
that the public health emergency had been significant in the final quarter
with an estimated £3.5 million impact from lost revenue, particularly from
carparking, and in reflecting the longer-term concerns for the local
economy, but that other net favourable variances within directorate services
had largely offset these pressures. In concluding Cabinet were advised that
it was proposed that the surplus for the year is added to the financial
resilience reserve.

Cabinet praised the work of the Officers and the Portfolio Holder in bringing
this report together.

RESOLVED that Cabinet:-

€) note the year-end financial outturn positions achieved including
revenue, capital, reserves and for the HRA; and

(b) agree the capital virements in paragraph 84 of the report.
RECOMMENDED that Council:-

(c) agreethe capital virements in paragraph 85 of the report.
Voting: Unanimous

Portfolio Holder: Finance

Adoption of the Statement of Community Involvement

The Portfolio Holder for Strategic Planning presented a report, a copy of
which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as
Appendix 'D' to these Minutes in the Minute Book.

9



205.

CABINET
29 July 2020

Cabinet were advised that the Statement of Community Involvement (SCI)
set out how a local planning authority engages with its residents when
preparing local plans and through the planning application process. In
relation to this Cabinet were advised that the SCI was endorsed by Cabinet
for public consultation for a six-week period in October 2019, and that the
revised SCI had been amended following consultation to reflect comments
received and where necessary updated information. Further to this Cabinet
were informed that this included recent government guidance on social
distancing to allow for temporary changes to consultation arrangements.

Cabinet were asked to approve the revised SCI and recommend it for
adoption by Council.

RECOMMENDED that:-

(@ the revised Statement of Community Involvement (Appendix 1)
and recommends adoption by Full Council;

(b) prior to publication of the SCI, authority be delegated to the
Director for Growth & Infrastructure in liaison with the Portfolio
Holder for Strategic Planning to make any further minor textual
changes; and

(c) A review of the Statement of Community Involvement be
undertaken within 1 year of adoption to assess and monitor its
effectiveness.

Voting: Unanimous
Portfolio Holder: Strategic Planning

Local Government Association Special Interest Groups

The Leader of the Council presented a report, a copy of which had been
circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'E' to
these Minutes in the Minute Book.

Cabinet were informed that LGA Special Interest Groups were able to make
representations direct to Government and elsewhere on matters arising
directly from their special interest, and were able to obtain LGA assistance
in doing so.

In relation to this Cabinet were advised that the Policy and Performance
Team had produced a summary table of the special interest groups that the
authority would have an interest in due to geographical, organisational and
strategic considerations, a copy of which had been tabled as Appendix 1 to
the report.

Further to this Cabinet were informed that the Policy and Performance
Team were able to:

e act as the point of contact for Special Interest Groups,
e receive the agendas,
e prepare briefing papers,

e request items of local interest are added to the agenda as directed,

10



206.

CABINET
29 July 2020

e co-ordinate and track responses,
e and share learning across organisation as appropriate.

The Leader advised that the groups were assessed on values and
outcomes and that there were further groups for which enquires were being
made.

The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board advised that there were
other groups which other Members of the Council were currently involved in
which weren’t on this list and urged that all Councillors work together, in
respect of this the Leader asked if a list could please be circulated so that a
collaborative approach could be established.

RESOLVED that:-

(a) Cabinet note the six special interest groups the authority is
currently involved in; and

(b) The Policy and Performance Team make further enquiries and
the necessary arrangements for an appropriate Councillor or
Officer to be appointed to the necessary SIGs

Voting: Unanimous
Portfolio Holder: Leader of the Council

Sub-Regional Partnerships

The Leader of the Council presented a report, a copy of which had been
circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'F' to
these Minutes in the Minute Book.

Cabinet were advised that BCP Council was part of several sub-regional
and sub-national partnerships which involved different directorates and
service areas, and that many of the partnerships covered different
geographical areas. In relation to this Cabinet were informed that recently,
new sub-regional and sub-national partnerships had begun to form and that
they were asking BCP Council to be part of them.

In relation to this Cabinet were advised that this report set out the main sub-
regional and sub-national partnerships the Council is part of and those that
it could have a future interest in, enabling Cabinet to take a strategic view.

Additionally, Cabinet were asked to note that the current intention for BCP
Council is to express an interest in membership of the evolving Western
Gateway Powerhouse given its strong synergy with the Western Gateway
Sub National Transport Body, and that the above is subject though to
Dorset Council formalising its own position so that Dorset as a sub- region
is then best placed to benefit from future government infrastructure funding.

RESOLVED that Cabinet:-

(@) note that subject to confirmation of the alignment of Dorset
Council’s formal position, that BCP Cabinet agrees to express
an intent to join the Western Gateway Powerhouse and that
negotiation of the detailed terms be delegated to the Director of
Growth and Infrastructure;

11



207.

CABINET
29 July 2020

(b) approve the continuation of support to the sub-regional and
sub-national partnerships BCP Council is currently involved in;
and

(c) agrees to delegate to the relevant officers the task of positively
exploring each sub-regional and sub-national partnership
opportunity as it arises, in line with an agreed set of criteria
approved by the relevant portfolio holder(s).

Voting: Unanimous
Portfolio Holder: Leader of the Council

Housing scheme at Cabbage Patch St Stephens Rd Bournemouth

The Portfolio Holder for Housing presented a report, a copy of which had
been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix
'G' to these Minutes in the Minute Book.

Cabinet were informed that the BCP owned site is currently a staff car park
with 27 spaces, and that the current proposal presents a new build scheme
of 11 apartments and associated parking to be provided on the site.

In relation to this Cabinet were advised that these homes would help
towards imminent new Local Plan housing targets and will also contribute
significantly to unmet housing need by delivering Council homes at social
rents.

The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board addressed the Cabinet
advising that whilst there were no formal recommendations from the Board
that extensive discussion had taken place with regards to the value for
money element of the scheme as the cost per unit was more than in the
market value.

In respect of this the Portfolio Holder advised that if the land was simply
sold on and developed outside of the Council that it would not achieve the
social rented housing that this scheme would provide.

RECOMMENDED that:-

1. the proposed £2.369m housing scheme be approved for
progression to Council for subsequent approval request:

a. Approval to tender, commencement and completion of
build subject to the conditions set out in the Financial
Strategy and authorises the Corporate Director for
Environment and Community to approve necessary
appropriations and contractual and legal agreements in
consultation with the Monitoring Officer and Chief
Finance Officer.

b. Approve the financial strategy for the scheme as set out
in paragraphs 30 to 52 with specific approval for:

1) The appropriation of land from the General Fund to
the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) to enable the
development of the Council housing valued at £350k.

12



208.

209.

CABINET
29 July 2020

i) £815k of prudential borrowing to be repaid over 50
years used to finance the Housing Revenue Account
(HRA) social rented homes.

iii) The capping of rental income to Social Rent levels.

C. the Section 151 Officer be authorised in consultation with
the Portfolio Holder for Finance to determine the detailed
funding arrangements.

d. the Corporate Property Officer be authorised in
consultation with the Monitoring Officer to agree the
detailed contract provisions and to approve entry into the
final form agreements.

Voting: Unanimous
Portfolio Holder: Housing

Youth Justice Plan 2020-21

The Portfolio Holder for Children and Families presented a report, a copy of
which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as
Appendix 'H' to these Minutes in the Minute Book.

Cabinet were requested to endorse the Youth Justice Plan for 2020/21, and
in relation to this were advised that there was a statutory requirement to
publish an annual Youth Justice Plan which must provide specified
information about the provision of youth justice services. In relation to this
the Portfolio Holder advised that the report had on this occasion been
delayed due to priorities relating to COVID, and that as a result a number of
the actions to support the plan were already underway.

RECOMMENDED that the Youth Justice Plan be forwarded to Full
Council for approval.

Voting: Unanimous
Portfolio Holder: Children and Families

Change of Auditor for Bournemouth Building and Maintenance Limited and
Seascape Group Limited.

The Portfolio Holder for Finance presented a report, a copy of which had
been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix
'l' to these Minutes in the Minute Book.

Cabinet were advised that Grant Thornton had resigned with effect from 4
June 2020 as the auditors for the wholly owned council companies,
Bournemouth Building and Maintenance Limited (BBML) and Seascape
Group Limited (SGL) including its subsidiaries, and that while Grant
Thornton will continue as BCP Council’s external auditors, they have stated
it is not operationally efficient for them to continue as the companies’
auditors as a different audit team was required to the local public sector
audit team.

13



210.

CABINET
29 July 2020

In relation to this Cabinet were informed that a new auditor must therefore
be appointed for the companies and that a procurement exercise had been
conducted. Further to this Cabinet were advised that it is a requirement of
the Shareholders Agreement for both BBML and SGL that authority is
sought from the council as sole shareholder for the appointment of a new
auditor.

In concluding the Portfolio Holder advised that company audits must be
carried out in accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
and applicable Financial Reporting Standards, and that the proposed
auditor, Hixsons Limited, had been selected as they supplied the most cost
effective quote to comply with these requirements.

RESOLVED that the appointment of Hixsons Limited as the external
auditor for Bournemouth Building and Maintenance Limited (BBML)
and Seascape Group Limited (SGL) be approved.

Voting: Unanimous
Portfolio Holder: Finance

Traffic Requlation Order — Advertisement of Traffic Requlation Orders for
the Lansdowne Programme

The Portfolio Holder for Transport and Infrastructure presented a report, a
copy of which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which
appears as Appendix 'J' to these Minutes in the Minute Book.

Cabinet were requested to consider approval to advertise new restrictions
for the delivery of the council’s Lansdowne Programme, and to approve the
advertisement of changes to the Traffic Regulations Order (TRO) to enable
the Lansdowne Programme to be implemented and to approve the general
TRO process for future BCP schemes.

The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board addressed the Cabinet
advising that at their recent meeting the Board resolved to make the
following recommendation to Cabinet in respect of this item:

The Overview and Scrutiny Board recommend to Cabinet that in light of the
significant changes to the proposed scheme, that Cabinet seriously
consider whether the benefits of the revised scheme outweigh the
negatives, particularly around implications to vehicle travel and car travel
times.

The Portfolio Holder thanked the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny
Board for the Boards recommendation but highlighted that pausing and
doing nothing was not an option at this time, and that we needed to now
move forwards and progress as per the recommendations on the paper.

Further to this the Leader advised that this paper had been considered by
the Dorset LEP the previous week who had confirmed that they were
content with the report.

14



211.

CABINET
29 July 2020

RESOLVED that:-

(& the changes to traffic regulations orders outlined in Appendix 1
to the report are advertised and implemented if no objections
are received; and

(b) the general TRO approval process shown in Appendix 2 of the
report be approved.

Voting: Unanimous
Portfolio Holder: Transport and Infrastructure

Significant Changes to Maintained Schools for September 2020 and 2021

The Portfolio Holder for Children and Families presented a report, a copy of
which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as
Appendix 'K' to these Minutes in the Minute Book.

Cabinet were advised that the number of children and young people
assessed as requiring a place at a specialist education provision in the BCP
area had increased in recent years, and that local provision to meet these
needs is of high quality, but capacity has not been expanded sufficiently to
meet this additional demand.

Further to this Cabinet were informed that as a result, increased use has
had to be made of local Independent and Non-Maintained special schools
which are comparatively expensive and often located outside of the BCP
area, the result of this has been significant pressure on the school
Transport budgets.

In respect of this Cabinet were informed that in partnership with the BCP
community of schools, a range of proposals had been developed to
increase capacity and create new provision to meet the needs of these
pupils and these were reported to Cabinet in the paper ‘Capital Investment
to Increase Special Educational Needs Capacity’ on 22 April 2020. And
that processes for changes to maintained schools are prescribed by the
Department for Education.

In concluding the Portfolio Holder highlighted that this report provided
details of such changes for three maintained community schools, and that
the request to implement these changes is being made with the support of
all three schools involved with the changes.

RESOLVED that:-

(@) thechanges proposed for the following schools are agreed:
i. Winchelsea Special School
ii. Linwood Special School
iii. Somerford Primary School

(b)  in the case of Somerford Primary School that approval be given
to apply to the Office of the Schools Adjudicator to vary the
admission arrangements from September 2021

Voting: Unanimous
Portfolio Holder: Children and Families

15



212.

213.

214.

215.

216.

— 10—
CABINET
29 July 2020

Forest Road to Ormonde Road, record unprotected footpath as a Public
Right of Way (PRoW)

The Portfolio Holder for Transport and Infrastructure presented a report, a
copy of which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which
appears as Appendix 'L' to these Minutes in the Minute Book.

Cabinet were requested to grant permission to permit an Order to protect
the path from Forest Road to Ormonde Road as a Public Footpath.

In relation to this Cabinet were advised that there had been no objections
received during the public consultation.

RESOLVED that permission be granted to create an order to record
the unprotected footpath as a Public Right of Way.

Voting: Unanimous
Portfolio Holder: Transport and Infrastructure

Exclusion of Press and Public

RESOLVED that under Section 100 (A)(4) of the Local Government Act
1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items
of business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of
exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 in Part | of Schedule
12A of the Act and that the public interest in withholding the
information outweighs such interest in disclosing the information.

Impact of COVID-19 on the provision of leisure and cultural services in
Bournemouth

This item was restricted by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule
12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

The Portfolio Holder for Finance presented a report a copy of which had
been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix
'M' to these Minutes in the Minute Book.

Impact of COVID-19 on the provision of leisure and cultural services in
Poole

This item was restricted by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule
12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

The Portfolio Holder for Finance presented a report, a copy of which had
been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix
'N' to these Minutes in the Minute Book.

Cabinet Forward Plan

The Leader advised that the latest Cabinet Forward Plan had been
published on the Council’'s website.

The meeting ended at 13:12

CHAIRMAN

16



By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

17



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET

Agenda ltem 6

BCP

Council

Report subject

Dorset Local Enterprise Partnership - Ferndown, Wallisdown &
Poole Corridors Programme (DLEP - FWP)

Meeting date

9 September 2020

Status

Public Report

Executive summary

This Cabinet Report has been developed to:

i) Note the allocation of £1,552,500 of Dorset Local
Enterprise Partnership (DLEP) funding to two schemes
within the Bournemouth International Growth (BIG)
Programme:

- £1,050,000 to Ferndown, Wallisdown & Poole Corridors
Programme and

- £502,500 to Blackwater West Junction (to be used to
recredit local contributions already committed),

and seek approval to add these into the 2020/21 LTP

Capital Programme

1)) Note the commitment for BCP Council to deliver
complimentary schemes as part of this programme.
i) Seek approval to progress with detailed design and

stakeholder engagement for the Wallisdown Road element
of the programme.

Recommendations

It is RECOMMENDED that Cabinet:

1. Note the Dorset Local Enterprise Partnership (DLEP)
Funding allocation of £1,552,500 and provide approval to add to the
2020/21 LTP Capital Programme.

2. Consider and approve the progression of detailed design
and stakeholder engagement for the FWP Corridor Programme -
Wallisdown Road scheme in line with the key project aims identified
and General Arrangement drawing included in Appendix A.

Reason for
recommendations

1. To add the funding allocation to the 2020/21 LTP Capital
Programme and enable its full utilisation within the DLEP Growth
Deal funding period (before 31 March 2021)

21




2. Addition of £502,500 to the Blackwater West Junction
scheme as a result of reallocating DLEP funding across BIG

local funding contributions, which will result in greater flexibility of
spend (local contributions to the BIG programme can be spent
beyond the DLEP funding deadline of 31 March 2021).

3. To enable the development and progression of the FWP:
Wallisdown Road based scheme within the required timescales.

Portfolio Holder(s):

Corporate Director Bill Cotton, Corporate Director Regeneration
Report Authors Tim Forrester, DLEP & LTP Capital Programme Manager, G&l
Wards Alderney & Bourne Valley; Kinson; Wallisdown & Winton West;
Classification For Decision

Background

1. The FWP (Ferndown, Wallisdown & Poole) Corridors programme comprises two

strategically important traffic routes which pass through BCP Council and Dorset
Council’s administrative areas - the A348 Ringwood Road and the A3049
Wallisdown Road.

The DLEP was awarded Growth Deal funding of £98.5 million by Government. Much
of this funding has been focused by the DLEP to projects within the BIG
Programme.

Priority 9 of the BIG Programme is the A348 corridor. Following discussions with the
former Poole & Bournemouth Borough Councils and Dorset County Council, the
DLEP provisionally allocated funding for improvements along the A348 Ringwood
Road corridor.

The scope of the provisional funding allocation was subsequently revised so that a
whole corridor approach, which included the A3049 Wallisdown Road, was followed
as opposed to specific improvements targeted at individual junctions on the A348
Ringwood Road. This change of approach was jointly agreed by BCP Council,
Dorset Council and the DLEP. The funding allocation was also scaled back following
agreement on utilising this Growth Deal Funding to support other DLEP schemes.

The main problems which have led to this programme of work being developed
relate to:

e Productivity & Planned Local Growth
e Local Travel Behaviour
e Highway Network and Resilience

e Estimated Economic Cost of Congestion in BCP/Dorset

22

Programme schemes enables the recrediting of already committed

Councillor Andy Hadley, Portfolio Holder Transport & Infrastructure




6.

10.

11.

o Cycle Network (missing links)

The overarching aims of the FWP Corridors programme, agreed between the
council partners (the former BBC, BoP and DCC) and the DLEP are to:

a. deliver improvements to bus service levels, journey times and reliability.

b. increase the modal share of cycling for travel to work or education
journeys on the A348/A3049 corridor.

c. increase the proportion of walking journeys made for short trips or multi
modal journeys on or around the A348/A3049 corridor.

d. deliver accessibility, place and safety improvements to Wallisdown local
centre that prioritises people over vehicles; and,

e. ensure the effectiveness of the A348/A3049 as a strategic route that
delivers safe and improved traffic movement and acts as a key enabler of
growth.

A full business case (FBC) for the FWP Corridors programme was developed by
BCP Council (as the lead for the FWP Corridors Programme) following an
optioneering exercise undertaken by external consultants; modelling of options by
Dorset Council to understand their impact on the wider highway network; and, a
robust prioritisation exercise to determine priority interventions.

The FBC (approved by DLEP in June 2020) put forward the following three
prioritised highway improvement interventions;

1) Cycle/pedestrian improvements along the A3049 Wallisdown Road
(between Mountbatten Roundabout and Bryant Rd) — Wallisdown West

2) Junction improvements at Ringwood Road / B3061 Sea View Road

3) Cycle/pedestrian improvements along the A348 Ringwood Road (section
between Mountbatten Roundabout and Alderney Roundabout)

Since the original FWP Corridor programme was developed the landscape has
changed significantly, notably through the award of £79m to the South East Dorset
City Region via the Transforming Cities Fund (TCF). The A348 Ringwood Rd
corridor is identified as the priority sustainability corridor (S5) within the TCF bid.
This aligns directly with the FWP corridor area and therefore means that BCP
Council will subsume elements 2 and 3 above into the TCF Programme and deliver
them utilising funds from the TCF allocation, Local Transport Programme, or other
BCP Council funding streams instead of DLEP Growth Deal funding. While element
1 will be funded primarily by DLEP Growth Deal funding.

Given the TCF funding award and the integration and funding of interventions 2 & 3
into that programme of work, a request was made to DLEP (subsequently approved
in June 2020) to reallocate £502,500 of the total funding allocation to FWP Corridor
Programme to Blackwater Junction to allow recrediting of already committed local
contributions.

Our framework contractor (WSP) have so far been commissioned to engage with
stakeholders, develop options and produce general arrangement drawings for
intervention 1: Wallisdown Road (see Appendix A). The next steps, subject to

23



12.

acceptance of the recommendations in this report, are to progress at pace with
detailed design, procurement and scheme delivery/construction.

Delivery of intervention 1 compliments the other ongoing/scheduled works along the
Wallisdown Road (A3049) Corridor and will make a significant contribution to link
works ongoing at the eastern/central sections of the corridor (Boundary Roundabout,
Wallisdown Crossroads) along to Mountbatten Roundabout where it will connect
with TCF Sustainable Corridor S5 (A348 Ringwood Rd).

Options Appraisal

13.

i) Approve the recommendations set out in this report to enable progression of the
scheme.

i) Reject the recommendations of this report, return funding back to the DLEP and
put element 1 on hold.

Summary of financial implications

14.

15.

16.

17.

Total approved DLEP funding allocation of £1,552,500 towards BIG Programme
delivery. This contribution needs to be fully spent by 31 March 2021.

e £502,500 allocated to Blackwater Jct from FWP Corridor Programme
e £1,050,000 remaining funding allocation for FWP Corridor Programme

The total DLEP funding allocation for the FWP (A348/A3049) Corridor project is
£1,050,000. This contribution needs to be fully utilised by 31 March 2021 to help
deliver the stated priority intervention:

1. Cycle/pedestrian improvements along the A3049 Wallisdown Road,

Any further funding requirements to complete this element will be met by BCP
Council (estimated costs to be clarified once detailed design and procurement
exercise has been completed Sept/Oct 2020) If required, this would be met by
allocation of future funding from the Local Transport Plan.

As part of the commitment to this corridor programme BCP Council has agreed to
fund and deliver the remaining two prioritised interventions:

2. Ringwood Road / B3061 Sea View Road
3. Cycle/pedestrian improvements along the A348 Ringwood Road

These two projects will be funded and delivered as part of the TCF Programme for
Sustainability Corridor S5 by 31 March 2023, (with estimated costs to be confirmed
once detailed design and procurement exercise has been completed).

Within ‘Remedies and Termination’ Section 17.2 (Pg 20) of the DLEP Grant
Agreement there are several clauses that have both financial and legal implications
(list below covers those of particular note):

e DORSET LEP may, in its sole discretfion, acting reasonably, terminate this
Agreement and stop payment of the Funding or reclaim payments already made

if:

o DORSET LEP reasonably considers that the Applicant has not made
satisfactory progress with the Project or is carrying it out in a negligent

manner or has failed to complete the Project in the Funding Period

o The Applicant fails to complete the Project for any reason

24



e At the discretion of DORSET LEP any part of the Funding shall be repaid which has
either been misused in breach of this Agreement, or if the Applicant fails to
provide adequate evidence of the application of the Funding in compliance with
the terms set out in this Agreement.

e DORSET LEP may terminate this Agreement with immediate effect by serving a
written notice on the Applicant if they have failed to remedy any breach of this
Agreement within 30 days of being served with a notice pointing out the breach
and requiring its rectification.

Summary of legal implications

18. BCP Council have signed Grant Agreements with the DLEP to secure and utilise
£1.55M Growth Deal funding by 31 March 2021, with a commitment to deliver:

a. Blackwater West Junction improvements (completed May 2020)

b. the three prioritised FWP Corridors programme interventions identified,
within the agreed timescales.

19. Please also note legal implications of standard DLEP Grant Agreement clauses
highlighted in 15 above.
Summary of human resources implications

20. The project is being led by BCP Councils’ Sustainable Design Manager (G&lI) with
scheme development being provided via a commission of the BCP Council
framework contractor - WSP.

Summary of sustainability impact

21. i) All three interventions listed aim to promote sustainable travel and/or minimise
congestion and thereby would contribute positively to the environment and
compliment the aims of the ‘Climate and Ecological Emergency Action Plan’.

i) The environmental impact of constructing the individual schemes varies
dependent on the scale and environment within which the schemes are to be
delivered. Schemes will be designed and delivered to minimise the impact on the
environment both during and post construction.

Summary of public health implications

22. All three interventions to be delivered aim to promote sustainable/active travel
and/or minimise congestion and as such aim to deliver improvements to air quality
and increase levels of activity

Summary of equality implications

23. Equality Impact Assessment (EQIA) screening will take place with full EQIAs for the
individual schemes completed should a need be identified during screening.

Summary of risk assessment

24. i) Separate risk assessments and risk registers will be produced for elements 1 and
2/3 (combined as part of TCF corridor S5).

25



ii) Risks associated to timescale restrictions for utilisation of the DLEP Growth Deal
funding by 31 March 2021 with specific regard to - completion of detailed design,
procurement, mobilisation and commencement of construction.

iif) Ongoing impacts of Covid-19 on resource availability to develop and deliver the
programme of activity.

Appendices

1. Appendix A — General Arrangement drawings for ‘Cycle/pedestrian improvements along
the A3049 Wallisdown Road (between Mountbatten Rbt and Bryant Rd)’

26



e DO NOT SCALE

New Footway

Carriageway to be re-profiled
and re-surfaced

HFS Green

HFS Buff

Grass verge

Existing Hedge

Proposed Tree

Edging kerb

Bristol cycle kerb

Bristol cycle kerb

Existing kerb

Tactile Paving

Traffic Signals

490 to 492 Beryl Bikes

. ezl NP W W T ~¢ = P N
C - - -
A S . T . . . . . - - . _
- ; ; ; ] : ; ] 2 4 — L
= :o*o¢ mame L R e ¥ LA S R F - =+ - - LS. *
—
T 125 N
3 (3 \\\
Qo

CUTLINE B

| L[ i B -
UP ! 333
o * - - Crdi < & G 3 2 & * {2 o 3 - Ve PR S o ¢ JV" -
‘ P01 | 05/06/2020 | TCT | FIRST ISSUE - -

= 20m -
= = 5 - — & ‘ REV DATE BY DESCRIPTION CHK APP
~ N R S L N PR & o e T > SR b . C\ DRAWING STATUS:

<

\
\
<

S2 - FOR INFORMATION

Willow House, Brotherswood Court, Great Park Rd,
Bradley Stoke, Bristol BS32 4QW
T+ 44 (0) 117 906 2300
wsp.com

6GY g A44 @
- L] 1 L o - I_—J |— v o

TR

CLIENT:

SITE/PROJECT:

FWP, WALLISDOWN ROAD
WALKING & CYCLING IMPROVEMENTS

—pm

LIVE WORKO01 WALLISDOWN\70068151-100-001 - DESIGN OVERVIEW.DWG, printed on 15 July 2020 12:55:39, by Tweedale, Tom

< I = ]
- 7
- . o N S e — WALLISDOWN ROAD e <o
| - » e
e— _ = - ) A2 = . : = B it . .
- = — —1 11 - ,o—'k - — -‘1& A L i ﬂ | v — Preliminary Design
wl - e ) - [ Y —— | | e = \. o j, )l . u oJ - l ] o /o _l . .
I L Overview

)3c S SCALE @ At: CHECKED: APPROVED:
eoe 1:625 : :
[ PROJECT NO: DESIGNED: DRAWN: DATE:
_——r 70068151 TCT TCT March 2020
:I D DRAWING No: REV:
70068151-100-001 P01

(© WSP UK Ltd

File name C:\USERS\UKTXT600\ONEDRIVE - WSP 0365\

1]
|
=



AutoCAD SHX Text
STOP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
BUS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
STOP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
BUS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
RSI

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
RSI

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
RSI

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
RSI

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
IBOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
NB

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
Grey Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
Red Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
Yellow Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
Yellow Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
Yellow Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
Yellow Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
Red Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
Speed Bump

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
BW 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
BW 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
BW 0.3H

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
BW 1.3H

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
BW 1.3H

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
BW 2.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
CW 0.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
CW 0.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
IRF 2.1H

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
IRF 2.1H

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
IRF 2.1H

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_273
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_274
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_275
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_276
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_277
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_278
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_279
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_280
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_281
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_282
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_283
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_284
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_285
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_286
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_287
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_288
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_289
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_290
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_291
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_292
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_293
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_294
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_295
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_296
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_297
Unmade

AutoCAD SHX Text_298
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_299
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_300
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_301
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_302
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_303
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_304
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_305
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_306
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_307
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_308
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_309
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_310
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_311
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_312
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_313
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_314
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_315
TJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_316
TJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_317
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_318
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_319
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_320
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_321
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_322
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_323
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_324
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_325
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_326
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_327
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_328
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_329
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_330
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_331
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_332
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_333
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_334
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_335
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_336
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_337
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_338
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_339
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_340
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_341
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_342
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_343
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_344
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_345
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_346
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_347
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_348
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_349
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_350
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_351
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_352
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_353
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_354
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_355
LetterBox

AutoCAD SHX Text_356
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_357
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_358
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_359
TJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_360
TJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_361
TJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_362
Bus Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_363
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_364
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_365
Bus Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_366
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_367
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_368
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_369
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_370
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_371
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_372
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_373
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_374
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_375
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_376
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_377
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_378
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_379
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_380
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_381
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_382
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_383
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_384
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_385
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_386
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_387
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_388
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_389
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_390
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_391
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_392
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_393
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_394
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_395
Average Tree Height: 11m

AutoCAD SHX Text_396
Average Tree Height: 11m

AutoCAD SHX Text_397
Deciduous

AutoCAD SHX Text_398
Deciduous

AutoCAD SHX Text_399
Deciduous

AutoCAD SHX Text_400
Deciduous

AutoCAD SHX Text_401
Deciduous

AutoCAD SHX Text_402
Deciduous

AutoCAD SHX Text_403
Coniferous 14H

AutoCAD SHX Text_404
Deciduous 7H

AutoCAD SHX Text_405
Deciduous 7H

AutoCAD SHX Text_406
Deciduous 7H

AutoCAD SHX Text_407
Deciduous 7H

AutoCAD SHX Text_408
Deciduous 5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_409
Deciduous 5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_410
Deciduous 5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_411
Deciduous 5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_412
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_413
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_414
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_415
Planted

AutoCAD SHX Text_416
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_417
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_418
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_419
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_420
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_421
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_422
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_423
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_424
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_425
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_426
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_427
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_428
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_429
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_430
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_431
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_432
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_433
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_434
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_435
BW 1.0& IRF 1.4H

AutoCAD SHX Text_436
BW 0.6& IRF 0.5H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_437
BW 0.5& IRF 1.5H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_438
BW 0.5& IRF 1.5H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_439
BW 0.5& IRF 1.5H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_440
BW 0.5& IRF 1.5H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_441
BW 0.5& IRF 1.5H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_442
BW 0.5& IRF 1.5H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_443
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_444
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_445
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_446
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_447
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_448
CW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_449
BW 0.7H

AutoCAD SHX Text_450
BW 0.7H

AutoCAD SHX Text_451
BW 0.7H

AutoCAD SHX Text_452
CW 0.1H

AutoCAD SHX Text_453
CW 0.1H

AutoCAD SHX Text_454
CW 0.1H

AutoCAD SHX Text_455
CW 0.1H

AutoCAD SHX Text_456
CW 0.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_457
CW 0.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_458
LEYLAND ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_459
LYON ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_460
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_461
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_462
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_463
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_464
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_465
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_466
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_467
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_468
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_469
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_470
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_471
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_472
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_473
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_474
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_475
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_476
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_477
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_478
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_479
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_480
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_481
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_482
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_483
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_484
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_485
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_486
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_487
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_488
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_489
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_490
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_491
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_492
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_493
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_494
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_495
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_496
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_497
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_498
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_499
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_500
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_501
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_502
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_503
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_504
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_505
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_506
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_507
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_508
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_509
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_510
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_511
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_512
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_513
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_514
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_515
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_516
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_517
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_518
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_519
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_520
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_521
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_522
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_523
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_524
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_525
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_526
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_527
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_528
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_529
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_530
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_531
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_532
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_533
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_534
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_535
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_536
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_537
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_538
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_539
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_540
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_541
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_542
Approx. Due to Parked Car

AutoCAD SHX Text_543
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_544
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_545
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_546
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_547
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_548
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_549
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_550
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_551
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_552
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_553
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_554
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_555
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_556
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_557
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_558
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_559
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_560
Deciduous 12H

AutoCAD SHX Text_561
Deciduous 10H

AutoCAD SHX Text_562
Deciduous 9H

AutoCAD SHX Text_563
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_564
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_565
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_566
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_567
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_568
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_569
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_570
BS

AutoCAD SHX Text_571
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_572
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_573
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_574
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_575
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_576
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_577
RSI

AutoCAD SHX Text_578
RSI

AutoCAD SHX Text_579
Bin

AutoCAD SHX Text_580
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_581
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_582
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_583
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_584
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_585
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_586
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_587
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_588
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_589
Setts

AutoCAD SHX Text_590
Stone Setts

AutoCAD SHX Text_591
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_592
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_593
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_594
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_595
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_596
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_597
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_598
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_599
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_600
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_601
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_602
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_603
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_604
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_605
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_606
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_607
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_608
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_609
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_610
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_611
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_612
PRF 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_613
PRF 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_614
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_615
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_616
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_617
Deciduous 12H

AutoCAD SHX Text_618
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_619
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_620
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_621
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_622
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_623
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_624
Deciduous 5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_625
Deciduous 12H

AutoCAD SHX Text_626
Deciduous 10H

AutoCAD SHX Text_627
Deciduous 12H

AutoCAD SHX Text_628
Deciduous 10H

AutoCAD SHX Text_629
Deciduous 10H

AutoCAD SHX Text_630
Deciduous 12H

AutoCAD SHX Text_631
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_632
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_633
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_634
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_635
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_636
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_637
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_638
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_639
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_640
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_641
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_642
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_643
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_644
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_645
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_646
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_647
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_648
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_649
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_650
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_651
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_652
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_653
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_654
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_655
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_656
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_657
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text_658
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_659
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_660
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_661
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_662
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_663
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_664
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_665
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_666
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_667
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_668
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_669
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_670
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_671
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_672
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_673
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_674
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_675
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_676
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_677
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_678
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_679
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_680
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_681
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_682
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_683
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_684
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_685
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_686
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_687
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_688
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_689
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_690
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_691
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_692
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_693
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_694
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_695
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_696
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_697
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_698
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_699
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_700
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_701
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_702
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_703
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_704
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_705
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_706
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_707
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_708
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_709
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_710
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_711
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_712
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_713
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_714
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_715
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_716
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_717
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_718
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_719
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_720
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_721
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_722
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_723
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_724
RSI

AutoCAD SHX Text_725
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_726
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_727
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_728
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_729
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_730
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_731
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_732
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_733
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_734
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_735
BW 0.4H

AutoCAD SHX Text_736
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_737
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_738
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_739
BW 0.2H & IRF 1.1H

AutoCAD SHX Text_740
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_741
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_742
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_743
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_744
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_745
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_746
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_747
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_748
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_749
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_750
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_751
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_752
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_753
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_754
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_755
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_756
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_757
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_758
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_759
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_760
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_761
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_762
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_763
BW 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_764
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_765
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_766
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_767
BW 0.4H

AutoCAD SHX Text_768
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_769
BW 0.4H

AutoCAD SHX Text_770
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_771
BW 0.4H

AutoCAD SHX Text_772
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_773
BW 0.5H & 1.2 CBF

AutoCAD SHX Text_774
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_775
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_776
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_777
BW 0.5H & OBF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_778
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_779
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_780
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_781
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_782
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_783
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_784
BW 0.7H

AutoCAD SHX Text_785
CBF 0.7H

AutoCAD SHX Text_786
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_787
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_788
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_789
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_790
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_791
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_792
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_793
BENBOW CRES

AutoCAD SHX Text_794
BENBOW CRES

AutoCAD SHX Text_795
Yellow Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_796
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_797
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_798
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_799
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_800
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_801
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_802
Deciduous 12H

AutoCAD SHX Text_803
Deciduous 12H

AutoCAD SHX Text_804
Deciduous 12H

AutoCAD SHX Text_805
Deciduous 12H

AutoCAD SHX Text_806
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_807
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_808
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_809
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_810
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_811
Deciduous 10H

AutoCAD SHX Text_812
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_813
Deciduous 10H

AutoCAD SHX Text_814
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_815
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_816
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_817
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_818
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_819
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_820
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_821
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_822
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_823
Bus Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_824
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_825
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_826
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_827
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_828
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_829
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_830
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_831
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_832
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_833
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_834
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_835
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_836
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_837
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_838
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_839
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_840
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_841
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_842
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_843
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_844
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_845
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_846
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_847
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_848
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_849
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_850
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_851
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_852
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_853
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_854
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_855
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_856
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_857
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_858
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_859
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_860
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_861
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_862
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_863
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_864
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_865
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_866
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_867
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_868
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_869
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_870
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_871
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_872
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_873
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_874
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_875
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_876
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_877
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_878
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_879
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_880
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_881
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_882
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_883
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_884
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_885
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_886
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_887
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_888
BS

AutoCAD SHX Text_889
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_890
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_891
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_892
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_893
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_894
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_895
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_896
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_897
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_898
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_899
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_900
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_901
Red Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_902
Red Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_903
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_904
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_905
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_906
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_907
Average Tree Height: 11m

AutoCAD SHX Text_908
Average Tree Height: 11m

AutoCAD SHX Text_909
Average Tree Height: 11m

AutoCAD SHX Text_910
Average Tree Height: 11m

AutoCAD SHX Text_911
Deciduous 6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_912
Deciduous

AutoCAD SHX Text_913
Deciduous

AutoCAD SHX Text_914
Deciduous

AutoCAD SHX Text_915
Deciduous

AutoCAD SHX Text_916
Deciduous

AutoCAD SHX Text_917
Deciduous

AutoCAD SHX Text_918
Deciduous

AutoCAD SHX Text_919
Deciduous

AutoCAD SHX Text_920
Deciduous

AutoCAD SHX Text_921
Deciduous

AutoCAD SHX Text_922
Deciduous

AutoCAD SHX Text_923
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_924
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_925
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_926
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_927
Planted

AutoCAD SHX Text_928
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_929
BW 1.0& IRF 1.4H

AutoCAD SHX Text_930
BW 1.0& IRF 1.4H

AutoCAD SHX Text_931
BW 1.0& IRF 1.4H

AutoCAD SHX Text_932
BW 1.0& IRF 1.4H

AutoCAD SHX Text_933
BW 1.0& IRF 1.4H

AutoCAD SHX Text_934
BW 1.0& IRF 1.4H

AutoCAD SHX Text_935
BW 1.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_936
CW 0.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_937
CW 0.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_938
BW 0.5& IRF 0.6H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_939
BW 0.5& IRF 0.6H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_940
BW 0.6& IRF 0.5H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_941
BW 0.5& IRF 1.5H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_942
BW 0.5& IRF 1.5H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_943
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_944
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_945
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_946
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_947
LYON ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_948
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_949
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_950
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_951
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_952
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_953
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_954
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_955
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_956
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_957
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_958
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_959
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_960
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_961
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_962
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_963
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_964
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_965
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_966
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_967
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_968
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_969
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_970
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_971
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_972
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_973
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_974
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_975
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_976
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_977
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_978
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_979
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_980
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_981
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_982
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_983
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_984
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_985
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_986
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_987
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_988
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_989
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_990
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_991
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_992
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_993
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_994
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_995
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_996
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_997
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_998
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_999
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1000
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1001
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1002
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1003
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1004
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1005
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1006
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1007
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1008
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1009
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1010
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1011
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1012
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1013
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1014
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1015
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1016
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1017
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1018
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1019
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1020
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1021
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1022
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1023
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1024
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1025
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1026
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1027
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1028
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_1029
BW 0.2H & PRF 0.4H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1030
POOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1031
POOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1032
B'MTH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1033
POOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1034
BUS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1035
STOP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1036
BUS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1037
STOP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1038
BUS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1039
STOP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1040
KEEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1041
CLEAR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1042
KEEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1043
CLEAR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1044
KEEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1045
CLEAR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1046
B'MTH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1047
POOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1048
POOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1049
STOP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1050
BUS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1051
STOP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1052
BUS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1053
CUSTOMER PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text_1054
CUSTOMER PARKING ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1055
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_1056
BUS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1057
STOP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1058
STOP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1059
SUBWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1060
BUS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1061
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1062
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1063
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1064
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1065
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1066
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1067
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1068
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1069
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1070
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1071
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1072
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1073
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1074
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1075
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1076
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1077
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1078
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1079
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1080
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1081
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1082
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1083
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1084
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1085
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1086
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1087
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1088
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1089
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1090
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1091
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1092
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1093
Bench

AutoCAD SHX Text_1094
Bench

AutoCAD SHX Text_1095
BS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1096
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1097
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1098
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1099
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1100
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1101
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1102
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1103
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1104
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1105
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1106
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1107
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1108
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1109
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1110
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1111
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1112
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1113
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1114
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1115
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1116
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1117
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1118
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1119
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1120
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1121
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1122
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1123
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1124
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1125
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1126
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1127
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1128
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1129
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1130
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1131
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1132
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1133
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1134
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1135
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1136
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1137
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1138
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1139
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1140
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1141
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1142
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1143
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1144
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1145
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1146
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1147
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1148
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1149
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1150
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1151
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1152
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1153
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1154
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1155
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1156
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1157
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1158
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1159
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1160
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1161
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1162
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1163
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1164
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1165
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1166
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1167
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1168
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1169
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1170
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1171
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1172
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1173
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1174
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1175
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1176
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1177
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1178
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1179
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1180
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1181
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1182
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1183
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1184
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1185
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1186
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1187
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1188
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1189
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1190
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1191
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1192
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1193
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1194
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1195
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1196
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1197
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1198
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1199
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1200
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1201
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1202
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1203
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1204
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1205
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1206
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1207
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1208
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1209
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1210
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1211
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1212
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1213
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1214
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1215
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_1216
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_1217
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_1218
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_1219
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1220
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1221
RSI

AutoCAD SHX Text_1222
RSI

AutoCAD SHX Text_1223
RSI

AutoCAD SHX Text_1224
RSI

AutoCAD SHX Text_1225
IBOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1226
IBOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1227
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1228
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1229
NB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1230
Red Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_1231
Red Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_1232
Red Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_1233
Red Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_1234
Red Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_1235
Red Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_1236
Red Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_1237
Bus Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_1238
Grey Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_1239
Grey Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_1240
Red Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_1241
Grey Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_1242
Grey Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_1243
Red Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_1244
Yellow Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_1245
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_1246
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_1247
Yellow Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_1248
Yellow Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_1249
Yellow Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_1250
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_1251
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_1252
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_1253
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_1254
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_1255
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_1256
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_1257
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_1258
Red Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_1259
Speed Bump

AutoCAD SHX Text_1260
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1261
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1262
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1263
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1264
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1265
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1266
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1267
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1268
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_1269
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1270
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_1271
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_1272
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_1273
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_1274
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_1275
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_1276
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_1277
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_1278
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_1279
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_1280
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_1281
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_1282
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_1283
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_1284
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_1285
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_1286
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_1287
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_1288
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_1289
FRANCIS AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1290
RINGWOOD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1291
RINGWOOD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1292
RINGWOOD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1293
RINGWOOD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1294
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1295
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1296
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1297
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1298
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1299
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1300
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1301
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1302
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1303
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1304
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1305
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1306
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1307
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1308
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1309
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1310
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1311
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1312
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1313
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1314
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1315
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1316
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1317
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1318
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1319
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1320
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1321
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1322
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1323
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1324
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1325
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1326
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1327
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1328
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1329
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1330
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1331
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1332
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1333
Unmade

AutoCAD SHX Text_1334
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1335
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1336
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1337
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1338
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1339
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1340
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1341
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1342
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1343
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1344
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1345
IRF 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1346
IRF 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1347
IRF 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1348
IRF 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1349
IRF 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1350
IRF 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1351
IRF 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1352
IRF 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1353
IRF 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1354
IRF 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1355
IRF 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1356
IRF 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1357
IRF 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1358
CBF 1.1H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1359
CBF 1.9H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1360
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1361
BW 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1362
BW 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1363
BW 0.3H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1364
BW 1.3H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1365
BW 1.3H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1366
BW 2.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1367
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1368
CW 0.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1369
CW 0.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1370
BW 1.1H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1371
BW 1.1H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1372
BW 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1373
BW 2.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1374
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1375
BW 1.0H & IRF 0.8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1376
BW 1.4H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1377
BW 1.1H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1378
BW 0.9H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1379
BW 0.9H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1380
BW 1.9H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1381
BW 2.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1382
BW 0.9H & CBF 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1383
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_1384
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_1385
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_1386
Coniferous 24H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1387
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1388
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1389
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1390
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1391
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1392
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1393
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1394
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1395
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1396
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1397
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1398
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1399
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1400
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1401
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1402
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1403
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_1404
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_1405
Deciduous 7H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1406
Deciduous 12H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1407
Deciduous 10H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1408
Deciduous 9H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1409
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1410
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1411
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1412
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1413
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1414
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1415
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1416
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1417
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1418
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1419
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1420
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1421
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1422
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1423
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1424
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1425
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1426
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1427
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1428
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1429
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1430
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1431
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1432
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1433
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1434
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1435
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1436
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1437
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1438
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1439
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1440
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1441
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1442
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1443
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1444
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1445
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1446
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1447
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1448
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1449
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1450
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1451
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1452
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1453
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1454
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1455
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1456
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1457
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1458
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1459
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1460
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1461
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1462
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1463
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1464
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1465
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1466
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1467
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1468
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1469
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1470
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1471
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1472
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1473
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1474
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1475
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1476
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1477
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1478
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1479
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1480
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1481
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1482
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1483
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1484
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1485
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1486
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1487
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1488
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1489
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1490
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1491
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1492
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1493
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1494
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1495
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1496
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1497
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1498
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1499
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1500
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1501
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1502
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1503
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1504
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1505
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1506
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1507
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1508
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1509
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1510
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1511
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1512
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1513
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1514
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1515
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1516
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1517
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1518
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1519
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1520
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1521
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1522
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1523
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1524
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1525
BS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1526
BS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1527
BS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1528
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1529
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1530
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1531
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1532
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1533
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1534
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1535
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1536
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1537
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1538
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1539
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1540
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1541
IBOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1542
IBOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1543
RSI

AutoCAD SHX Text_1544
RSI

AutoCAD SHX Text_1545
Bin

AutoCAD SHX Text_1546
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1547
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1548
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1549
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1550
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1551
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1552
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1553
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1554
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1555
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1556
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1557
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1558
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1559
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1560
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1561
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1562
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1563
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1564
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1565
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1566
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1567
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1568
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1569
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1570
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1571
Setts

AutoCAD SHX Text_1572
Stone Setts

AutoCAD SHX Text_1573
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_1574
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_1575
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_1576
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_1577
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_1578
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_1579
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_1580
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_1581
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_1582
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_1583
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_1584
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_1585
BW 0.9H & PRF 0.5H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1586
BW 0.8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1587
BW 0.9H & IRF 0.4H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1588
CW 1.0H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1589
BW 0.5H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1590
CW 1.0H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1591
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1592
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1593
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1594
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1595
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1596
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1597
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1598
BW 0.7H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1599
BW 0.8H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1600
BW 0.8H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1601
BW 0.8H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1602
BW 0.9H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1603
BW 0.9H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1604
BW 0.9H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1605
CBF 2.1H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1606
BW 1.4H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1607
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1608
SUNNYMOOR ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1609
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1610
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1611
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1612
Unmade

AutoCAD SHX Text_1613
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_1614
Unmade

AutoCAD SHX Text_1615
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1616
CBF 2.1H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1617
BW 0.9H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1618
BW 0.8H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1619
BW 0.8H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1620
BW 0.8H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1621
CPS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1622
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1623
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1624
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1625
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1626
Unmade

AutoCAD SHX Text_1627
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1628
Unmade

AutoCAD SHX Text_1629
Hedge 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1630
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1631
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1632
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1633
BW 0.9H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1634
BW 0.8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1635
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1636
BW 0.8H & IRF 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1637
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1638
BW 0.9H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1639
CW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1640
BW 0.9H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1641
BW 0.9H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1642
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1643
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1644
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1645
Setts

AutoCAD SHX Text_1646
BW 0.9H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1647
BW 0.6H & IRF 0.7H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1648
SW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1649
BW 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1650
BW 0.8H & IRF 0.4H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1651
BW 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1652
BW 0.8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1653
BW 0.3H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1654
CBF 1.1H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1655
SW 0.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1656
SW 0.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1657
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1658
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1659
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1660
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1661
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1662
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1663
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1664
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1665
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1666
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1667
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1668
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1669
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_1670
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_1671
PRF 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1672
PRF 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1673
CANFORD AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1674
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1675
BW 0.6H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1676
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1677
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1678
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1679
PRF 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1680
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_1681
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1682
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1683
Red Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_1684
Bus Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_1685
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1686
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1687
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1688
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1689
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1690
Deciduous 12H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1691
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1692
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1693
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1694
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1695
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1696
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1697
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1698
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1699
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1700
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1701
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1702
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1703
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1704
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1705
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1706
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1707
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1708
Deciduous 13H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1709
Deciduous 5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1710
Deciduous 12H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1711
Deciduous 10H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1712
Deciduous 12H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1713
Deciduous 10H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1714
Deciduous 10H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1715
Deciduous 12H

AutoCAD SHX Text_1716
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1717
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1718
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1719
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1720
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1721
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1722
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1723
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1724
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1725
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1726
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1727
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1728
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1729
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1730
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1731
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1732
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1733
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1734
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1735
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1736
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1737
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1738
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1739
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1740
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1741
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1742
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1743
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1744
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1745
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1746
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1747
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1748
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1749
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1750
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1751
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1752
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1753
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1754
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1755
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1756
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1757
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1758
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1759
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1760
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1761
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1762
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1763
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1764
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1765
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1766
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1767
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1768
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1769
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1770
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1771
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1772
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1773
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1774
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1775
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1776
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1777
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1778
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1779
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1780
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1781
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1782
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1783
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1784
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1785
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1786
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1787
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1788
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1789
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1790
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1791
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1792
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1793
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1794
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1795
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1796
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1797
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1798
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1799
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1800
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1801
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1802
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1803
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1804
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1805
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1806
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1807
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1808
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1809
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1810
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1811
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1812
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1813
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1814
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1815
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1816
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1817
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1818
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1819
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1820
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1821
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1822
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1823
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1824
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1825
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1826
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1827
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1828
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1829
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1830
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1831
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1832
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1833
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1834
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1835
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1836
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1837
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1838
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1839
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1840
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1841
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1842
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1843
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1844
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1845
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1846
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1847
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1848
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1849
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1850
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1851
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1852
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1853
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1854
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1855
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1856
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1857
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1858
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1859
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1860
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1861
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1862
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1863
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1864
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1865
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1866
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1867
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1868
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1869
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1870
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1871
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1872
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1873
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1874
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1875
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1876
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1877
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1878
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1879
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1880
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1881
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1882
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1883
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1884
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1885
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1886
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1887
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1888
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1889
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1890
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1891
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1892
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1893
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1894
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1895
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1896
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1897
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1898
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1899
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1900
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1901
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1902
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1903
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1904
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1905
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1906
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1907
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1908
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1909
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1910
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1911
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1912
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1913
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1914
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1915
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1916
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1917
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1918
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1919
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1920
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1921
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1922
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1923
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1924
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1925
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1926
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1927
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1928
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1929
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1930
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1931
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1932
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1933
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1934
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1935
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1936
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1937
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1938
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1939
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1940
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1941
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1942
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1943
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1944
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1945
BS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1946
BS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1947
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1948
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1949
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1950
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1951
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1952
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1953
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1954
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1955
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1956
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1957
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1958
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1959
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1960
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1961
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1962
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1963
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1964
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1965
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1966
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1967
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1968
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1969
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1970
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1971
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1972
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1973
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1974
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1975
TSCU

AutoCAD SHX Text_1976
56.677

AutoCAD SHX Text_1977
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1978
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1979
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1980
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1981
Stump

AutoCAD SHX Text_1982
RSI

AutoCAD SHX Text_1983
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1984
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1985
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1986
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1987
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1988
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_1989
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_1990
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_1991
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_1992
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_1993
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_1994
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_1995
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_1996
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_1997
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_1998
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_1999
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2000
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2001
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2002
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2003
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2004
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2005
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2006
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2007
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2008
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2009
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2010
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2011
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2012
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2013
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2014
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2015
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2016
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2017
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2018
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2019
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2020
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2021
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2022
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2023
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2024
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2025
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2026
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2027
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2028
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2029
BW 0.6H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2030
BW 0.6H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2031
BW 1.1H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2032
BW 0.9H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2033
BW 0.8H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2034
Wooden Wall 0.7H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2035
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2036
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2037
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2038
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2039
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2040
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2041
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2042
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2043
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2044
CPS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2045
BW 0.7H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2046
BW 1.6H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2047
BW 1.2H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2048
BW 1.3H& CBF 1.5H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2049
BW 1.3H & CBF 1.8H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2050
BW 0.9H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2051
BW 0.9H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2052
BW 0.7H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2053
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2054
ASTBURY AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2055
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2056
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2057
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2058
BW 0.7H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2059
BW 0.9H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2060
BW 0.9H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2061
BW 0.9H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2062
BW 0.9H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2063
BW 0.8H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2064
BW 0.9H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2065
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2066
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2067
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2068
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2069
BW 1.0H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2070
BW 1.0H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2071
BW 1.0H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2072
BW 1.0H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2073
BW 1.0H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2074
BW 0.6H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2075
BW 0.6H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2076
BW 0.6H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2077
Hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_2078
CBF 1.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2079
BW 1.1H & CBF 0.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2080
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2081
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_2082
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_2083
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_2084
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_2085
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_2086
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2087
BW 1.3H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2088
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2089
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2090
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2091
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2092
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2093
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2094
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2095
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2096
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2097
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2098
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2099
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2100
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2101
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2102
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2103
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2104
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2105
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2106
CPS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2107
CPS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2108
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2109
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2110
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2111
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2112
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2113
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2114
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2115
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2116
BW 0.5H & IRF 0.7H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2117
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2118
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2119
BW 0.4H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2120
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2121
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2122
BW 0.5H & IRF 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2123
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2124
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2125
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2126
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2127
BW 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2128
IRF 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2129
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2130
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2131
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2132
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2133
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2134
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2135
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2136
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2137
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2138
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2139
BW 0.4H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2140
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2141
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2142
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2143
BW 0.2H & IRF 1.1H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2144
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2145
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2146
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2147
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2148
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2149
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2150
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2151
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2152
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2153
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2154
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2155
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2156
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2157
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2158
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2159
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2160
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2161
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2162
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2163
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2164
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2165
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2166
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2167
BW 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2168
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2169
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2170
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2171
BW 0.4H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2172
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2173
BW 0.4H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2174
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2175
BW 0.4H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2176
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2177
BW 0.5H & 1.2 CBF

AutoCAD SHX Text_2178
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2179
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2180
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2181
BW 0.5H & OBF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2182
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2183
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2184
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2185
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2186
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2187
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2188
BW 0.7H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2189
CBF 0.7H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2190
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2191
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_2192
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_2193
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_2194
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_2195
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2196
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2197
SCOTT ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2198
BENBOW CRES

AutoCAD SHX Text_2199
BENBOW CRES

AutoCAD SHX Text_2200
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2201
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2202
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2203
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2204
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2205
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2206
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2207
BW 1.2H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2208
CBF 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2209
BW 0.7H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2210
Yellow Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_2211
Yellow Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_2212
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2213
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2214
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2215
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2216
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2217
Yellow Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_2218
Yellow Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_2219
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2220
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2221
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2222
Yellow Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_2223
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2224
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2225
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2226
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2227
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2228
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2229
Deciduous 12H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2230
Deciduous 12H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2231
Deciduous 12H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2232
Deciduous 12H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2233
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2234
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2235
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2236
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2237
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2238
Deciduous 10H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2239
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2240
Deciduous 10H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2241
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2242
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2243
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2244
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_2245
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_2246
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_2247
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_2248
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_2249
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2250
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2251
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2252
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2253
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2254
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2255
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2256
Deciduous 8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2257
Deciduous 8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2258
Deciduous 8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2259
Deciduous 8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2260
Deciduous 8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2261
Deciduous 8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2262
Deciduous 8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2263
Deciduous 8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2264
Deciduous 8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2265
Deciduous 8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2266
Deciduous 8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2267
Deciduous 8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2268
Deciduous 8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2269
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_2270
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2271
Deciduous 8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2272
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2273
Red Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_2274
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2275
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2276
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2277
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2278
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2279
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2280
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2281
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2282
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2283
Bus Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2284
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2285
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2286
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2287
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2288
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2289
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2290
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2291
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2292
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2293
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2294
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2295
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2296
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2297
IRF 2.1H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2298
IRF 2.1H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2299
IRF 2.1H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2300
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2301
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2302
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2303
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2304
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2305
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2306
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2307
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2308
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2309
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2310
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2311
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2312
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2313
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2314
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2315
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2316
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2317
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2318
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_2319
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_2320
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_2321
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_2322
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2323
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2324
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2325
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2326
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2327
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2328
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2329
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2330
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2331
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2332
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2333
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2334
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2335
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2336
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2337
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2338
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2339
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2340
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2341
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2342
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2343
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2344
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2345
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2346
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2347
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2348
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2349
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2350
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2351
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2352
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2353
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2354
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2355
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2356
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2357
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2358
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2359
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2360
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2361
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2362
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2363
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2364
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2365
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2366
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2367
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2368
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2369
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2370
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2371
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2372
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2373
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2374
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2375
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2376
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2377
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2378
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2379
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2380
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2381
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2382
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2383
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2384
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2385
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2386
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2387
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2388
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2389
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2390
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2391
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2392
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2393
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2394
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2395
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2396
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2397
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_2398
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_2399
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_2400
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_2401
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_2402
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_2403
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2404
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2405
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2406
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2407
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2408
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2409
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2410
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2411
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2412
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2413
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2414
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2415
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2416
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2417
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2418
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2419
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2420
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2421
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2422
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2423
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2424
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2425
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2426
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2427
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2428
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2429
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2430
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2431
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2432
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2433
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2434
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2435
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2436
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2437
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2438
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2439
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2440
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2441
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2442
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2443
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2444
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2445
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2446
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2447
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2448
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2449
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2450
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2451
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2452
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2453
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2454
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2455
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2456
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2457
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2458
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2459
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2460
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2461
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2462
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2463
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2464
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2465
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2466
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2467
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2468
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2469
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2470
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2471
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2472
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2473
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2474
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2475
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2476
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2477
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2478
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2479
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2480
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2481
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2482
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2483
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2484
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2485
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2486
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2487
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2488
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2489
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2490
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2491
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2492
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2493
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2494
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2495
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2496
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2497
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2498
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2499
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2500
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2501
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2502
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2503
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2504
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2505
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2506
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2507
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2508
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2509
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2510
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2511
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2512
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2513
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2514
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2515
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2516
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2517
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2518
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2519
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2520
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2521
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2522
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2523
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2524
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2525
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2526
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2527
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2528
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2529
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2530
Unmade

AutoCAD SHX Text_2531
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2532
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2533
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2534
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2535
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2536
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2537
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2538
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2539
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2540
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2541
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2542
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2543
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2544
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2545
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2546
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2547
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2548
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2549
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2550
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2551
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2552
BS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2553
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2554
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2555
TJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2556
TJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2557
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2558
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2559
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2560
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2561
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2562
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2563
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2564
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2565
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2566
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_2567
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_2568
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2569
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2570
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2571
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2572
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2573
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2574
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2575
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2576
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2577
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2578
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2579
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2580
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2581
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2582
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2583
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2584
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2585
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2586
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2587
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2588
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2589
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2590
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2591
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2592
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2593
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2594
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2595
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2596
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2597
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2598
LetterBox

AutoCAD SHX Text_2599
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2600
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2601
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2602
TJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2603
TJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2604
TJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2605
Bus Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2606
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2607
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2608
Bus Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2609
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2610
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2611
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2612
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2613
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2614
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2615
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2616
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2617
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2618
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2619
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2620
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2621
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2622
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2623
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2624
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2625
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2626
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2627
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2628
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_2629
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2630
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2631
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2632
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2633
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2634
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2635
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2636
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2637
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2638
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2639
Red Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_2640
Red Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_2641
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2642
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2643
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2644
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2645
Average Tree Height: 11m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2646
Average Tree Height: 11m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2647
Average Tree Height: 11m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2648
Average Tree Height: 11m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2649
Deciduous 6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2650
Deciduous

AutoCAD SHX Text_2651
Deciduous

AutoCAD SHX Text_2652
Deciduous

AutoCAD SHX Text_2653
Deciduous

AutoCAD SHX Text_2654
Deciduous

AutoCAD SHX Text_2655
Deciduous

AutoCAD SHX Text_2656
Deciduous

AutoCAD SHX Text_2657
Deciduous

AutoCAD SHX Text_2658
Deciduous

AutoCAD SHX Text_2659
Deciduous

AutoCAD SHX Text_2660
Deciduous

AutoCAD SHX Text_2661
Coniferous 14H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2662
Deciduous 7H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2663
Deciduous 7H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2664
Deciduous 7H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2665
Deciduous 7H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2666
Deciduous 5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2667
Deciduous 5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2668
Deciduous 5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2669
Deciduous 5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2670
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2671
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2672
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2673
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2674
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2675
Planted

AutoCAD SHX Text_2676
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2677
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2678
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2679
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2680
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2681
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2682
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2683
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2684
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2685
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2686
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2687
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2688
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2689
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2690
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2691
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2692
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2693
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2694
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2695
BW 1.0& IRF 1.4H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2696
BW 1.0& IRF 1.4H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2697
BW 1.0& IRF 1.4H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2698
BW 1.0& IRF 1.4H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2699
BW 1.0& IRF 1.4H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2700
BW 1.0& IRF 1.4H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2701
BW 1.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2702
CW 0.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2703
CW 0.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2704
BW 0.5& IRF 0.6H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2705
BW 0.5& IRF 0.6H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2706
BW 0.6& IRF 0.5H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2707
BW 0.5& IRF 1.5H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2708
BW 0.5& IRF 1.5H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2709
BW 0.5& IRF 1.5H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2710
BW 0.5& IRF 1.5H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2711
BW 0.5& IRF 1.5H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2712
BW 0.5& IRF 1.5H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_2713
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2714
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2715
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2716
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2717
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2718
CW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2719
BW 0.7H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2720
BW 0.7H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2721
BW 0.7H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2722
CW 0.1H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2723
CW 0.1H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2724
CW 0.1H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2725
CW 0.1H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2726
CW 0.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2727
CW 0.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2728
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2729
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2730
BRYANT ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2731
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2732
CANFORD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2733
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2734
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2735
ALDER ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2736
CBF 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2737
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2738
Bin

AutoCAD SHX Text_2739
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2740
Bin

AutoCAD SHX Text_2741
NB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2742
Flower Pot

AutoCAD SHX Text_2743
IRF 0.3H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2744
IRF 0.3H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2745
IRF 0.3H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2746
IRF 0.3H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2747
IRF 0.3H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2748
IRF 0.3H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2749
IRF 0.3H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2750
IRF 0.3H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2751
IRF 0.3H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2752
IRF 0.3H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2753
IRF 0.3H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2754
IRF 0.3H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2755
IRF 0.3H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2756
IRF 0.3H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2757
IRF 0.3H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2758
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2759
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2760
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2761
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2762
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2763
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2764
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2765
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2766
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2767
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2768
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2769
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2770
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2771
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2772
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2773
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2774
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2775
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2776
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2777
BW 0.5& CBF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2778
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2779
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2780
Planter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2781
CBF 1.1H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2782
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2783
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2784
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2785
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2786
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2787
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2788
BW 2.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2789
CBF 2.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2790
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_2791
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_2792
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_2793
IRF 0.3H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2794
IRF 0.3H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2795
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2796
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2797
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2798
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2799
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2800
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2801
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2802
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2803
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2804
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2805
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2806
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2807
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2808
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2809
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2810
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2811
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2812
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2813
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2814
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2815
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2816
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2817
Red Setts

AutoCAD SHX Text_2818
Unmade

AutoCAD SHX Text_2819
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2820
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2821
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2822
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2823
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2824
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2825
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2826
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2827
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2828
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2829
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2830
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2831
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2832
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2833
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2834
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2835
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2836
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2837
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2838
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2839
Setts

AutoCAD SHX Text_2840
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2841
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2842
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2843
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2844
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2845
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2846
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2847
Unmade

AutoCAD SHX Text_2848
Ramp Down

AutoCAD SHX Text_2849
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2850
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2851
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2852
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_2853
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2854
IRF 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2855
IRF 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2856
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2857
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2858
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2859
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2860
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2861
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2862
CW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2863
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2864
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2865
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2866
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2867
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2868
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2869
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2870
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2871
CW 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2872
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2873
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2874
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2875
Deciduous 14H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2876
Deciduous 14H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2877
SAP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2878
Step Up

AutoCAD SHX Text_2879
Step Up

AutoCAD SHX Text_2880
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_2881
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_2882
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_2883
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_2884
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_2885
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_2886
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_2887
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_2888
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_2889
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_2890
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_2891
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_2892
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_2893
CBF 2.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2894
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2895
CBF 2.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2896
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2897
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2898
IRF 0.3H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2899
IRF 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_2900
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2901
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2902
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2903
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2904
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2905
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2906
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2907
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2908
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2909
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2910
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2911
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2912
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2913
KINSON ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2914
SAP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2915
SAP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2916
RSI

AutoCAD SHX Text_2917
RSI

AutoCAD SHX Text_2918
RSI

AutoCAD SHX Text_2919
RSI

AutoCAD SHX Text_2920
IBOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2921
IBOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2922
IBOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2923
IBOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2924
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_2925
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_2926
Bin

AutoCAD SHX Text_2927
Bin

AutoCAD SHX Text_2928
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2929
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2930
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2931
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2932
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2933
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2934
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2935
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2936
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2937
DP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2938
DP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2939
DP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2940
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2941
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2942
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2943
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2944
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2945
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2946
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2947
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2948
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2949
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2950
BS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2951
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2952
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2953
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2954
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2955
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2956
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2957
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2958
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2959
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2960
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2961
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2962
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2963
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2964
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2965
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2966
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2967
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2968
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2969
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2970
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2971
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2972
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2973
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2974
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2975
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2976
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2977
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2978
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2979
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2980
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2981
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2982
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2983
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2984
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2985
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2986
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2987
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2988
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2989
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2990
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2991
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2992
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2993
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2994
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2995
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2996
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_2997
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_2998
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_2999
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_3000
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3001
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3002
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3003
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3004
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3005
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3006
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3007
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3008
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3009
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3010
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3011
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3012
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3013
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3014
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3015
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3016
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3017
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3018
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3019
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3020
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3021
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3022
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3023
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3024
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3025
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3026
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3027
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3028
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3029
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3030
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3031
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3032
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3033
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3034
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3035
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3036
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3037
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3038
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3039
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3040
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3041
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3042
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3043
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3044
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3045
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3046
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3047
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3048
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3049
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3050
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3051
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3052
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3053
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3054
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3055
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3056
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3057
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3058
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3059
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3060
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3061
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3062
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3063
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3064
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3065
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3066
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3067
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3068
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3069
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3070
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3071
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3072
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3073
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3074
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3075
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3076
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3077
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3078
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3079
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3080
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3081
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3082
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3083
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3084
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3085
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3086
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3087
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3088
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3089
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3090
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3091
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3092
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3093
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3094
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3095
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3096
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3097
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3098
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3099
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3100
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3101
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3102
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3103
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3104
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3105
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3106
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3107
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3108
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3109
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3110
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3111
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3112
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3113
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3114
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3115
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3116
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3117
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3118
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3119
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3120
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3121
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3122
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3123
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3124
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3125
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3126
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3127
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3128
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3129
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3130
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3131
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3132
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3133
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3134
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3135
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3136
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3137
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3138
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3139
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3140
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3141
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_3142
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_3143
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3144
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3145
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3146
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3147
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3148
Dished  Drainage Channel

AutoCAD SHX Text_3149
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3150
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3151
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3152
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3153
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3154
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3155
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3156
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3157
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3158
Approx Position

AutoCAD SHX Text_3159
Approx Position

AutoCAD SHX Text_3160
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3161
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3162
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3163
Unmade

AutoCAD SHX Text_3164
Unmade

AutoCAD SHX Text_3165
Setts

AutoCAD SHX Text_3166
Setts

AutoCAD SHX Text_3167
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_3168
Yellow Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_3169
Yellow Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_3170
Red Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_3171
Red Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_3172
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3173
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3174
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3175
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3176
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3177
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3178
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3179
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3180
Yellow Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_3181
LEYLAND ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3182
LYON ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3183
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3184
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3185
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3186
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3187
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3188
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3189
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3190
Flower Pot

AutoCAD SHX Text_3191
Flower Pot

AutoCAD SHX Text_3192
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_3193
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3194
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3195
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3196
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3197
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3198
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3199
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3200
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3201
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3202
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3203
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3204
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3205
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3206
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3207
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3208
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3209
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3210
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3211
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3212
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3213
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3214
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3215
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3216
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3217
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3218
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3219
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3220
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3221
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3222
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3223
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3224
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3225
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3226
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3227
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3228
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3229
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3230
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3231
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3232
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3233
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3234
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3235
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3236
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3237
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3238
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3239
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3240
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3241
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3242
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3243
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3244
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3245
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3246
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3247
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3248
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3249
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3250
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3251
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3252
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3253
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3254
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3255
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3256
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3257
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3258
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3259
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3260
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3261
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3262
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3263
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3264
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3265
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3266
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3267
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3268
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3269
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3270
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3271
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3272
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3273
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3274
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3275
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3276
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3277
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3278
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3279
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3280
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3281
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3282
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3283
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3284
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3285
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3286
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3287
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3288
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3289
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3290
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3291
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3292
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3293
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3294
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3295
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3296
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3297
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3298
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3299
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3300
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3301
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3302
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3303
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3304
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3305
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3306
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3307
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3308
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3309
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3310
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3311
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3312
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3313
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3314
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3315
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3316
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3317
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3318
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3319
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3320
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3321
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3322
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3323
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3324
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3325
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3326
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3327
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3328
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3329
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3330
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3331
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3332
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3333
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3334
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3335
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3336
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3337
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3338
BW 0.2H & IRF 1.1H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3339
BW 0.4H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3340
CBF 2.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3341
Faded

AutoCAD SHX Text_3342
Faded

AutoCAD SHX Text_3343
Faded

AutoCAD SHX Text_3344
Faded

AutoCAD SHX Text_3345
Faded

AutoCAD SHX Text_3346
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3347
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3348
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3349
Faded

AutoCAD SHX Text_3350
Faded

AutoCAD SHX Text_3351
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3352
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3353
Approx Position

AutoCAD SHX Text_3354
Strip Gully

AutoCAD SHX Text_3355
Strip Gully

AutoCAD SHX Text_3356
Strip Gully

AutoCAD SHX Text_3357
Strip Gully

AutoCAD SHX Text_3358
Strip Gully

AutoCAD SHX Text_3359
Strip Gully

AutoCAD SHX Text_3360
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3361
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3362
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_3363
Strip Gully

AutoCAD SHX Text_3364
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_3365
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_3366
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_3367
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3368
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3369
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3370
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3371
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3372
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3373
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3374
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3375
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3376
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3377
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3378
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3379
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3380
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3381
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3382
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3383
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3384
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3385
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3386
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3387
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3388
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3389
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3390
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3391
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3392
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3393
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3394
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3395
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3396
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3397
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3398
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3399
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3400
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3401
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3402
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3403
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_3404
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3405
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3406
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3407
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_3408
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_3409
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_3410
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3411
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_3412
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3413
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3414
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3415
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3416
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3417
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_3418
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3419
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3420
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3421
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3422
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3423
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3424
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3425
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3426
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3427
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3428
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3429
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3430
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3431
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3432
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3433
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3434
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3435
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3436
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3437
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3438
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3439
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3440
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3441
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3442
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3443
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3444
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3445
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3446
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3447
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3448
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3449
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3450
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3451
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3452
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3453
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3454
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3455
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3456
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3457
Approx. Due to Parked Car

AutoCAD SHX Text_3458
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3459
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3460
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3461
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3462
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3463
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3464
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3465
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3466
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3467
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3468
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3469
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3470
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3471
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3472
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3473
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3474
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3475
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3476
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3477
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3478
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3479
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3480
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3481
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3482
Strip Gully

AutoCAD SHX Text_3483
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3484
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3485
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3486
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3487
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3488
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3489
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3490
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3491
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3492
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3493
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3494
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3495
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3496
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3497
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3498
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3499
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3500
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3501
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3502
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3503
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3504
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3505
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3506
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3507
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3508
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3509
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3510
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3511
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3512
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3513
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3514
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3515
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3516
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3517
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3518
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3519
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3520
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3521
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3522
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3523
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3524
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3525
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3526
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3527
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3528
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3529
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3530
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3531
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3532
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3533
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3534
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3535
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3536
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3537
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3538
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3539
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3540
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3541
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3542
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3543
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3544
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3545
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3546
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3547
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3548
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3549
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3550
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3551
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3552
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3553
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3554
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3555
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3556
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3557
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3558
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3559
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3560
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3561
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3562
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3563
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3564
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3565
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3566
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3567
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3568
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3569
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3570
KI

AutoCAD SHX Text_3571
KI

AutoCAD SHX Text_3572
KI

AutoCAD SHX Text_3573
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3574
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3575
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3576
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3577
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3578
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3579
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3580
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3581
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3582
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3583
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3584
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3585
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3586
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3587
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3588
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3589
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3590
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3591
Strip Gully

AutoCAD SHX Text_3592
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3593
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3594
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3595
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3596
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3597
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3598
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3599
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3600
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3601
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3602
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3603
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3604
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3605
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3606
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3607
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3608
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3609
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3610
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3611
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_3612
BW 0.2H & PRF 0.4H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3613
Setts

AutoCAD SHX Text_3614
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3615
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3616
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3617
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3618
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3619
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3620
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3621
SUBWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3622
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3623
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3624
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_3625
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_3626
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_3627
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_3628
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_3629
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_3630
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_3631
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_3632
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_3633
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_3634
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3635
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3636
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3637
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3638
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3639
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3640
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3641
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3642
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3643
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3644
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3645
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3646
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3647
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_3648
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3649
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3650
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3651
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3652
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3653
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3654
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3655
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3656
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3657
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3658
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3659
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3660
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3661
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3662
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3663
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3664
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3665
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3666
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3667
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3668
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3669
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3670
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3671
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3672
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3673
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3674
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3675
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3676
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3677
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3678
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3679
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3680
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3681
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3682
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3683
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3684
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3685
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3686
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3687
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3688
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3689
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3690
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3691
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3692
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3693
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3694
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3695
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3696
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3697
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3698
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3699
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3700
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3701
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3702
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3703
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3704
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3705
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3706
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3707
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3708
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3709
BW 0.9H & PRF 0.5H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3710
BW 0.8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3711
BW 0.9H & IRF 0.4H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3712
CW 1.0H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3713
BW 0.5H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3714
CW 1.0H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3715
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3716
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3717
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3718
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3719
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3720
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3721
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3722
BW 0.7H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3723
BW 0.8H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3724
BW 0.8H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3725
BW 0.8H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3726
BW 0.9H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3727
BW 0.9H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3728
BW 0.9H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3729
CBF 2.1H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3730
BW 1.4H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3731
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3732
SUNNYMOOR ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3733
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3734
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3735
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3736
Unmade

AutoCAD SHX Text_3737
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_3738
Unmade

AutoCAD SHX Text_3739
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_3740
CBF 2.1H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3741
BW 0.9H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3742
BW 0.8H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3743
BW 0.8H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3744
BW 0.8H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3745
CPS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3746
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_3747
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_3748
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_3749
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_3750
Unmade

AutoCAD SHX Text_3751
Unmade

AutoCAD SHX Text_3752
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3753
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3754
BW 0.9H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3755
CW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3756
BW 0.9H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3757
BW 0.6H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3758
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3759
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3760
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3761
Deciduous 13H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3762
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_3763
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_3764
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_3765
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_3766
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_3767
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_3768
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_3769
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3770
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3771
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3772
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3773
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3774
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3775
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3776
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3777
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3778
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3779
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3780
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3781
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text_3782
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3783
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_3784
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_3785
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3786
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3787
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3788
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3789
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3790
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3791
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3792
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3793
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3794
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3795
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3796
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3797
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3798
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3799
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3800
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3801
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3802
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3803
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3804
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3805
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3806
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3807
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3808
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3809
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3810
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3811
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3812
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3813
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3814
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3815
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3816
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3817
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3818
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3819
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3820
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3821
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3822
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3823
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3824
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3825
BS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3826
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3827
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3828
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3829
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3830
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3831
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3832
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3833
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3834
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3835
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3836
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3837
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3838
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3839
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3840
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3841
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3842
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3843
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3844
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3845
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3846
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3847
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3848
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3849
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3850
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3851
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3852
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3853
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3854
BW 0.6H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3855
BW 0.6H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3856
BW 1.1H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3857
BW 0.9H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3858
BW 0.8H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3859
Wooden Wall 0.7H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3860
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3861
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3862
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3863
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3864
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3865
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3866
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3867
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_3868
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3869
CPS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3870
BW 0.7H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3871
BW 1.6H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3872
BW 1.2H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3873
BW 1.3H& CBF 1.5H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3874
BW 1.3H & CBF 1.8H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3875
BW 0.9H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3876
BW 0.9H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3877
BW 0.7H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3878
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3879
ASTBURY AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3880
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3881
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3882
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3883
BW 0.7H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3884
BW 0.9H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3885
BW 0.9H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3886
BW 0.9H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3887
BW 0.9H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3888
BW 0.8H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3889
BW 0.9H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3890
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3891
BW 1.0H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3892
BW 1.0H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3893
BW 1.0H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3894
BW 1.0H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3895
BW 1.0H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3896
BW 1.2H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3897
BW 0.7H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_3898
Yellow Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_3899
Yellow Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_3900
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3901
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3902
BRYANT ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3903
CANFORD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3904
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3905
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3906
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3907
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3908
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3909
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3910
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3911
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3912
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3913
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3914
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3915
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3916
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3917
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3918
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3919
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3920
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3921
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3922
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3923
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3924
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3925
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3926
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3927
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3928
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3929
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3930
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3931
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3932
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3933
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3934
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3935
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3936
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3937
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3938
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3939
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3940
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3941
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3942
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3943
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_3944
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_3945
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_3946
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_3947
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_3948
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_3949
Ramp Down

AutoCAD SHX Text_3950
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3951
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3952
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_3953
IRF 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3954
IRF 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3955
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3956
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3957
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3958
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3959
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3960
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3961
CW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3962
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3963
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3964
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3965
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3966
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3967
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3968
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3969
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3970
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3971
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3972
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3973
Deciduous 14H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3974
Deciduous 14H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3975
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3976
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3977
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3978
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_3979
CBF 2.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3980
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3981
CBF 2.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3982
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3983
IRF 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_3984
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3985
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3986
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3987
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3988
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_3989
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3990
Bin

AutoCAD SHX Text_3991
Bin

AutoCAD SHX Text_3992
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3993
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3994
DP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3995
DP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3996
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3997
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3998
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3999
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4000
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_4001
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4002
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4003
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4004
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4005
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4006
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4007
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_4008
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_4009
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4010
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4011
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4012
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4013
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4014
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4015
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4016
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4017
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4018
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4019
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4020
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4021
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4022
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4023
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4024
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4025
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4026
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4027
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4028
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4029
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4030
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4031
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4032
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4033
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4034
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4035
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4036
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4037
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4038
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4039
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4040
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4041
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4042
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4043
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4044
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4045
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4046
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4047
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4048
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4049
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4050
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4051
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4052
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4053
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4054
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4055
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4056
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4057
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4058
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4059
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4060
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4061
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4062
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4063
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_4064
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_4065
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4066
Unmade

AutoCAD SHX Text_4067
Unmade

AutoCAD SHX Text_4068
Setts

AutoCAD SHX Text_4069
Setts

AutoCAD SHX Text_4070
Yellow Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_4071
Yellow Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_4072
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_4073
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4074
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4075
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4076
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4077
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4078
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4079
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4080
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4081
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4082
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4083
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4084
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4085
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4086
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4087
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4088
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4089
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4090
BW 0.4H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4091
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4092
Approx Position

AutoCAD SHX Text_4093
Strip Gully

AutoCAD SHX Text_4094
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4095
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4096
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_4097
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_4098
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_4099
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4100
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4101
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4102
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4103
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4104
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4105
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4106
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4107
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4108
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4109
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4110
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4111
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4112
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4113
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4114
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4115
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4116
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4117
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4118
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4119
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4120
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4121
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4122
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4123
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4124
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4125
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4126
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4127
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4128
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4129
Setts

AutoCAD SHX Text_4130
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4131
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4132
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4133
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4134
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4135
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4136
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4137
Deciduous 7H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4138
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_4139
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4140
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4141
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4142
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4143
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4144
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4145
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4146
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_4147
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4148
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4149
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4150
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4151
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4152
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4153
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4154
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4155
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4156
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4157
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4158
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4159
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4160
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4161
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4162
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4163
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4164
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4165
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4166
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4167
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4168
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4169
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4170
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4171
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4172
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4173
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4174
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4175
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4176
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4177
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4178
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4179
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4180
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4181
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4182
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4183
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4184
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4185
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4186
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4187
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4188
BS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4189
BS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4190
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4191
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4192
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4193
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4194
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4195
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4196
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4197
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4198
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4199
IBOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4200
IBOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4201
RSI

AutoCAD SHX Text_4202
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4203
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4204
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4205
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4206
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4207
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4208
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4209
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4210
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4211
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4212
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4213
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4214
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4215
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4216
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4217
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4218
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4219
CBF 2.1H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4220
CPS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4221
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_4222
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_4223
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_4224
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_4225
Unmade

AutoCAD SHX Text_4226
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_4227
Unmade

AutoCAD SHX Text_4228
Hedge 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4229
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4230
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4231
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4232
BW 0.9H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4233
BW 0.8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4234
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4235
BW 0.8H & IRF 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4236
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4237
BW 0.9H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4238
CW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4239
BW 0.9H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4240
BW 0.9H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4241
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4242
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4243
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4244
Setts

AutoCAD SHX Text_4245
BW 0.9H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4246
BW 0.6H & IRF 0.7H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4247
SW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4248
BW 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4249
BW 0.8H & IRF 0.4H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4250
BW 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4251
BW 0.8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4252
BW 0.3H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4253
CBF 1.1H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4254
SW 0.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4255
SW 0.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4256
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4257
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4258
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4259
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4260
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4261
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4262
CANFORD AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4263
BW 0.6H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_4264
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4265
PRF 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4266
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4267
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4268
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4269
Red Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_4270
Bus Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_4271
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4272
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4273
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4274
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4275
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4276
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4277
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4278
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4279
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4280
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4281
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4282
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4283
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4284
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4285
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4286
Deciduous 12H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4287
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_4288
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_4289
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_4290
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_4291
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_4292
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_4293
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_4294
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4295
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4296
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4297
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4298
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4299
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4300
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4301
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4302
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4303
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4304
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4305
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4306
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4307
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4308
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4309
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4310
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4311
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4312
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4313
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4314
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4315
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text_4316
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4317
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4318
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4319
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4320
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4321
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4322
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4323
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4324
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4325
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4326
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4327
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4328
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_4329
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_4330
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_4331
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_4332
EJB

AutoCAD SHX Text_4333
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4334
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4335
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4336
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4337
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4338
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4339
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4340
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4341
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4342
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4343
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4344
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4345
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4346
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4347
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4348
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4349
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4350
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4351
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4352
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4353
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4354
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4355
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4356
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4357
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4358
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4359
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4360
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4361
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4362
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4363
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4364
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4365
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4366
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4367
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4368
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4369
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4370
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4371
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4372
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4373
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4374
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4375
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4376
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4377
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4378
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4379
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4380
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4381
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4382
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4383
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4384
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4385
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4386
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4387
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4388
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4389
TIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4390
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4391
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4392
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4393
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4394
FIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4395
BS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4396
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4397
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4398
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4399
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4400
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4401
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4402
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4403
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4404
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4405
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4406
EIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4407
NP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4408
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4409
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4410
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4411
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4412
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4413
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4414
TSCU

AutoCAD SHX Text_4415
56.677

AutoCAD SHX Text_4416
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4417
TSIC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4418
Stump

AutoCAD SHX Text_4419
RSI

AutoCAD SHX Text_4420
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4421
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4422
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4423
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4424
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4425
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4426
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4427
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4428
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4429
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4430
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4431
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4432
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4433
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4434
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4435
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4436
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4437
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4438
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4439
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4440
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4441
BW 0.9H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_4442
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4443
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4444
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4445
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4446
BW 1.0H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_4447
BW 1.0H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_4448
BW 1.0H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_4449
BW 1.0H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_4450
BW 1.0H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_4451
BW 0.6H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_4452
BW 0.6H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_4453
BW 0.6H 

AutoCAD SHX Text_4454
Hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_4455
CBF 1.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4456
BW 1.1H & CBF 0.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_4457
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4458
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_4459
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_4460
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_4461
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_4462
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_4463
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4464
BW 1.3H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4465
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4466
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4467
BW 0.6H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4468
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4469
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4470
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4471
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4472
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4473
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4474
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4475
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4476
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4477
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4478
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4479
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4480
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4481
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4482
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_4483
CPS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4484
CPS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4485
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4486
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4487
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4488
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4489
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4490
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4491
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4492
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4493
BW 0.5H & IRF 0.7H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4494
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4495
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4496
BW 0.4H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4497
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4498
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4499
BW 0.5H & IRF 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4500
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4501
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4502
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4503
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4504
BW 1.0H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4505
IRF 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4506
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4507
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4508
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4509
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4510
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4511
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4512
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4513
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4514
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4515
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4516
BW 0.4H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4517
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4518
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4519
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4520
BW 0.2H & IRF 1.1H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4521
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4522
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4523
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_4524
SCOTT ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4525
BENBOW CRES

AutoCAD SHX Text_4526
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4527
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4528
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4529
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4530
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4531
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4532
BW 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4533
CBF 1.2H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4534
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_4535
Conc.

AutoCAD SHX Text_4536
BW 0.5H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4537
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4538
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4539
Yellow Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_4540
Yellow Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_4541
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4542
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4543
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4544
Yellow Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_4545
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4546
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4547
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4548
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4549
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4550
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4551
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4552
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4553
Deciduous 8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4554
Deciduous 8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4555
Deciduous 8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4556
Deciduous 8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4557
Deciduous 8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4558
Deciduous 8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4559
Deciduous 8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4560
Deciduous 8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4561
Deciduous 8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4562
Deciduous 8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4563
Deciduous 8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4564
Deciduous 8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4565
Deciduous 8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4566
Vegetation

AutoCAD SHX Text_4567
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4568
Deciduous 8H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4569
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4570
Red Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_4571
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4572
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4573
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4574
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4575
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4576
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4577
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4578
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4579
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_4580
Bus Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_4581
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4582
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4583
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4584
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4585
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4586
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4587
WALLISDOWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4588
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4589
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4590
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4591
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4592
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4593
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4594
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4595
Yellow Tactile

AutoCAD SHX Text_4596
Black Tarmac

AutoCAD SHX Text_4597
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4598
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4599
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4600
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4601
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4602
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4603
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4604
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4605
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4606
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4607
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4608
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4609
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4610
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4611
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4612
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4613
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4614
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4615
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4616
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4617
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4618
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4619
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4620
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4621
BW 0.2H & IRF 1.1H

AutoCAD SHX Text_4622
Faded

AutoCAD SHX Text_4623
Faded

AutoCAD SHX Text_4624
Faded

AutoCAD SHX Text_4625
Faded

AutoCAD SHX Text_4626
Faded

AutoCAD SHX Text_4627
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4628
Conc. Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4629
Drop Kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_4630
Faded

AutoCAD SHX Text_4631
Faded

AutoCAD SHX Text_4632
Strip Gully

AutoCAD SHX Text_4633
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4634
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4635
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4636
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4637
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4638
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4639
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4640
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4641
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4642
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4643
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4644
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4645
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4646
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4647
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4648
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4649
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4650
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4651
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4652
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4653
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4654
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4655
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4656
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4657
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4658
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4659
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4660
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4661
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4662
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4663
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4664
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4665
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4666
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4667
RG

AutoCAD SHX Text_4668
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4669
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4670
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4671
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4672
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4673
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4674
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4675
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4676
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4677
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4678
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4679
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4680
Setts

AutoCAD SHX Text_4681
REV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4682
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4683
BY

AutoCAD SHX Text_4684
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text_4685
CHK

AutoCAD SHX Text_4686
APP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4687
P01

AutoCAD SHX Text_4688
05/06/2020

AutoCAD SHX Text_4689
TCT

AutoCAD SHX Text_4690
FIRST ISSUE


This page is intentionally left blank

28



CABINET

Agenda ltem 7

BCP

Council

Report subject

Adult Social Care Strategy

Meeting date

9 September 2020

Status

Public Report

Executive summary

This report presents for approval the strategic priorities of the Adult
Social Care Strategy, which were considered by the Health and
Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 27" July 2020.

The report outlines how the Adult Social Care Directorate has
engaged with stakeholders, including people who use services and
carers, in order to inform the strategic priorities for the next 4 years.

It set outs how the strategic priorities align to the Fulfilled Lives
objectives in the Corporate Strategy and the Council’'s wider
transformation programme. The priorities respond to national
drivers, legislation and where performance measures and customer
feedback indicates that strategic change is required to deliver
improvements in outcomes and services.

The report highlights the potential to develop new approaches to
service delivery as a result of learning through the COVID 19
pandemic. The overarching priorities are:

e Engage with individuals and communities to promote
well-being

e Support people to live safe and independent lives

e Value and support carers

e Enable people to live well through quality social care

e Deliver Services that are modern and accessible

Recommendations

It is RECOMMENDED that:

Cabinet approves the strategic priorities of the Adult Social
Care Strategy enclosed at Appendix 2 of this report.

Reason for
recommendations

This a key document for Adult Social Care as it will set the
framework for transformation and improvement of services over the
next 4 years.

29




Portfolio Holder(s):

Councillor Lesley Dedman, Portfolio Holder for Adult and Health

Corporate Director

Jan Thurgood, Corporate Director, Adult Social Care

Report Authors Elaine Stratman, Head of Strategic Planning and Quality Assurance
Wards All
Classification For Decision

Background

1.

The strategic priorities of the Adult Social Care Strategy will set the direction for

transformation and improvement in the Adult Social Care Directorate for BCP
Council over the next four years. It is aligned with the objectives of the Council’s
Corporate Strategy. This report outlines how the strategic priorities have been
developed with the engagement of people who use services and carers; partner
agencies; staff and the Health and Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny

Committee.

Development of the Strategy

2.

modernise services.
3.

Housing Strategy.
4,
5.

The strategic priorities were developed in consultation with stakeholders and staff

across the Adult Social Care Directorate through workshops and roadshows in the
Autumn of 2019. This was to understand from their perspective what key strategic
actions need to be taken over the next four years in order to improve outcomes and

The strategic priorities were developed to include all relevant elements from the

Council’s Corporate Strategy, particularly from the Fulfilled Lives priorities (See
Appendix 3). They have also been developed in the light of the priorities in the NHS
Five Year Forward Plan and has close links to the development of the Council’s

Instrumental to the thinking behind the Strategy was the need to respond to national

drivers and changes of legislation. One example is the changes to Deprivation of
Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) as part of the Mental Capacity (Amendment) Bill, which
passed into law in May 2019 and is replaced with a scheme known as the Liberty
Protection Safeguards. The Government has determined that Liberty Protection
Safeguards will be implemented nationally in April 2022.

Areas for improvement have been identified through feedback from people who use

services and carers and benchmarking BCP Council’'s Adult Social Care
performance in its first year of operation against national performance metrics.

30




Appendix 1 provides data on BCP Council’s performance in 2019/20. Key areas
where the Council’s performance indicates the need for improvement are:

¢ Numbers of people being admitted to a care home setting.

e Lower percentages of people with a learning disability and with mental health issues
living in settled accommodation and being in employment and training

e Lower percentages of adults and carers receiving direct payments

e Proportion of people receiving a short-term service that then need ongoing support

e Proportion of delayed transfers of care for which health and social care are jointly
responsible

Stakeholder Engagement Findings

6.

In early Spring 2020 an engagement programme was delivered to gather public and
stakeholder views on the draft strategy priorities. This included surveys, workshops
and focus groups, and working with partners to promote the survey within their
networks. It should be noted that a number of the priorities had already been
consulted upon during consultation on the Corporate Strategy in Summer 2019.

Some of the face to face events had to be cancelled due to the COVID-19
pandemic. However, alternatives were offered such as invitation to complete the
online survey or engagement telephone calls.

Over 140 service users, carers or families completed the public questionnaire.
Respondents told us that all the five proposed priorities were of great importance.
However, the two most important were “Support for Carers” and “Enable People to
Live Well Through Quality Social Care”. Over two hundred comments were provided
by people who use services and carers. 25 stakeholders completed the online
survey and 10 further partners came to a workshop to discuss the proposals. The
key comments were:

¢ Information and advice and joined up working were key to delivering quality social
care

¢ Funding concerns were a theme throughout the comments

o People said that living safe and independent lives was hard to achieve for very
vulnerable people and that early access to services was important

e Support for carers was a theme that ran through all the priorities and they felt that it
is vital that families of carers are more engaged and involved right from the start of
planning

e Carers felt that respite was important

e Comments around delivering modern and accessible services highlighted that they
felt the priority was very ambitious and they were not sure how we would achieve
this.

o People felt that engaging with our communities and health partners was very
important

¢ Investment in well trained staff is needed with time to address needs with respect
and dignity

31



e Use modern technology

e Support and empower communities

e Involve carers in training staff

e Getting it right for younger people will help in generations to come

e Invest in the community and voluntary sector- the sector would really like to support
the Strategy but were already under pressure.

e Join up with projects which are already in progress

e Communicate the plans and progress so everyone is aware of what is happening

Learning from the Covid 19 Pandemic

9.

Adult Social Care’s response to the Covid19 pandemic has been focussed on
ensuring the safety, health and well-being of people who use services and carers
and driven by an extensive range of national guidance. Local deployment has been
swift, with the health and social care system adapting quickly to new ways of
working. This has fuelled significant interest in using this learning both at a national
and local level in guiding reset and recovery plans. This learning will influence and
change ways of working and service delivery for Adult Social Care in areas such as:

e Using strength-based approaches, harnessing what we have learnt using the
volunteer capacity in our communities

¢ Reviewing the reablement and intermediate care offer, considering how to deliver
an integrated model with NHS partners

¢ Working with the NHS looking at how we jointly, commission and quality assure and
support the independent sector market, and broker the market in an integrated way

e Continuing with new ways of working including much more mobile working and
flexible working.

¢ Delivering a new model for carers services and how carers support each other: for
example, using technology to deliver carer forums and on-line services

¢ Considering the Council's approach to assessing adults and developing support
plans with them whether this needs to be in their own homes, or somewhere else or
using technology to do this.

e Take the positive learning from the Hospital discharge process that was rapidly
deployed during the Covid19 pandemic and deliver assessment and support closer
to home.

Finalising the Strategy

10.

11.

The learning from the stakeholder engagement which took place and from the
Covid19 Pandemic have enabled reflection on the draft strategic priorities from
where the Council was at February 2020 to entering recovery and reset. To that end
the Strategy has been revised to reflect this and is attached at Appendix 2.

Feedback provided from the Health and Social Care Overview and Scrutiny
Committee held on 27" July 2020 was very positive. The Committee wanted to
ensure that a good mix of housing options were being considered within the Strategy
including small group living in order to reduce social isolation and that life skills

32



training was in place to facilitate independent living. The Committee also wanted to
explore that use of technology was being considered to reduce social isolation using
interactive platforms such as Zoom and Skype. Concerns were raised about risks to
financial viability and whether the Strategy would be able to adapt to these
challenges and to ensure that performance metrics were closely monitored as part
of implementation plans.

Summary of financial implications

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

The development of the Adult Social Care Strategy is taking place at a time which is
complex in terms of financial planning for the Council due to the COVID19 pandemic
and also nationally given that there is still no Government plan for the long-term
future of adult social care funding, while the pandemic has exposed very starkly the
financial needs of the adult social care sector nationally. The Government has
expressed a clear intent to bring forward proposals on the future strategic direction
for adult social care nationally and for its long-term financing. Details are awaited on
the timescale for Government proposals to be brought forward.

A national Adult Social Care Task Force was established in June 2020 with the remit
to ensure the delivery of Government’s Plans for Adult Social Care through the
pandemic period and its terms of reference include considering the sustainability of
Adult Social Care over the next 12 months. The national planning for adult social
care funding both in the short-term and in the long-term will have implications for the
delivery of the Council’'s Adult Social Care Strategy and for the Council’'s Medium-
Term Financial Plan.

The Adult Social Care Strategy will be delivered over four years using a programme
approach. Detailed plans and timescales for implementation of the strategic priorities
will be developed in alignment with the Council’'s Medium-Term Financial Plan. It is
important to recognise that the predicted cost pressures in adult social care budgets
due to demographic changes leading to increased demand for social care and also
the rise in the costs of providing and commissioning social care are a key driver in
terms of pressures in the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan over the coming
four years. Elements of the strategic programme will bring opportunities for
efficiency and smarter ways of working (such as the greater use of new
technologies).

A key local and national context for the Strategy is that of effective and closer
integration with the NHS so that the public are supported by well-ordinated health
and care services. ltis, therefore, essential that the Council works on joint financial
strategies with NHS partners as part of the Dorset Integrated Care System to deliver
both best outcomes and best value from the collective resources available across
the health and social care system. There will be joint working with health on areas
of pooled and joint funding including the most effective use of the Better Care Fund.

Some elements of the plan will require the development of business cases for
investment and close work with housing to fund suitable homes for increasing
numbers of people to have homes of their own in the community.

Summary of legal implications

17.

The Strategy underpins the delivery of major legislation such as the Care Act 2014
and addresses changes to legislation such as Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards
(DoLS) as part of the Mental Capacity (Amendment) Bill being replaced with Liberty
Protection Safeguards.

33



Summary of human resources implications

18. Having appropriate skills, knowledge and expertise will be required in order to meet

19.

the ambitious strategic priorities set within the Strategy. This will have implications
for team structures and the future workforce for the Council, partners and the
independent sector. A strong and sustainable workforce; a comprehensive and
positive training and development offer and career structures will all be required to
deliver the strategic priorities.

Summary of Sustainability Impact

Adult Social Care will be looking at internal practices and working with independent
sector providers to reduce the carbon footprint. Staff will be encouraged use
sustainable transport when undertaking visits and commuting. Flexible working will
be considered to reduce miles travelled to and at work. Any building development
options will consider renewable energy sources and energy efficiency. The Council
will be supporting new care delivery models which will in turn support local
businesses and create jobs; including formal qualification opportunities and
apprenticeships, for the social care workforce, both within the Council and for the
independent sector. A strategic priority is to develop new models for delivering
access to training and employment for people with disabilities.

Summary of Public Health Implications

20.

The overarching aim of the Strategy is to improve the health and wellbeing of
residents in the Council area and improve quality of life. This will be enabled by
delivering more efficient, effective and person-centred services working with
partners including Public Health, NHS and the voluntary and community sector. The
approach is to draw on the strengths of individuals and their communities

Summary of Equality Implications

21.

22.

23.

24,

The Strategy impacts all equality strands from those preparing for adulthood to
adults of all ages and impacts all forms of diversity including race, religion and
gender. It has a diverse range of impacts on those living with disabilities.

Developing a strengths-based approach to practice which is a key priority and will be
an enabler in ensuring that an individuals’ background, skills and community are
fundamental to all assessments; planning and care provision

Adult Social Care’s Commissioning Plans need to ensure that the Council is meeting
individual diversity of need and the voice of adults who use services is listened to, to
inform how this done.

Full equalities impacts will be completed for the transformation programme as it is
developed and for individual significant elements of the programme as they are
developed and delivered.

Summary of risk assessment

25.

The Strategy is ambitious in its intention to improve outcomes and therefore to
mitigate the risks that people who use services and their carers are not able to
access high quality advice, information and services; achieve their own goals;
maximise their independence and participate in their community.

34



26. The strategic priorities are being developed in a context where there are no national
proposals for long-term and sustainable financing of the adult social care sector and
when the COVID19 pandemic has exposed starkly the financial challenges and
significant costs pressures for both Councils and adult social care providers. The
delivery of the strategic priorities will, therefore, be closely tied to the development of
the Council’'s Medium-Term Financial Plan. The Strategy itself will introduce new
approaches (such as strength-based practice; the increased use of new
technologies and increases in supported and extra care housing opportunities)
which will both improve outcomes and make better use of the Council’s resources.
A key area of focus is market shaping and commissioning plans for adult social care
so that future local provision will both meet local need and be financially sustainable
for the Council, NHS; self-funding service users and adult social care providers. Itis
important to underline again that central Government has a key role to play in
developing a national plan for the long-term funding of adult social care.

27. The strategic priorities set out the direction of travel for developing a comprehensive
transformation programme which is to be delivered over four years and will require a
wide range of officers within the Adult Social Care Directorate and across the
Council to contribute to its delivery. At the point of approval of the Strategy, the
Council and its partners in adult social care and health will also be responding to the
continued impact of COVID19. There will, therefore, be at times competing priorities
for officers in terms of delivering strategic change and responding to the pandemic.
The delivery of the transformation programme will be undertaken through a
programme approach with careful matching of expertise and capacity to each
element of the programme. This may require at times bringing to the Council
additional expertise and capacity to accelerate elements of the implementation plan.

28. The foundation of the delivery of the ambitions of the Strategy will be the
recruitment, retention and development of a skilled adult social care workforce within
the Council and across the local Adult Social Care sector. A national and local key
risk which has been well publicised is the inability of the wider Adult Social care
sector to recruit and retain staff. Government has acknowledged during the
COVID19 pandemic the crucial importance of the recruitment and development of a
skilled social care workforce. Current and future national initiatives on workforce, as
well as national decisions on social care funding, will shape and support the
Council’'s own work programmes. There is a commitment to work with the adult
social care sector to promote the opportunities and rewards of employment and
careers in the adult social care sector through the Proud to Care initiative and to
ensure that high quality training and development opportunities are available to staff
within the Council and the wider sector.

Background papers

BCP Council Corporate Strategy including Fulfilled Lives Priorities

BCP Council Corporate Strategy

NHS Long Term Plan

longtermplan.nhs.uk

35


https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/About-BCP-Council/bcp-council-docs/BCP-Corporate-Strategy.pdf
https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjIp9bHpKzqAhXCShUIHUlFCt8QFjAAegQIBBAB&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.longtermplan.nhs.uk%2F&usg=AOvVaw3HgOb4arOwdjNFEZG6siTC

DOMAIN 1: Enhancing quality of life fir people

DOMA

Appendix 1 — Outturn from the Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework 2019/20

. . 2019/20 2019/20 18/19 18/19 18/19
ASCOF indicators / / /
Indicator Indicator Name Data Source BCP Target England  South Nearest
Ref updated West  Neighbour
10/08/20
SALT
Outcome
S
1C Part Adults 9ver 18 receiving self- MOS.AIC & 100% Not set 89.0 916 88.1
la directed support. CareDirector
1C Part Adults over 18 receiving direct MOS.AIC & Not set 18.3 279 26.7
2a payments. CareDirector
1C Part Carers receiving self-directed MOSAIC & Not set 83.3 58.3 74.8
1b support. CareDirector
1C Part Carers receiving direct MOSAIC & Not set 73.4 472 676
2b payments. CareDirector
1E Learnln.g disability clients in MOS.AIC & Not set 59 6 6.7
paid employment. CareDirector
16 Learnlng disability clients living MOS.AIC & Not set 774 772 822
independently. CareDirector
1F Mental Health clients in paid DHC Not set 3.0 10.0 96
employment.
1H Mental Health clients living DHC Not set 58.0 57.0 63.3
independently.
2A Part 1 Under 65: Permanent MOSAIC & Not set 13.9 14.0 17.6
admissions. CareDirector

36




BCF

2A Part 2 Over 65: Permanent MOSAIC & 579.4 | 513.0 668.1
admissions. CareDirector
592
Older adults at home 91 days Care Director BCF
2B after discharge from hospital 93.8 82.4 80.8 82.1
with reablement/rehabilitation DHC 79.7
Apr-Feb BCF not
Delayed Transfers of Care
2CPartl NHS Engl itabl 10. 12.2 P i
ar All attributable delayed days S England equitab 03 ending
10.3 e
Apr-Feb
2CPart2 | , D('elayed T'ransfers of Care NHS England Not set 3.1 3.9 Pending
Social Care’ delayed days only 0.2
Delayed Transfers of Care
2C Part 3 | ‘Joint’ attributable delayed days | NHS England Not set 0.8 0.7 Pending
only
2D Outcome of short-term services MOSAIC & Not set 79.6 82.0 84

CareDirector

37




Appendix 2-Adult Social Care Strategy Priorities

Engage with individuals and communities to promote well-being

e  Work with NHS, voluntary and community sector partners to support
community activities in order to encourage participation, independence and
reduce social isolation.

e Engage earlier with those residents at risk of worsening life chances and
outcomes by developing outreach support in community-based settings.

e Offer support, guidance and assessment to residents to best meet their
needs.

e Expand the number of dementia friendly communities.

Support people to live safe and independent lives

e Implement best practice adult safeguarding model for BCP Council with
partners and introduce new Liberty Protection Safeguard legislation.

e Contribute to the implementation of the delivery plan “Brighter Futures” for
children and young people

e Provide social care that focuses on people’s strengths and support from
those around them, to encourage independence.

e Increase the proportion of adults with care and support needs in
employment, training and volunteering.

e Provide the right accommodation options to support residents with care and
support needs to remain active and independent.

e Increase the proportion of adults with a learning disability with care and
support needs who live in their own home locally.

e Continue to promote and extend the use of assistive and digital technology
to enable independence and enhance people’s quality of life.

e Improve outcomes for young people with disabilities and special educational
needs as they move into adulthood.

Value and support carers

e Work with carers to improve access to information and advice ensuring it is
delivered at the right time and tailored to the individual carer.

e Work with the NHS, increase the numbers of carers receiving support and
services personalised to individual need.

e Increase the availability and options for time out and short breaks for carers.

38



Enable people to live well through quality social care

e Implement a new first point of contact service for adult social care to
improve on-line information and advice and supports residents’ well-being
and independence.

e Work with the NHS to improve the range and effectiveness of services
which support people to live well in their own homes and reduce the need
for hospital admissions.

e Ensure high standards of practice and effective team working.

e Work with all partners and people with lived experience to develop and
deliver a strategy to improve the sustainability and quality of the social care
market.

e Develop and implement plans so that the Council provides good quality
and best value for money care and support.

e Develop with partners an adult social care workforce which reflects local
needs.

e Promote careers in social care with partners including through the Proud to
Care Initiative.

e Work with the NHS to improve patient experience of hospital discharge by
implementing a home first model for assessing people’s needs for care and
support

Deliver Services that are modern and accessible

e Encourage people who use our services to be involved in shaping and
monitoring services.

e Further develop integrated health and social care services within hospitals
and the community.

e Enable staff to work efficiently through the use of mobile technology and
flexible working.

e Ensure that we rigorously monitor and review outcomes and services and
continuously learn from best practice.

e Ensure Adult Social Care Staff are well managed, supported, trained with
opportunities to develop.

e Work across the adult social care sector to reduce carbon emissions and
adapt to climate change.

39



ov

Vibramt
Commuaities

Helping people lead active, healthy and independent
lives, add years to life and life to years

P Support people to live safe and
independent lives SDG3/8

We will:

implement a best practice adult safeguarding model for
BCP Council with partners and new Liberty Protection
Safeguard legislation by April 2021

agree a suicide prevention plan by June 2020

improve outcomes for young people with disabilities

and special educational needs as they move into
adulthood by March 2022

increase the proportion of adults with a leaming
disability with care and support neads who are able to
live in their own home, locally, by March 2023

increase the proportion of adults with care and support
needs in employment, training and volunteering by
March 2023

continue to promote and extend the use of assistive
and digital technology to enable independence and
enhance people’s quality of life

» Promote happy, active
and healthy lifestyles spas

We will:

* promote active ageing in more deprived communities
through Live Well Dorset and engage at least 1,000
people over 55 for @ach of the next three years

Appendix 3 Fulfilled Lives Priorities

work with our health partners to promote and enable
whole school approaches to physical activity,
increasing children’s mental wellbeing by July 2020
increase take up of health checks in BCP Council area
to 7,500 in the year 2020/21

undertake a review of leisure provision and residents’
leisure discount schemes to enable greater
participation in leisure activities by end of 2021

« agree with partners a health and wellbeing strategy by
July 2020

promote positive health including mental health

within our communities and partners through a
comprehensive action plan by December 2020
increase the proportion of people with dependency
successfully accessing alcohol and drug treatment
services by March 2023

facilitate new opportunities for communities and

people to engage in creative and heritage activities to
benefit their wellbeing by March 2021

P Develop age-friendly communities
SDG 4/8

We will:

« work with health partners to promote the benefits of

active travel and deliver a publicity campaign targeted

at older people by March 2021

continue to deliver a programme to improve safer

environments in built up areas with increased priority

for pedestrians and improved crossing facilities for

wheelchair and mobility scooter users

support greater use of bus services by providing new

bus shelters with seating, accessible boarding kerbs

and Real Time Information by March 2022

* expand the number of dementia friendly communities
by March 2023

P Value and support carers spa3/s

We wilk:

* work with carers to improve access to information and
advice ensuring it Is delivered at the right time and
tailored to the individual carer by March 2021

work with the NHS to increase the numbers of carers
receiving support and services personalised to
Individual need by March 2023

Increase the availability and options for time out and
short breaks for carers by March 2021

create a single model of young carers provision across
the BCP Council area by summer 2022, ensuring
consistency of support

* recognise the needs of staff members who are carers
within BCP Council’s conditions of employment by
2021

.

» Enable people to live well through
quality social care SDG3/10

Wo will:

implement a new first point of contact service for adult
social care to improve online information and advice
and supports residents’ wellbeing and independence
by March 2022

develop outreach support with GPs in community
based settings to engage earlier and improve the
quality of life for those residents at risk of worsening
health and outcomes by March 2022

work with all partners and people with lived experience
to develop and deliver a strategy to improve the
sustainability and quality of the social care market by
March 2023

promote careers in social care with partners including
through the Proud to Care Initiative by March 2023

work with the NHS to improve the range and
effectiveness of services which support people to
live well in their own homes and reduce the need for
hospital admissions by March 2022

P Tackle homelessness and
prevent rough sleeping SDG4/8

Wo will:

* work to prevent homelessness by publishing a new
homelessness strategy and deliver the action plan with
partners by December 2020

publish a single housing allocations policy by the end
of 2020 to set out how we prioritise the allocation of
BCP Council/housing association homes

prevent homelessness by utilising govemment funding
to maximise praventative services for peopie including
those with complex needs and reduce the numbers of
those at risk of losing their accommodation

* reduce rough sleeping by increasing access to
sitabl and re-r arange of
sustainable housing support pathways

» Promote lifelong learning
for all SDG 4/10

Wo will:

deliver a lifelong learning strategy by March 2023,
working with partners to promote a broad learning
offer for work and well-being, culture and arts and

to increase awareness of environmental issues and
sustainable living

* target care leavers, disadvantaged boys and young
people with the greatest barriers to learning and work
to join apprenticeship schemes

promote high-quality careers education and
information advice for young people, adults needing
to retrain and those for whom English is not their
first language

Measures of success

1. percentage Care Quality Commission registered care
services rated as good or outstanding

2. proportion of adults who use social care services
who have control over their dally life

3. proportion of adults with a learning disability in
settied accommodation

4. proportion of adults in receipt of support and
services in employment

5. proportion of people who reported that risks have
reduced as a result of a safeguarding enquiry

6. proportion of carers who receive info/advice or
another service after an assessment

7. proportion of people with dependency accessing
drug and alcohol treatment services, and the number
completing successfully

8. of people g | ing opportunities

9. availability and take up of apprenticeships,
supported and

10. young people and adults receiving high quality
careers education information and advice

11. numbaer of paople rough sleeping at any cne time

12. number of households in bed and breakfast under
legislation p

13. number of dementia friendly communities

14. take up of health checks

15. and sport public
survey accessibility theme

Sustainable Development Goals (SDG)




CABINET

Agenda ltem 8

BCP

Council

Report subject

Performance Management Framework

Meeting date

9 September 2020

Status

Public Report

Executive summary

Following approval and adoption of the Corporate Strategy and
delivery plans on the 12 February 20, Cabinet also supported the
development of a Corporate Performance Management Framework
as a mechanism for monitoring progress and ensuring
accountability for delivery of the Corporate Strategy and six delivery
plans.

A draft performance management framework has been developed
for BCP Council. The framework proposes how the council can
monitor and review progress with delivering the priorities set out in
the Corporate Strategy and all other council strategies and plans.

It encompasses the roles and responsibilities of officers, reporting
arrangements and the review process.

The new BCP Corporate Performance Management Framework is
an amalgamation of the legacy Council’s frameworks and is based
on best practice guidance from the Local Government Association.

Recommendations

It is RECOMMENDED that Cabinet:

Approves the Corporate Performance Management Framework
as a mechanism for monitoring progress and ensuring
accountability for delivery of the Corporate Strategy.

Reason for
recommendations

A corporate strategy is vital for identifying and gaining visibility of
the Council’s key priorities. These represent the objectives and
outcomes that the Council’'s performance will be judged against.

As the strategy’s objectives are the beginning of a golden thread
that links personal, team and service performance to the things that
matter most to the organisation, BCP Council must be able to
demonstrate that that the outcomes stated in the Corporate
strategy are being delivered. A Performance Management
Framework will enable this.

41




Portfolio Holder(s): Councillor Vikki Slade, Leader of the Council

Corporate Director Julian Osgathorpe, Corporate Director

Report Authors Matti Raudsepp — Director of Organisational Development
Bridget West — Head of Insight, Policy & Performance

Wards Council-wide
Classification For Decision
Background

1. The BCP Council Corporate strategy was approved by Cabinet on 5 November 2019.
The associated six delivery plans were approved by Cabinet on 12 February 2020.

2. One of the agreed actions in the delivery plans was the development of a Corporate
Performance Management Framework (Appendix 1) which would set out the
mechanism for monitoring progress and ensuring accountability for delivery of the
Corporate Strategy and the actions set out in the six delivery plans.

3. The framework was due to be presented to Cabinet in April 2020 but was delayed as a
result of Covid 19.

4. The council is in a transitional space and in the absence of an agreed performance
management framework, mid-year performance for 2019/20 was reported to Cabinet
using an interim set of measures. An end of year performance report is being
prepared and will report to Cabinet at the end of September 2020.

5. The end of year report will include an update of progress with the actions in the
delivery plans, end of year updates against the interim set of measures and links to
interactive performance dashboards.

6. Work to develop an automated reporting process and the underlying robust reporting
systems is continuing.

The Performance Management Framework

7. The Council’'s Corporate Strategy and the delivery plans are the beginning of a golden
thread that will link service, team and personal performance to the things that matter
most to the organisation. Together they are the key components that will lead the
Council’s corporate approach to performance management and service planning.

8. The performance management framework sets out how the council will manage
performance, different roles, responsibilities and accountability.

9. The framework proposes that progress be monitored by Cabinet on a quarterly basis
against an agreed set of measures and targets and interactive performance dashboards.
These can be published on the Council's website to increase openness and
transparency.

42



Next Steps

10. The Policy and Performance Team started working with officer contacts from each
Service Unit to develop the performance reporting systems earlier this year, but as a
consequence of Covid 19, the completion of this work has been delayed . For each of
the measures of success Service Units have been asked to confirm the definition and
provide:

- abaseline

- atarget

- an intervention level

- the frequency of reporting

- the system/s or application/s that holds the source data

11. The policy and performance Team have recommenced this work, and along with ICT are
working to develop an automated performance reporting process during 2020/21.

12. The aim is to bring a half yearly performance report to Cabinet in the Autumn.

Options Appraisal

13. This is a new performance management proposal for BCP Council. It has been
prepared following best practice examples and learning from legacy council
processes. No separate options appraisal has been carried out.

Summary of financial implications

14. There are no financial implications of adopting a Corporate Performance Management
Framework. The framework will assist in the Financial Planning process.

Summary of legal implications

15. There are no legal implications of adopting a Corporate Performance Management
Framework.

Summary of human resources implications

16. There are no Human Resources implications. The adoption of a Corporate Performance
Management Framework will complement the processes being established by HR to
develop a sustained personal performance culture throughout BCP Council.

Summary of sustainability impact

17. The adoption of a performance management framework will help to embed
sustainability throughout the organisation. The Corporate Strategy has been aligned to
the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals. These goals are a universal
blueprint for all countries to end poverty, protect the planet and ensure prosperity for
all. The performance management process will assist in monitoring delivery of these
goals.

43


https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/sdgs

Summary of public health implications

18. The Corporate Strategy includes several actions being taken forward in partnership
with Public Health. The performance management process will ensure progress with
these actions is integral to corporate performance monitoring and reporting.

Summary of equality implications

19. The Council’s equality and diversity commitments are expressed throughout the
Corporate Strategy and this framework requires that progress with achieving them is
embedded in the service planning and performance monitoring process. These
commitments form part of the Equality and Diversity Action Plan which will be monitored
through Strategic Equality Leadership Group.

20. The EIA supporting the Corporate Strategy is published on the Council’s website.

Summary of risk assessment

21. A performance management framework will improve governance and support existing
risk management processes. There are no additional risks associated with adopting a
performance management framework.

Background papers
BCP Council’'s Corporate Strategy and Delivery Plans

Appendices

1 Performance Management Framework

44


https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/About-BCP-Council/Equality-and-Diversity/EIAs/corporate-strategy-eia.pdf
https://live-bcpcouncil-bournemouth.cloud.contensis.com/About-BCP-Council/bcp-council-docs/BCP-Corporate-Strategy.pdf

BCP Council’s
Performance Management
Framework

Corporate Guidance

Insight, Policy & Performance BC P

Author: Bridget West Council
Version: 15
Date: 10/03/2020

45



BCP Council Corporate Performance Management Framework

Performance management is: “taking action in response to actual performance to make outcomes
for users and citizens better than they would otherwise be.!”

For effective performance management there needs to be clear objectives, actions which deliver
those objectives and measures of success.

Everyone needs to recognise that they have a role in effective performance management.

This framework explains how BCP Council will manage performance.

RESPONSIBLE ACCOUNTABLE

Council
Cabinet
Directors’ Strategy Group (qtr)

Council and Cabinet
Chief Executive
Corporate

Strategy

Corporate Directors Council-wide
Councillors strategies and plans
including Medium Term
Financial Plan

Monitoring Boards

Directorate Management Team (gtr)
Service Unit UMT (mth)

Service strategies and plans ki oritorieg Boardl

4 )
Service Managers Service Managers

Team plans

Managers
Employees

Personal performance Managers (6 mif)

Effective performance management will:

ensure outcomes and goals are prioritised and resources are allocated effectively
¢ help improve services and outcomes for local people by using benchmarking to
o identify and rectify poor performance
o identify and share good practice
help motivate colleagues by ensuring that individuals are aware of their own targets
help colleagues to see how these contribute to achieving BCP Council’'s Corporate Strategy
ensure that significant risks to the achievement of outcomes are identified and managed
ensure BCP Council and partners achieve shared actions and outcomes
provide a strong evidence base for improved decision making

1 Performance management, measurement and information project (PMMI) - I&DeA 2006.
1

46



The Corporate Strateg

The Corporate Strategy is the key - —
component of BCP Council’s Performance e s e
Management Framework and leads the e
Council’s corporate planning process. The
strategy is supported by delivery plans
which set out the actions and outcomes that
will be delivered alongside key measures of
success. It is intended to be relevant for 3-4
years, at least.

The Corporate Strategy directs the council’s r——
decision-making processes. It is the basis
for prioritisation and the allocation of
resources and the beginning of a golden
thread which links service, team and personal performance to BCP Council’s priorities and
objectives.

Every other council strategy or plan must be able to demonstrate through its agreed governance
and performance management process, how it contributes to achieving the priorities set out in the
Corporate Strategy. This includes service plans, team plans and personal performance plans.

The Corporate Planning Process and Review Cycle

The corporate planning process takes place annually. However, it is important to review plans on a
monthly, quarterly and half yearly basis, to respond effectively to the ever-changing environment in
which BCP Council delivers services, ensuring plans are on target.

The corporate planning process will be undertaken simultaneously with the financial planning
process, as the two are inextricably linked. The risks to delivery of the corporate strategy and
financial plans should also be considered during the corporate planning process.

End of year

performance review of

Corporate Strategy and
service plans

Service unit plans and
corporate scorecard ’

in place for new year

February - MTFP plan

and budget signed off
by Council
Third quarter \l :

performance review

Review last year's
planning process
and amend as
required

Cabinet formally
propose final

MTFP for new year June - Initial Cabinet
meetings to develop

budget proposals

‘I ‘ First quarter
Budget and service \I performance review
plan discussions

v/
September - l’{‘,
present first draft

Begin work on
service plans

Scrutiny for budget
and service plan

First half year
o performance review

47



Council-wide Strategies and Plans (including Medium-Term Financial Plan):

These strategies sit across the whole council and all directorates should consider them when
developing and delivering services. They set out a vision and high-level objectives.

The Medium-Term Financial plan contains a three-year plan for BCP Council’s strategic approach
to the management of its finances and presents indicative budgets for the medium term.

Service Plans:

Service Plans are annual plans which provide the operational detail required by Service Directors
and their managers to plan and monitor service delivery and performance across the service unit.
These plans will include:

a clear description of service purpose including key statutory requirements
priorities and objectives with clear links to corporate priorities set out in the Corporate Strategy
a structure chart
a budget or resources statement
action plans which include:
o business as usual actions/activity
o service/development transformation actions
o delivery plan actions
and actions supporting corporate-wide strategies or partnership plans:
o equality and diversity actions
o climate and ecological emergency actions (including relevant UN Sustainability Goals)
o People Strategy actions
o Corporate Safeguarding Strategy actions
e measures of success, baselines and targets

Service Directors can develop their Service Plans (including format and presentation) in
accordance with their business needs whilst ensuring that
the corporate minimum content requirements are met,

clearly identifiable and visible. Once approved Service @ ’)) listen
Plans will be published on the website.

Team & Personal Performance Plans:

Team plans are owned by the team managers who
develop plans for taking forward their area of
responsibility. The individual plans are prepared by team
managers along with the individual in their performance
development meetings.

Any colleague should be able to see a line
from their own personal performance plans to the
Corporate Strategy, showing exactly how they contribute

to the priorities and outcomes. S
-O- aspire

Personal performance will be guided by the People it
Strategy and will be based upon the agreed BCP Council BCF Council's Behaviour Framework
behaviours.

48


https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/?menu=1300

Performance Reporting

Key measures of success set out in the Corporate Strategy delivery plans will inform quarterly
corporate performance reports. The reports will be prepared as part of an automated performance
reporting process and feed into a corporate scorecard. Each agreed measure of success will have
an allocated owner and:

e an agreed definition

e a baseline

e atarget

e an intervention level

e an agreed frequency of reporting

These measures should be considered alongside complaints and compliments, audit and
inspection reports, our own learning, other feedback and occasional survey findings. They will be
reviewed to ensure emerging risks and issues are appropriately reflected and monitored.

Corporate performance reports will be prepared for Cabinet and Directors Strategy Group and
published on the Council’'s website, promoting increased local transparency and accountability.

Progress against UN Sustainability Goals will be integral to the corporate performance reporting
process.

Service Directors are responsible for monitoring and reporting progress with service plans to
Corporate Directors.

Data Qualit

Every stage of the performance and risk management process relies on evidence and data to allow
the organisation to make judgements on:

what BCP Council’s needs are
what its customers’ needs are
what it has achieved

how it compares

It is therefore vital that all this information is founded on high quality, reliable, and timely data,
otherwise the judgements that are based upon it are likely to be unsound, potentially rendering the
whole process ineffective.

In general terms, every colleague that records data in a council system needs to be aware that
they are responsible for, and have an impact upon, data quality.

Further information

For more information about how to undertake any elements of performance management, such as
what should go into a service plan or how to develop a performance measure contact the Policy
and Performance Team.

49


https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/?menu=1300
mailto:performance@bcpcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:performance@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

Useful documents

e Corporate Strategy

o People Strategy

¢ Corporate Safeguarding Strategy

e Equality and Diversity Policy
Date: March 2020 Author: Bridget West
Version: 1.5 Review Date: March 2021

50



CABINET

Agenda ltem 9

BCP

Council

Report subject

Emergency Active Travel Fund Programme

Meeting date

9 September 2020

Status

Public Report

Executive summary

Update on progress of Tranche 1 Emergency Active Travel Fund
Programme schemes and retrospective approval of the indicative
schedule of schemes in the Tranche 2 application to the fund. This
programme aims to introduce at pace temporary and experimental
active travel measures that subject to trials could be made
permanent to lock in the potential active travel benefits (shift to
active travel by the public) as result of the Covid-19 pandemic.

Recommendations

It is RECOMMENDED that Cabinet:

1. note the progress to date regarding the delivery of the
Tranche 1 Emergency Active Travel Fund Programme

and

2. subject to a successful application for Emergency
Active Travel Fund Tranche 2 approves the delegation
of decision making regarding the progression of the
indicative Tranche 2 Emergency Active Travel Fund
Programme to the Director of Growth & Infrastructure in
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Transport and
Infrastructure.

Reason for
recommendations

To enable expedient delivery of the indicative programme in the
event that the Tranche 2 application is successful.

Portfolio Holder(s):

Councillor Andy Hadley — Transport and Infrastructure

Corporate Director

Bill Cotton — Regeneration and Economy

Report Author Richard Pincroft — Head of Transportation
Wards Council-wide
Classification For Decision

51




Background

1.

In May 2020 BCP Council was advised by the Department for Transport (DfT) that it
had indicatively been allocated approximately £1.4million from the Emergency Active
Travel Fund (EATF). The purpose of the fund is to support more people walking and
cycling and to support Covid-19 social distancing. The overarching medium to long
term objective of the fund being to lock in the benefits of reduced traffic volumes on
the highway that have been experienced during the Covid-19 pandemic.

On 27 May 2020 the DfT issued application guidance that advised the Council that in
order to secure the first Tranche of the available EATF (value = £280k), it needed to
have ‘swift and meaningful plans to reallocate road space to cyclists and pedestrians,
including on strategic corridors.” Furthermore, ‘the quickest and cheapest way of
achieving this will normally be point closures. Pop-up segregated cycle lanes will
also be funded but are likely to be more difficult to implement quickly. As the
guidance states, they must use full or light segregation.’

The guidance also requested that an application form was submitted back to the DfT
by 5 June 2020, which only allowed a 7-working day turnaround for a programme to
be developed. The guidance also stipulated that proposals needed to be installed on
the ground within 12 weeks.

Officers from the Transportation and Engineering Units within G&I developed a
credible Tranche 1 EATF application comprising of a series of indicative temporary
and experimental (trial) measures in line with the guidance with an estimated value of
£280k.

The measures were taken from 1,000+ ideas for improvements to help walking or
cycling across the BCP area that were submitted by members of the public prior to
and during lockdown. Officers scored each idea based on criteria developed by
them to reflect the objectives of the fund and ranked them before costing them up to
a total value of £280k.

Due to the scale of the task (i.e. ranking of 1000+ proposals) and the timescales
involved, Officers were only able to consult with the Portfolio Holder for Transport
and Infrastructure by the submission date.

On 25 June 2020 the Council was advised that it had been successful. DfT advised
that due to the ‘strength’ of the application that BCP Council’s Tranche 1 allocation
had been increased from £280k to £312k.

The indicative schedule of schemes included in the application can be found in
Appendix A of this report.

The schemes were shortlisted because they ranked the highest when scored using
the following criteria which was based on the text in the DfT guidance letter:

e Impact on walking and cycling to school

e Propensity to cycle

e Proximity to existing or proposed strategic walking or cycle routes
e Potential to improve road safety

o Potential to improve bus punctuality and journey time reliability

52



EATF Tranche 1 Schemes Delivery Progress

10. At the time of compiling this report the installation of Tranche 1 Emergency Active
Travel Fund schemes had either been completed or were in progress at Sandbanks
Chain Ferry, Poole Quay and Lower High Street and Evening Hill (Poole).

11. Other locations where schemes were pending installation included Boscombe
Overcliff Drive/Southbourne Overcliff Drive, Springbourne, Victoria Park
(Bournemouth), Glenferness Avenue, Oakdale, Keyhole Bridge (Whitecliff Road)
and Birds Hill area.

12. The 3no. schemes included in the Tranche 1 application 2no. in Christchurch were
not progressed beyond feasibility following engagement with local businesses
(facilitated by BCP Economic Development) in the instance of Christchurch High St.
and Bridge Street for technical reasons following a detailed review of the traffic
signals and 1m+ social distancing announcement. The remaining scheme that was
not progressed was East Overcliff Drive following engagement with local
businesses.

13. Progress and an opportunity to provide feedback regarding all EATF Tranche 1
schemes can be found by selecting the appropriate link on the following webpage:
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/emergency-measures-to-
support-active-travel/Phase-1-schemes.aspx

14. A selection of images of the active trials can be found in Appendix B.

EATF Tranche 2 Programme

15. On 10 July 2020 DfT released guidance on Tranche 2 of the EATF which in summary
stated:

e toreceive any funding, authorities will need to satisfy the Department that they have
swift and meaningful plans to reallocate road space to cyclists and pedestrians (both
groups rather than one or the other), including on strategic corridors. Schemes that
do not meaningfully alter the status quo on the road will not be funded. All cycling
schemes, permanent or temporary, will need to include segregation or point closures
to through traffic: advisory cycle lanes, and those marked only with white paint, will
not be funded.

e Tranche 2 funding can be used to support both temporary, low-cost schemes, and
permanent schemes with a short lead time, so long as they meet the criteria outlined
above. The Department has also made available a “Rapid Cycleway Prioritisation
Tool” which is intended to help identify promising locations for new cycleways,
complementing local knowledge.

16. The EATF Tranche 2 deadline for applications was 7 August 2020 and the guidance
also stated that any successful applicants needed to have committed to invest the
funding by the end of March 2021.

17. The BCP Council application to Tranche 2 containing an indicative schedule of
schemes across Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole with total value of
£1.985million was submitted to DfT on 7 August 2020.

18. The proposed £1.985million EATF Tranche 2 programme included a local
contribution of £0.4million of Local Transport Plan Funding and a request for
£1.585million of EATF Tranche 2 funding. The request for £1.585million was

53


https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/emergency-measures-to-support-active-travel/Phase-1-schemes.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/emergency-measures-to-support-active-travel/Phase-1-schemes.aspx

19.

20.

21.

22.

£405,000 more than BCP Council’s indicative allocation. The rationale for submitting
a higher application was that BCP Council received a higher amount of Tranche 1
funding from DfT based on the ‘strength’ of the application. The indicative schedule
of schemes can be found in Appendix C of this report.

The schemes in the schedule are a combination of the highest prioritised schemes
from the aforementioned 1,000+ ideas for improvements to help walking or cycling
across the BCP area that were submitted by members of the public prior to and
during lockdown. And also, high ranking schemes that can be developed in full
consultation and funding committed to deliver by the end of March 2021. As per
Tranche 1 officers scored each idea based on the criteria developed by them and set
out in section 9 of this report as this closely matched the Rapid Prioritisation Tool
referred to in the Tranche 2 guidance.

Due to the scale of the task (i.e. ranking of 1000+ proposals) and short timescale,
Officers were only able to consult with the Portfolio Holder for Transport and
Infrastructure during the latter stages of the process close to the submission date
and it was not possible to meet Cabinet timescales for reporting or to facilitate wider
Cabinet or ward member engagement, hence, this report is retrospectively seeking
approval to progress the programme if the application is successful.

Noting: the listed proposals are indicative and if following engagement with ward
members and the wider public, or for technical reasons are not practicable for
implementation they could be removed from the programme and replaced with the
next highest ranking deliverable scheme on the list — the same is applicable for
Tranche 1 (subject to Director for Growth and Infrastructure approval in consultation
with the Portfolio Holder for Transport and Infrastructure).

Following the release of the Tranche 2 application guidance the Prime Minister on 28
July 2020 launched what he described as the government’s most ambitious plans yet
to boost cycling and walking. A vision committing to thousands of miles of new
protected bike lanes, cycle training for any child or adult, and first ever zero-emission
transport city. Prime Minister Boris Johnson said:

‘From helping people get fit and healthy and lowering their risk of illness, to improving
air quality and cutting congestion, cycling and walking have a huge role to play in
tackling some of the biggest health and environmental challenges that we face.

But to build a healthier, more active nation, we need the right infrastructure, training
and support in place to give people the confidence to travel on two wheels.

That’s why now is the time to shift gears and press ahead with our biggest and
boldest plans yet to boost active travel — so that everyone can feel the transformative
benefits of cycling.’

The vision can be found here: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cycling-
and-walking-plan-for-england

Both the Tranche 1 and 2 proposed schemes are aligned with this vision.

The aforementioned launch of the cycling and walking vision also included the
release of the DfT’s new cycling infrastructure design guidance. The design
guidance can be found here:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment data/file/906344/cycle-infrastructure-design-ltn-1-20.pdf

Proposed schemes would be developed utilising this updated design guidance.

54


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cycling-and-walking-plan-for-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cycling-and-walking-plan-for-england
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/906344/cycle-infrastructure-design-ltn-1-20.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/906344/cycle-infrastructure-design-ltn-1-20.pdf

Options Appraisal

23.

24.

25.

26.

EATF Programme level option summary below regarding Tranche 1:

a) Do nothing — no funding received from DfT and no active travel benefits achieved
during Covid-19 recovery phase.

b) Do minimum — Tranche 1 funding received, and some schemes progressed,
albeit if not progressed at pace then funding clawed back by DfT and potentially
no or reduced Tranche 2 allocation. Some active travel benefits achieved during
Covid-19 recovery phase.

¢) Do something — Full commitment to EATF Tranche 1 Programme has resulted in
increased Tranche 1 allocation and invitation to apply to Tranche 2. Lock in of
Active Travel benefits will be maximised during Covid-19 recovery phase.

EATF Programme level option summary below regarding Tranche 2:

a) Do nothing — no funding received from DfT for Tranche 2 and no further active
travel benefits achieved during Covid-19 recovery phase.

b) Do minimum — unlikely that Tranche 2 funding would be received. For the
Tranche 1 application, some authorities received substantially less than their
indicative fund, due to a lack of ambition in their submissions. Some active travel
benefits achieved during Covid-19 recovery phase albeit only from Tranche 1
schemes.

¢) Do something — Full commitment to EATF Tranche 2 Programme could result in
greater share of indicative £1.1million set aside for BCP Council. This would
maximise the lock in of Active Travel benefits during Covid-19 recovery phase.

Options associated with individual Tranche 2 schemes cannot be finally determined
until they have been approved, engaged upon and then developed to outline design
stage. Unlike Tranche 1 which required schemes to be implemented within 12
weeks, the Tranche 2 guidance requires schemes to be committed to by the end of
March 2021, hence, these timescales allow for more extensive consultation including
greater engagement with ward members during scheme development.

An allocation for making Tranche 1 schemes permanent has been included within the
Tranche 2 application. This is not to pre-empt the outcome of any Tranche 1 scheme
consultation and subsequent recommendation to Cabinet but to ensure that if
following a successful trial funding is available to remove any temporary Tranche 1
infrastructure and to replace it with permanent infrastructure. For example, could be
removal of temporary bolt down islands/barriers replaced by or enhanced by tree pit
or bike share bay etc.

Summary of financial implications

27.

28.

29.

The EATF allows applicants to bid for a combination of revenue and capital funding.
Tranche 1 funding comprised of £111k revenue and £201k capital (= £312k total).

The guidance states that any funded awarded as part of Tranche 2 needs to be
spent by the end of March 2021.

The Tranche 2 application submitted to DfT was for £1.585million comprising £317k
revenue and £1.268million capital.

55



30.

The estimated costs included in the Indicative list of Tranche 2 Programme schemes
in Appendix C includes allowance for all costs (i.e. associated corporate costs for
financial, communications, legal support etc and fees for G&l officers).

Summary of legal implications

31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

To enable local authorities to move at pace the government has adjusted the rules
associated with the Traffic Regulation Order process used to implement experimental
and temporary changes to the highway during the Covid-19 pandemic.

The DfT has actively encouraged councils to use the Experimental Traffic Regulation
Order (ETRO) process to temporarily implement such schemes.

The advantage of ETROs is that they only require 7 days’ notice to implement them
on the basis that they can be adjusted at any stage based on an objective review of
the feedback and monitoring. ETROs need to be in place unaltered for a minimum of
6 months before any decision can be made as to whether they can be made
permanent.

All schemes installed as part of EATF Tranche 1 programme are trials (experiments)
and public engagement regarding them has gone live from the moment that they
are/will be advertised on street and in the press. All schemes within the programme
are/would be reviewed after 6 months and a recommendation prepared for Cabinet
as to whether the respective changes are made permanent based on an objective
review of the impacts of the trials via monitoring, feedback from the public
engagement and consultation with ward members.

All TRO activity has and would continue to be undertaken in compliance with relevant
legislation.

The potential cycle route in Baiter/Whitecliff would require consultation with Fields in
Trust and require planning permission. Any relevant processes will be adhered to
before any scheme is potentially progressed. If following consultation, a scheme is
not progressed at this location then this scheme would be replaced with alternatives
to the same value.

Summary of human resources implications

37.

38.

39.

40.

Growth and Infrastructure (G&l) has had repeated success securing external funding
for programmes including the Transforming Cities Fund (TCF), Dorset Local
Enterprise Partnership (DLEP), Challenge Fund Tranche 2B and EATF Tranche 1.
All of these programmes are currently in progress and are over and above business
as usual delivery of annual Local Transport Plan grant.

The Council has been increasing both design and transportation resources via its
consultancy framework contract with WSP to provide capacity to deliver this strategic
programme. This resource will require increasing again to deliver EATF Tranche 2
type schemes.

EATF Tranche 1 schemes have already diverted some resource away from TCF
albeit only on a very short-term basis when proposals are still at a formative stage.

Similarly, as part of the preparation for the TCF programme additional
communications, consultancy, procurement, financial and legal support has been
arranged and this resource in the short term could be diverted to deliver EATF
Tranche 2 application schemes provided that it does not adversely impact TCF
delivery.

56



41. In the short term there would need to be recognition that business as usual
progression of non-urgent Local Transport Plan priorities including some Minor
Traffic Schemes which generally comprise of changes to Traffic Regulation Orders
(TROs) e.g. yellow lines and lining restrictions would be delayed due to the Traffic
Team resource being required to implement and monitor the TROs associated with
the EATF schemes. Progress is being made on the bolstering of this team following
LGR albeit recruitment and/or sourcing of suitably trained staff has been delayed by
the Covid-19 pandemic.

Summary of sustainability impact

42. The proposed schemes encourage residents, employees of businesses and visitors
to walk and cycle for short journeys thereby reducing the number of short journeys by
motorised vehicles. The EATF programmes achieve this by creating safer and
quieter environments for pedestrians and cyclists. Furthermore, reduced use of
motor vehicles will improve air quality and reduce noise levels, contributing to the
Council’s Climate & Ecological Emergency Action Plan. The former being
particularly positive around schools as children are more prone to respiratory
problems caused by vehicle emissions.

Summary of public health implications

43. The proposed schemes encourage residents, employees of businesses and visitors
to walk and cycle for short journeys thereby reducing the number of short journeys by
motorised vehicles. The EATF programmes achieve this by creating safer and
guieter environments for pedestrians and cyclists. Encouraging people to adopt
active travel will improve their mental and physical wellbeing. Furthermore, reduced
use of motor vehicles will improve air quality and reduce noise levels.

Summary of equality implications

44. A programme wide Equalities Impact Assessment has been undertaken and each
individual scheme within the programme has been Equality Impact Assessed. Any
future schemes would also be Equality Impact Assessed before they are progressed
to ensure that the needs of or impacts on persons or groups with protected
characteristics are fully considered before any decisions are made and if applicable
any required mitigation is built into the respective schemes.

Summary of risk assessment

45. No risks over and above those already listed in the following respective headings
above have been identified; financial, legal, HR, sustainability, public health,
equalities other than the potential for DfT to overlook BCP Council for future funding
opportunities if it did not fully engage with this opportunity for funding.

Background papers

None

Appendices

Appendix A — Indicative list of Tranche 1 Programme schemes
Appendix B — Images of active trials
Appendix C — Indicative list of Tranche 2 Programme schemes

57



Appendix A — Indicative list of Tranche 1 Programme schemes

Poole Quay/Lower High St. - point closures to create low fraffic neighbourhood/route - ETRO
(experimental measure that could become permanent following consultation)

East Overcliff Drive - point closure(s) to create low traffic route - ETRO (experimental measure that could
become permanent following consultation)

Sandbanks Ferry - creation of safe access and queueing area for pedestrians and cyclists wishing to use
the service - temporary to facilitate safe social distancing and ensuring that pedestrians and cyclists are
able to use this key link between Poole and the Purbecks

Boscombe Overcliff Drive/Southboumne Overcliff Drive - point closure(s) to create low fraffic route - ETRO
(experimental measure that could become permanent following consultation)

Christchurch High St. and Bridge Street Christchurch — temporary measures including suspension of
parking to widen walking routes at pinch points and improve environment for cyclists - enables safe social
distancing

Wimbome Road (Poole) at New Inn Junction plus Darbys Lane - point closure(s) to create low traffic
neighbourhood/route - ETRO (experimental measure that could become permanent following
consultation)

Oakdale (West of Wimbome Road) and Tatnam/Sterte - point closure(s) to create low traffic
neighbourhood/route - ETRO (experimental measure that could become permanent following
consultation)

Victoria Park Area - point closure(s) to create low traffic neighbourhood/route - ETRO (experimental
measure that could become pemanent following consultation)

Evening Hill (Shore Road/Sandbanks Road to Critchell Mount Road) - light segregated cycle lane (uphill)
- ETRO (experimental measure that could become permanent following consultation)

Keyhole Bridge (Whitcliff Road) - point closure to create low traffic neighbourhood/route - ETRO
(experimental measure that could become permanent following consultation)

Springboumne - point closure(s) to create low traffic neighbourhood/route - ETRO (experimental measure
that could become permmanent following consultation)

Birds Hill - point closure(s) to create low traffic neighbourhood/route - ETRO (experimental measure that
could become permanent following consultation)

Glenferness Avenue — light segregation cycle lanes plus - point closure(s) to create low traffic
neighbourhoodiroute - ETRO (experimental measure that could become permanent following
consultation)

Upgrade of priority traffic signal sites to utilise sensors to call crossing demand and reduce pedestrian
wait times - encourages walking and also prevents users from needing to physically touch street furniture.

58



Appendix B —Images of delivered schemes

Lower High St. — point closures to create traffic free area

59



Lower High St.

Poole Quay

60



Poole Quay — café/restaurant seating facilitated by road closure

61



Appendix C - Indicative list of Tranche 2 Programme schemes

Indicative scheme location and description

Estimated cost

[£]

Canford Cliffs Road

: : ) 300,000
- on carriageway light segregation cycle lanes
Richmond Hill and Wimborne Road to East Avenue - on
. : ) 150,000
carriageway light segregation cycle lanes

Winton area

- point closures to create Low Traffic Neighbourhoods (LTN) and 150,000
other possible measures to be confirmed via engagement
Christchurch Town Centre area
- point closures to create Low Traffic Neighbourhoods (LTN) and 125,000
other possible measures to be confirmed via engagement
Baiter/Whitecliff - new fully segregated cycleway alongside existing
sub-standard cycleway/footway (Poole Park Lake culvert structure 850,000
to Sandbanks Road)
Tranche 1 - make permanent ‘approved’ Tranche 1 schemes
; . 250,000
following 6-month review

Programme monitoring — new cycle counters, surveys, 150,000

engagement

Christchurch Bikeshare bays — new bays to support roll out of
: . 10,000
bikeshare in new area
Total 1,985,000

Funding breakdown

Funding amount

62

Source [£]
LTP Local Contribution 400,000 20.2%
EATF T2 bid: £1,268,000 Capital (80%)+£317,000 Revenue (20%) 1,585,000
Total 1,985,000




Agenda Item 10

CABINET BCP

Council

Report subject Bournemouth Christchurch Poole Parking Standards
Supplementary Planning Document

Meeting date 9 September 2020

Status Public Report

Executive summary The draft Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document
(SPD) sets out a consolidated approach across BCP to supersede
earlier legacy council Parking SPDs and establish new local
parking standards for residential and non-residential development
schemes. On adoption the SPD will be a material consideration
which will apply when determining future planning applications.
Cabinet is requested to endorse the current draft Parking
Standards SPD and agree its release for a four-week consultation
commencing 14 September 2020.

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that Cabinet:

(@) Approve the draft Parking Standards Supplementary
Planning Document (SPD) for a four-week public
consultation period from 14 September 2020.

(b) Note the urgency to implement appropriate on-
street parking controls to support the reduced car
parking levels set out in the SPD.

(c) Agree that any necessary minor amendments,
including spelling or other changes where they do
not alter the intent of the draft SPD are delegated to
the Director for Growth & Infrastructure in liaison
with the Portfolio Holder for Strategic Planning.

(d) Note that post-consultation, a final SPD shall return
to Cabinet on 16 December 2020, and subject to
Member agreement for formal adoption by Council
on 5 January 2021.

Reason for To ensure the Council has a single, up-to-date and consistent
recommendations framework for parking standards for new developments across the
BCP area. Having an updated set of parking standards will ensure
that the Council’'s approach to parking requirements assists with the
delivery of viable development aligns with BCP Corporate Strategy
objectives of contributing to carbon reduction and promotes modal
shift to more sustainable travel to recognise the council’s
commitment to respond to the climate and ecological emergency.

63



Portfolio Holder(s):

Margaret Phipps, Portfolio Holder for Strategic Planning
Andy Hadley, Portfolio Holder for Transport

Corporate Director Bill Cotton, Corporate Director for Regeneration and Economy

Report Authors

Julian McLaughlin, Director for Growth and Infrastructure
Nicholas Perrins, Head of Planning incl. Building Control
Richard Pincroft, Head of Transportation

Trevor Sills, Transport Development Manager

Alexis Edwards, Transport Development Team Leader

Rebecca Landman, Planning Policy Officer

Wards Council-wide
Classification For decision
Background
1. In October 2019 BCP Cabinet approved a Strategic Car Parking Review (SCPR). The

SCPR once completed, will form a new single strategy for the provision (availability),
operation, pricing and enforcement for parking across the highway network including car
parks. Also, any operational issues and level of charges in car parks is expected to be
addressed via the SCPR. It is envisaged this strategy, if approved, would be closely
linked to the draft BCP Council Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document
and support the emerging Local Plan to deliver the sustainable growth and provide
viable, vibrant and sustainable communities well into the future.

The current BCP Council parking policy is set out in three legacy supplementary
planning documents; Bournemouth has the Parking SPD (adopted 2014), Christchurch’s
approach is still contained within the former Dorset County Council parking standards
guidance, and Poole operates the Parking and Highway Layout SPD (adopted 2011).

All three sets of standards were based on evidence of car ownership from the 2001
Census (and validated against 2011 census data). They are broadly consistent in their
approaches establishing principles of having standards set lowest in town centres and
gradually increasing outwards to reflect parking demands and generally less
opportunities to travel on more sustainable travel modes.

The parking standards have been successful to date in terms of managing development
within existing local plans and being reflective of recent parking demands and are (to
date) regularly upheld at planning appeals when challenged.

Since the standards were adopted, BCP Council has now replaced the three legacy
authorities and there is a need for harmonisation of the preceding authorities’ planning
documents. Further, there have been material changes in circumstances that require the

64




standards to be reviewed to ensure they are up-to-date and consistent with the Council’s
Corporate Strategy and other social, environmental and economic aims. These changes
are summarised as follows:

In April 2020, the councils previously serving Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole
were replaced by one new council, responsible for all local government services for
the area. The creation of a single planning authority has necessitated the

harmonisation of the preceding authorities parking standards for new developments.

In July 2019, the Council declared its commitment to addressing a Climate and
Ecological emergency. This was a fundamental shift in corporate direction to reflect
the wider global movement towards taking quicker and more direct action to reduce
carbon emissions, including the aim of making BCP Council carbon neutral by 2030
and the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole region carbon neutral ahead of the
2050 national target.

A key part of the response to this declaration will be to encourage reduced car travel
journeys and promote more sustainable forms of travel (which is also supported by
the Government’s recent publication “Decarbonising Transport”). Limiting the amount
of parking spaces in development in key areas will contribute to helping reduce car
ownership and reduce journeys by car.

Development viability — BCP Council has significant housing and other development
pressures to meet the long-term needs of the area. BCP has a tightly compact urban
area, meaning that it can be difficult to achieve a deliverable development that meets
good design and amenity principles, provides affordable housing and other Local
Plan policy criteria (where relevant) as well as providing the level of car parking
provision set out in current legacy authorities’ SPD requirements.

The development costs of providing parking can be substantial, particularly when
having to provide basement arrangements that are often needed for flat
developments in the urban area. Equally, it should be recognised that provision of
parking spaces is a pre-requisite for some buyers and therefore whilst there might be
scope to reduce the current standards in response to environmental factors the right
balance between promoting modal shift and deliverability will need to be reached;

Congestion — In addition to the effect car use has on air quality and its contribution to
climate change impacts, BCP is experiencing worsening congestion across its road
networks, particularly those that also are shared with the area’s high frequency bus
routes. The cost to the local economy of congestion is significant and therefore it is
strategically important in terms economic growth for it to be addressed. Taking a
progressive approach to reducing parking standards will help to achieve modal shift
to other forms of travel and will therefore help reduce congestion and improve health
and wellbeing.

In July 2020, changes to government regulations regarding the Use Classes Order
(1987 as amended) were made came into force on 1 September 2020. These
changes intend to amend and simplify the system of use classes in England by
introducing a new broad class to reflect changing retail and business models
replacing a series of previous separate classes. Specifically, Shops (Al),
financial/professional services (A2), cafés/restaurants (A3), indoor sports/fithess (D2

65



6.

7.

part), medical health facilities (D1 part), creche/nurseries (D1) and office/business
uses (B1) are subsumed into a new single Use Class E.

A number of other changes have been introduced to restrict change of uses for other
types of business or activities. There is added protection against the loss of learning,
non-residential and community facilities, including museums public halls and local
shops. These uses are now included in new Classes F1 and F2. Other potential bad
neighbour town centre uses have been placed in the list of sui generis uses, with no
permitted changes of use eg pubs/bars (A4), takeaways (A5), cinemas and live
music venues. Updating parking requirements to reflect the amended use classes is
an imperative.

The above are all compelling reasons to undertake a focused review of parking
standards to assist with more sustainable transport solutions for the future. As a result,
robust evidence has been gathered to provide clear justification for the proposed parking
standards and guidance within the SPD. This has included national and local policy
alignment, benchmarking with other cities, and best practice research.

When considering current best practice and reviewing reduced levels of car parking in
other towns and cities, car parking restrictions such as Controlled Parking Zones (CPZs)
or permit parking schemes would normally accompany reduced levels of on-site car
parking (that is, parking levels below the current legacy benchmark figures), in order to
prevent the potential for any overspill car parking demand being displaced on-street.
Such displaced overspill car parking would generally have a detrimental impact on both
highway safety and local amenity and would also represent poor design. With this in
mind, it is recommended that appropriate parking restrictions which may include CPZs or
permit parking schemes are implemented concurrently through the SCPR to support
parking provision that this SPD proposes as the standards would be at a lower level than
current legacy benchmark figures.

Traffic Regulation Orders (TROS) are the legal documents that restrict or prohibit the use
of the highway network and provide the mechanism to enforce the appropriate parking
restrictions. The supporting parking restrictions should be implemented prior to adoption
of this proposed SPD to reduce potential negative impacts of reducing car parking
requirements. Any appropriate parking restrictions which may include CPZs or permit
parking schemes would need to be implemented under provisions of the Road Traffic
Regulation Act and be subject to separate decision notices.

Supplementary Planning Documents support and provide detail to Local Plan policies.
The SPD has been drafted to comply with the National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF) (2019) which states that the planning system should actively manage patterns of
growth. Para 105 states that local parking standards to take into account a range of
factors including the accessibility of the development; the type, mix and use of
development; the availability of and opportunities for public transport; local car ownership
levels; and the need to ensure adequate provision of spaces for charging plug-in
vehicles and other ultra-low emission vehicles.

10.1In advance of the BCP Local Plan, the draft Parking Standards SPD will support existing

legacy authority Local Plan transport policies. The alternative option, to do nothing until
the BCP Local Plan is adopted, would not be advisable as developers require clarity and

66



detail from the Local Planning Authority to assist in setting out parking standards for new
development schemes.

11.Based on the evidence assembled, it is considered that the approach contained in the
draft Parking Standards SPD Consultation Document at Appendix 1 is the most
appropriate and aligns with current government policy and guidance, best practice and
corporate commitments to reduce carbon emissions.

Consultation

12.To assist with preparing the draft SPD a task and finish sub-group of the SCPR was
formed comprising the key Portfolio Holders for Transportation and for Strategic Planning
together with other councillors including cross-party representatives. The task and finish
group was supported by officers from Growth & Infrastructure (Planning and
Transportation).

13. Public consultation on the document would take place following Cabinet approval to do
s0. The consultation process will be in accordance with the legacy authorities adopted
Statements of Community Involvement, under the provisions of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, and the revised procedures required by the Town and
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. The Regulations require
a minimum of 4 weeks consultation on a draft SPD with the document amended to
address issues raised by representations, before it can be adopted by the local planning
authority.

14.The draft SPD and relevant supporting papers will be published on the council’'s website
as well as promoted through corporate social media. The council will email specific
organisations and everyone who has registered an interest in being contacted about
local planning consultations. Feedback and comments received will be taken into
consideration in formulating the final version of the document prior to returning to
Cabinet for approval for formal adoption.

15.1n line with governance guidance in response to Covid-19 there will be minor changes to
consultation arrangements. Therefore, hard copies of draft SPD and supporting
documents will not be placed in libraries and in council offices for the public to view. We
will ensure methods of consultation are undertaken safely in line with social distancing
guidance, unless this changes in the next few months.

The programme

16. The programme to harmonise the three legacy authorities Parking SPDs was approved
by the task and finish cross party working group on 29 May 2020, to aim for adoption by
Council in early January 2021. This is an ambitious timetable and the production of the
draft SPD has placed considerable pressure on officers. The programme was initially
impacted by Covid-19.

17.The timescales for each stage are set out below:
e March to July 2020 — Evidence gathering and SPD preparation
e 9" September 2020 — Cabinet approval for public consultation

e September/October 2020 - 4 week statutory consultation

67



e October 2020 — review representations and update / finalise SPD
e 16" December 2020 — Cabinet approval to be sought for adoption
e 5" January 2021 - Full Council Adopt SPD

Options Appraisal

18.The draft SPD provides an opportunity to consolidate into one policy document the SPDs
of the three previously authorities which no longer represent the approach BCP Council
wishes to take. The draft SPD will replace these to reflect current evidence, new national
policy, new corporate strategy commitments including obligations to contribute to
addressing the impacts of climate change for social, economic and environmental
benefits to ensure the planning system actively manages patterns of growth in the BCP
area. Reducing congestion, carbon emissions, and improving air quality and public
health are at the heart of these objectives and directly linked to the BCP Corporate Plan.
There are no reasonable alternative options to consider in this case.

Summary of financial implications

19.The draft SPD production is funded from existing resources. Additionally, the costs from
undertaking the public consultation of the draft Parking Standards SPD would be met
from approved revenue budgets.

20.The precise implications on street would need to be determined as individual schemes
are developed through the SCPR and future decision reports would be prepared to
address this. The introduction of parking control schemes (CPZs or resident parking
schemes) would be self-financing.

Summary of legal implications

21.A Supplementary Planning Document is not part of the statutory development plan but
instead builds upon and provides guidance on the polices within an adopted local plan.
As such an SPD constitutes a material consideration when determining planning
applications.

22.To be valid an SPD must be made in accordance with the procedures set out in The
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations (2012) (the LPR
2012) which includes the need to undertake a consultation in accordance with the
Council’'s Statement of Community Involvement.

23.An SPD must not conflict with the adopted local plan and steps have been taken to
review the draft to ensure that the requirements of Regulation 8(3) of the LPR 2012 have
been met in this regard. This consideration will also form part of the process of reviewing
the consultation responses, throughout October, as the SPD is finalised.

24. Any appropriate parking restrictions which may include CPZs or permit parking schemes
identified to facilitate this SPD would need to be implemented under the provisions of the
Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 (RTRA) as part of the SCPR. The RTA provides Local
Authorities with the power to make TROSs to control parking or otherwise limit use of the
highway. In making such Orders, Local Authorities must follow the procedures set out in
the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 and detailed in the Local Authorities Traffic Orders
(Procedure) (England and Wales) Regulations 1996 (the 1996 Regulations). A further

68



review would be undertaken during October if there are any amendments made at the
consultation stage.

Summary of human resources implications

25.The ambitious programme to produce the SPD has had some implications for officers
particularly due to remote working arrangements. If approved for public consultation, the
engagement and consultation is integral to the work of the Growth and Infrastructure and
will be managed by officers with no significant implication.

26.The creation of any appropriate parking restrictions which may include CPZs or permit
parking schemes necessary to support the draft Parking Standards SPD would be
resourced from existing budgets. It is noted that the consultation and design of CPZs
involves significantly more officer time than most other minor traffic schemes and so
should extensive CPZs be required additional resources may be required. Additional
parking restrictions may also be created as a result of the SCPR’s recommendations.
This could potentially be funded from the Local Transport Plan Capital Programme.

Summary of sustainability impact

27.The principle of reducing parking standards to reduce car usage and encourage modal
shift to other forms of travel, would have a direct positive impact on carbon and other
emissions to air, land and water. A Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) and a
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) are not required for SPD production as the
existing Local Plans have accompanying HRAs and SEAs. The SPD has nonetheless
been screened.

Summary of public health implications

28.The principle of reducing parking standards to reduce car usage and encourage modal
shift (including walking) would have a significant positive impact on air quality and health
and wellbeing.

Summary of equality implications

29. All developers will have to comply with the new parking standards in the design of new
schemes of development. It will be important that the new standards are justified with
evidence to ensure a fair approach is taken by the council for all developer markets. An
Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) screening has been carried out to ensure that in
bringing in this council wide SPD there are no identified impacts on protected
characteristic groups in terms of ethnicity, religious belief or faith, gender, transgender,
sexual orientation or social inequality.

30.The opportunity to enhance equity for all users has been taken to ensure the draft SPD
reduces barriers to mobility. Enhancements to the cycle provision will benefit non-able
users who rely on cycles for independent personal mobility. Enhancements to car
parking standards for disabled drivers and passengers have been made to reduce
barriers and support their everyday needs.

Summary of risk assessment

31.The draft SPD has been developed to reflect the priorities and objectives of the adopted
Corporate Strategy, whilst in accordance with national and local planning policy. Should

69



the draft SPD not be adopted at a future date or is delayed then a key risk of not having
a harmonised set of parking policies remains increasing the possibility of incorrect levels
of parking being provided. Whilst the existing parking standards could continue to be
used, resources will need to be made available to ensure the timetable is met otherwise
the programme will be delayed. This will be mitigated by the Heads of Planning and
Transportation nominating specific officers to the project as well as use of framework
consultants.

32.A key risk will be the creation of overspill parking resulting from a reduction in the
standard of on-site car parking provision. This risk will be addressed in the SCPR which
will need to identify those measures needed and implemented through the Road Traffic
Regulation Act to control on-street parking in support of the approach in the final adopted
SPD. Additional mitigation is provided by the provision of cycle standards as part of the
draft SPD to reduce reliance on private car use for new developments.

33. Another associated key risk is the approval process for a TRO. Presently Cabinet must
give approval to advertise a TRO and if objections are received Cabinet approval is
required to make and seal the order. This can take between 6 to 8 months from start to
finish and the possibility remains that the TRO may not be made. In order to reduce the
risk of unsuccessful TROs consideration of the delegation of powers to enable the
Director for Growth and Infrastructure to advertise TROs could be considered by Cabinet
to support the delivery of the necessary parking restrictions.

Background papers

None.

Appendices

Appendix 1: Draft Parking Standard SPD for Consultation
Appendix 2: Strategic Environmental Assessment Screening Statement
Appendix 3: Equalities Impact Assessment Screening

70



BCP

Council

Parking Standards

Supplementary Planning Document

Draft for consultation September 2020
Growth and Infrastructure



cL



€L

Executive Summary

The aim of this SPD is to provide detail on parking requirements for new

development proposals with an emphasis on good design and sustainability.

It is a comprehensive document to be used by developers and consultants
when they are designing new developments. It will be used by officers to
assess parking requirements where planning permission is sought for new
development.

The parking standards set out in this SPD will support the delivery

of development that will needed to meet housing needs and other
economic, social and environmental priorities in the emerging BCP Local
Development Plan. It is expected that flats and other high density and
mixed-use development will be delivered in highly sustainable locations
that are well served by public transport, shops and local services. This

in turn, will enable the implementation of safe and attractive walking and
cycling infrastructure to facilitate active travel, benefit air quality, improve
health and wellbeing and tackle climate change.

This SPD takes a zonal approach to parking standards reflecting
differing accessibility levels in the BCP area as follows:

Zone A: Town Centres
Zone B: District Centres
Zone C: Business Hubs

Zone D: Suburban/Rural locations

It is essential that supplementary planning documents support Local
Plans, in terms of their vision, objectives and policies. Work has begun
on bringing the three legacy areas up-to-date with a new statutory
BCP Local Development Plan. In the interim, this SPD will support the
existing adopted local plan policies and the transport strategy for the
BCP area as set out in the Bournemouth, Poole and Dorset Transport
Plan (2011-2026).

Car parking can occupy a great deal of space and can have a negative
impact on the appearance of development and the efficient use of land.

Therefore, this parking SPD encourages high quality and well-designed
parking provision, appropriate to the type and scale of development
within its context and location. However, the availability of car parking
can also have an impact on how people travel and encourage a modal
shift to non-car alternatives, including walking, cycling and taking public
transport.

This SPD reflects both national and local priorities to reduce the need
to travel by private car by encouraging behaviour change and reflecting
the need to find alternative safe, sustainable and cleaner ways to travel
where possible.



122

Contents

Executive Summary 3

1

11
1.2
1.3
1.4

2
21
2.2

3
3.1
3.2
33
34
35
36
37
3.8
39

4
41

4.2

4.3

Introduction

Background 7

Purpose of the document 8
Approach and document structure 9
Document status 9

Policy Context
National Planning Policy Framework 10
The Local Development Plan 10

Layout and Design Guidance
Introduction 12

Cars 12

Cycles 17

Scooter facilities 22

Powered two-wheelers (PTW) 22

Electric vehicle charging 23

Disabled parking requirements 24
Parking for people with young children 25
Underground and multi-storey parking 26

Parking Standards

Zonal approach 28
Parking Zones map 29

Optimum parking figures 30
Parking standards by Use Class 31
Variation from the parking standards 47

5  Other Considerations
51 Loading and servicing 48
5.2 Shared parking 48

5.3 Mobility scooters 48

54  Coaches and minibus 48

55 Carclubs and car sharing 49
5.6 Holiday accommodation 50
5.7 Drainage 50

5.8 School streets 51

59 Controlled Parking Zones (CPZs) and
Residents Parking Schemes (RPS) 51

5.0 Visibility at accesses 52
511 Road adoption 53
512 Streetdesign 54

Appendix A 55
Disabled parking

Appendix B 56
BCP Council Parking Zones map

Appendix C(i) 57
Residential parking assessment guidance

Background/Supporting Information

Methodology and techniques for parking survey
and assessment



7

Appendix C(ii) 60

Example of unsuitable locations for on-street parking
Appendix C(iii) 61

Recommended output for parking survey and assessment
Appendix C(iv) 62

Example of parking survey and assessment

Figures

Figure 1 Standard parking space dimension 12
Figure 2 Parking space dimensions next to wall 12
Figure 2 Parallel bay dimensions 12

Figure 4 Perpendicular bays dimensions 13
Figure 5 Minimum grouped parking bays dimensions 13

Figure 6 Garage dimensions 14

Figure 7 Minimum garage court area dimensions 14
Figure 8 Entrance kerb system 15
Figure 9 Entrance kerb example 15

Figure 10 Landscaped parking court example 16
Figure 11 Types of cycles 17

Figure 12 Double deck stand dimensions 18
Figure 13 Sheffield type stand dimensions 19
Figure 14 Footprint of parked CDVs 19

Figure 15  Stands at 45 degree angle to wall 19

Figure 16
Figure 17

Figure 18
Figure 19
Figure 20
Figure 21
Figure 22
Figure 23
Figure 24
Figure 25
Figure 26
Figure 27
Figure 28
Figure 29
Figure 30
Figure 31
Figure 32

Visitor parking example 20

Secured covered non-resdiential
cycle parking example 20

Residential cycle parking example 21
Option A Secure covered inc. residential) 21
Option B Secure covered (inc. residential) 21
Communal residential cycle storage 22
Disabled bay dimensions 24

Alternative disabled bay arrangement 25
Parent and child bay dimensions 25
Alternative parent and child bay dimensions 25
Screened underground parking 27
Decorative grills 27

BCP Council Parking Zones map 28

Car club bay 49

Parking restriction signage 51

Junction visiblity 52

Street design example 54



9.

Tables

Table 1
Table 2
Table 3
Table 4
Table 5
Table 6

Table 7
Table 8

Table 9
Table 10
Table 11

Table 12
Table 13
Table 14
Table 15
Table 16
Table 17
Table 18
Table 19

EV provision 23

Charge point specification 24
B2: General industrial 31

B8: Storage and distribution 31
C1: Hotels and guest houses 32

C2: Hospitals, C2: Schools and colleges and
C2A Secure residential institutions 32

C2: Nursing and care homes 33

C2: Sheltered housing (specialist elderly person'’s
accommodation) 33

C3:Flats 34
C3:Houses 34

C3: Holiday accommodation (holiday flats, self-catering
apartments and serviced apartments) 34

C4: Houses in multiple occupation 35

Class E: Clinics, health centres, doctors, dentists, vets 35
Class E: Creches/day nurseries 36

Class E: Indoor sports halls 36

Class E: Offices and businesses 37

Class E: Restaurants and cafes 37

Class E: Retail 38

F.1: Conference centres 39

Table 20
Table 21

Table 22
Table 23
Table 24
Table 25
Table 26
Table 27
Table 28
Table 29
Table 30
Table 31
Table 32

Table 33

F.1: Higher education (HE) and further education (FE) facilities 39

F.1: Public libraries, churches, art galleries, museums,
places of worship, law courts, public exhibition halls 40

F.1: Schools 40

Class F.2: Community halls 41

Class F.2: Retail 41

Class F2: Stadia 42

Sui generis :Drinking establishments 43

Sui generis: Garage showrooms 43

Sui generis: Garage workshops 44

Sui generis: Wholesalers open to the public 43

Sui generis: Large houses in multiple occupation (HMOs) 45
Sui generis: Student accommodation 45

Sui generis: Theatres, cinemas, concert halls, bingo halls,
and dance halls 46

Sui generis: Wholesalers open to the public 46



LL

1 Introduction

1.1 Background

1.1.1  The Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) is
a material consideration in the determination of planning applications
within the BCP Council area. It has a role to support the policies in the Local
Development Plan and to help to deliver on corporate priorities including
housing and economic growth.

1.1.2  To contribute to creating vibrant and sustainable communities, housing
delivery must be directed to the most accessible locations, focussed on
brownfield sites and maximising opportunities for a range and mix of
homes in areas where there will be investment in infrastructure. These
locations are the town centres and district/
local centres and along sustainable transport corridors.

1.1.3 Delivering homes in the right places plays an important role in
protecting the built and natural environment, protecting heathland
and greenbelt. New communities will have greater connectivity and
accessibility to places of work, shops and services and leisure facilities
either by walking, cycling or using public transport.

1.1.4 The Parking Standards SPD will support the actions of BCP Council’s
Corporate Strategy to tackle climate change and ecological emergency by
helping to prioritise opportunities to walk, cycle and use public transport.
The approach to parking requirements fits with the actions listed under
three priority areas:

1. to lead communities towards a cleaner, sustainable future that
preserves our outstanding environment for generations to come

2. to support a dynamic region

3. to ensure communities in BCP feel empowered, safe, engaged
and included.

1 2011 Census Car availability by household

1.1.5 The planned housing and economic growth needed is expected to

generate an increase in vehicle numbers in the BCP area. If unchecked,

it could give rise to increased carbon emissions, and worsen congestion
affecting health, safety and creating road safety issues. Additionally, the
public realm and public amenity are at risk. The council recognise that it is
a challenge to ensure parking is attractive, safe and convenient for users.
Rigid and overly generous parking requirements historically have not
helped to deliver the quantum or quality of development expected by our
communities.

1.1.6 It will be a challenge to meet the level of housing need due to physical

and environmental constraints of the area. It is important therefore

that development makes the best use of the land on brownfield and
other allocated development sites. Development should be designed to
encourage walking and cycling and public transport use, be pleasant and
safe to travel through and be located with easy access to local facilities,
shops and services.

1.1.7  Accessibility to public transport and local services reduces the

demand for car ownership and increases the use of non-car transport
for commuting purposes. Census data demonstrates that car ownership
and method of travel to work varies by location, tenure, and number

of habitable rooms. For example, in Bournemouth Town Centre, car
ownership is at its lowest, with 46.4% of households without a car. This
reduces to less than 20% in the suburban areas of the area'.



1.1.7 Car ownership is likely to continue growing at a slower rate than
previously?. While the council has no powers for controlling car ownership,
it does have a responsibility to manage the increasing numbers of vehicles.
Any potential negative impacts require action, to ensure that the highway
network functions efficiently for all users?, regardless of mode of travel.

1.2 Purpose of the document

1.2.1 The overall aim of this SPD is to set out parking standards in new
residential and non-residential development.

1.2.2 This SPD provides clear guidance and certainty to applicants,
developers and agents. It is important to set out the level of car and cycle
parking sought by the council, to ensure that a consistent and transparent
approach is followed when assessing parking need, design and layout.

1.1.8 If policies are not developed to effectively manage the levels of parking
associated with new development, this is likely to intensify existing on-

street parking pressure. Consequently, there is a higher risk of more
frequent incidences of illegal and anti-social parking adversely affecting

existing residents. To mitigate the impact of 1.2.3 The key objectives of this SPD are as follows:
anti-social parking, the council can use appropriate parking restrictions . to balance the needs of different users on transport networks, protect
such as Controlled Parking Zones (CPZs) or Resident Permit Schemes (RPS). amenity, improve accessibility and highway safety
- 1.1.9 High quality design is critical to a successful development, as it offers ’ TO encoull'ageCItITe.Jccreatlon of high quality, well-designed places to
00 a first and lasting impression. The design and layout should feel intuitively Ve workand vist
safe and welcoming. Without this, a development is unlikely to unlock its - to minimise conflict between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles
full potential. The level of provision of parking and its location influences with safe, convenient and useable parking provision
the choices people make when deciding where to I|vef when travelllng, . to encourage more travel on foot, by bicycle, by public transport or
and on the appearance and‘form of a fjevelopment: High quality parking using low emission vehicles to reduce CO, emissions and benefit
and access layouts should aim to provide an attractive, comfortable, safe, air quality
convenient pattern of movement into, across and out of parking bays and
the site. « to help support the council’'s commitments to address the impacts
of climate change and contribute to a low carbon future
+ to support the delivery of increased housing densities in the most
sustainable locations.
1.2.4 All car parking figures are presented as optimums whereas cycle figures

2 National Trip End Model (DfT, 2017)
3 The Traffic Management Duty (TMA 2004 Part 2) includes pedestrians within the definition of ‘Traffic’.



6.

are considered as minimum levels. This is to encourage smart travel choices
and reduce dependency on the private car.

1.2.5 This SPD will replace the following three legacy council Parking SPDs;
Bournemouth Borough Council Parking SPD (2014), Borough of Poole
Parking and Highway Layout in Development SPD (2011), and the Dorset
Residential Car Parking Study (2011). It provides revised parking standards
to comply with the National Planning Policy Framework and to promote
sustainable transport.

1.3 Approach and document structure

1.3.1 Parking provision is a key component that decides how people travel
and how they choose to live. It influences the use of land, as well as the
quality of the built environment.

1.3.2 Our approach states that as BCP Council continues to grow, the ability
and desirability to accommodate additional trips by private car is no longer
sustainable or feasible. Instead, the focus relies on active transport (eg
walking, cycling and the use of public transport). An effective transport
system can grant a reasonably sized catchment area access to local
facilities. For example, public transport to jobs and services, including
recreational opportunities and nature. This will create a virtuous circle for
our residents and businesses, as well as help cut carbon emissions.

1.3.3 This SPD is in five parts, as follows:
+ Parts 1-2 are the introduction and policy context

« Part 3 provides general guidance for car and cycle parking
design necessary for attractive, safe, convenient, equitable and
appropriate parking

« Part 4 sets out the optimum parking according to use class

+ Part 5 covers addtional guidance on a range of complementary
matters.

1.4 Document status

1.4.1 This is a draft SPD which will be subject to public consultation in
accordance with the Town and Country Planning Regulations (2012).

1.4.2 This SPD has been screened in accordance with the European
Directive 2001/42/EC and associated Environmental Assessment of Plans
and Programmes Regulations 2004 to determine whether a Strategic
Environmental Assessment (SEA) is required. A copy of the screening record
is available to view on the council’s website.

1.4.3 This SPD has also been subject to an Equalities Impact Screening
Assessment which is available to view on the council’s website.



08

2 Policy context

2.1 National Planning Policy Framework

2.1.1  The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and National Planning
Practice Guidance (NPPG) provides the policy context and guidance to
promote sustainable development.

2.1.2 In Section 9, the NPPF (2019) outlines guidance for setting local
parking standards and what they should take into account, including
the accessibility, type and mix of use, availability for public transport, car
ownership levels and need to ensure adequate provision of spaces for
charging plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles (para 105).

2.1.3 It also states that maximum parking standards should only be set
where there is a clear and compelling justification that they are necessary
for managing the local road network, or for optimising the density of
development in city and town centres and other locations that are well
served by public transport. The NPPF also states that in town centres,
local authorities should seek to improve the quality of parking so that it is
convenient, safe and secure, alongside measures to promote accessibility
for pedestrians and cyclists (para 106).

2.2 The Local Development Plan

2.2.1 The overarching policy framework for parking standards are set out in
the following Local Plan Policies:
Bournemouth Core Strategy (2012) - Policy CS16

This states that parking provision in new development shall accord
with the council’s adopted parking standards.

Christchurch and East Dorset Local Plan Part 1 (2014) —
Policy KS12

This states that adequate vehicle and cycle parking facilities will

be provided by the developer to serve the needs of the proposed
development. Cycle and vehicle parking for residential development
should be of the highest quality design and use land efficiently.
Development proposals should make provision for parking in
accordance with the Local Transport Plan parking guidance, including
provision for parking for people with disabilities.

Poole Local Plan (2018) — Policy PP35

This states that proposals for new development will be required to
maximise the use of sustainable forms of travel, provide safe access
to the highway, contribute to the retention of attractive, safe and
assessible places including convenient pedestrian and cycling routes
and accord with the Parking SPD.

2.2.2 In addition to the local plans there may be relevant policies in

neighbourhood plans which must be taken into account when considering
applications within the neighbourhood area. Within BCP Council there are
three made plans, all of which refer to parking requirements. There are

no inconsistencies between the requirements in this parking SPD and the
existing policies in the neighbourhood plans. The ‘made’ neighbourhood
plans are set out below:

Boscombe and Pokesdown Neighbourhood Plan (adopted 2019)

« BAP1: which states at (v) the density of residential development which
should not exacerbate existing overcrowding and pressure for on-street
parking.

« BAP8: Houses in multiple occupation and bedsits which states car
and bicycle parking would be provided at an appropriate quantity
and would be of a high standard so as not to harm visual amenity.

10



18

BAP10: Site allocations - SA2 Hawkwood Road car park - retain
site for car parking. SA6 Sovereign Centre and car park - retain
within a scheme for mixed town centre use.

Broadstone Neighbourhood Plan (2018)

BP4: Securing high quality design and sustainability. This sets a
design principles and states that amenity space should not include
provision for car parking.

Poole Quays Forum Neighbourhood Plan (2017)

PQF1: Public realm (5) This states that car parking and provision
for servicing are appropriate to the context and sensitively
integrated into the public realm.

PQF3: High quality design (9) states that development proposals
must create a multi-functional, lively and well-maintained public
realm that sensitively integrates different modes of transport,
parking and servicing.

PQF7: Hamworthy Centre environmental improvements (1) states
that these should include facilities for cyclists, including cycle path
and parking. (4) states that a parking strategy should explore the
potential of free short-term parking.

PQF8: Creating a more vibrant high street during the day and
evening (5) states that a review of town centre car parking
arrangements and charging will be supported, to encourage
people to use the town centre.

1



¢8

3 Layout and design guidance

3.1 Introduction

3.1.1  The way that parking is accommodated and arranged can have a
positive or negative effect on road safety, access for emergency services,
pedestrians, cyclists, environmental quality, character and appearance of a
development.

3.1.2 The materials used to provide parking should enhance the street scene
rather than detract from it. Appropriate planting and landscaping can also
be incorporated to encourage opportunities for biodiversity and enhance
the quality of the built and natural environment.

3.1.3 ltis equally important to consider the design of parking and street
layouts as well as the number of spaces provided. Poor design can reduce
the level of parking available. This SPD sets out the council’s preferred
approach for applicants to ensure that they achieve
the expected design of car and cycle parking. It includes certain minimum
criteria that a space must meet to be counted as a
parking space.

3.1.4 Where the use class associated with the development will provide
elderly person’s housing, developers are encouraged to provide wider
parking spaces, having regard to the need to provide for those with limited
mobility who would not normally be entitled to blue badges.

3.2 Cars

3.2.1 The minimum dimension of a standard car parking space is
2.6m x 4.8m (as shown in Figure 1). Bay width is a key component of its
usability and durability as substandard provision in this dimension inhibits
opening of car doors and equality of use. A 4.8m bay length allows for a
range of everyday vehicles to use a space without the vehicle overhanging
the parking bay.

3.2.2 Widths or lengths of spaces will need to increase if next to a wall or
footway. The minimum distance expected between the end of the car (or
car door) and a solid object (wall/fence) is 0.5m (as shown in Figure 2).

3.2.3 Thelong dimension should be extended to 6m for parallel bays as a
minimum (as shown in Figure 3).

2.6m

A
\

4.8m

Figure 1 Standard parking space dimension

<«——Dbuilding line / wall

2.6m

A
\/

5.3m

Figure 2 Parking space dimensions next to wall

6m

I 2.6m

Figure 3 Parallel parking bay dimensions

12



€8

3.2.4 Parking spaces should not directly abut building lines where windows
are provided at ground floor level. If parking is to be provided adjacent to
ground floor windows, a landscape buffer should be planted and retained
at a low level.

3.2.5 For perpendicular bays, an overspill area of 0.5m is required next to a
solid object (as shown in Figure 4) and/or the back of an adjacent footway,
to ensure usability of the spaces and to prevent vehicles overhanging the
parking bay. The inclusion of a Tm vegetation (or access) buffer strip(s) to
separate long rows of spaces is encouraged to reduce the visual impact of
large parking areas.

3.2.6 The aisle width between rows of spaces should be at least 6m to enable
cars to manoeuvre comfortably (as shown in Figure 5).

3.2.7 For echelon (angled) parking bays, the minimum acceptable length
is 4.2m. The width of the bay and the angle of approach vary depending
on the design. For a 2.6m wide bay, the aisle widths are typically: 6.0m
at 90 degrees, 4.2m at 60 degrees and 3.6m at 45 degrees. These width
requirements may be reduced if the parking spaces are widened.

3.2.8 Swept-path analysis can be used to assess the effect of oversized spaces
on reducing the need for manoeuvring space. Appropriate proprietary
software using scaled (using a large car) simulated vehicles at realistic
speeds with enough margin for driver error
(0.5m from any wall or fence) will be expected for any swept-path analysis.
Echelon bays should be arranged so that drivers are encouraged to reverse
into them to avoid poor visibility from adjacent parked vehicles. Different
layouts, such as, herringbone, have

4 Manual for Streets (DfT, 2007)

different overall space requirements, and the detailed layout of car parking
will be site-specific.

solid object

> )6m

Figure 4 Perpendicular bays dimensions

4.8m

2.6m

-
6m

Figure 5 Minimum grouped parking bay dimensions

3.2.9 Research has shown that in many developments, less than half of all
garages are used for car parking, instead being used for storage*. In terms
of sizes, an internal minimum of 7m x 3m is considered appropriate to
ensure that a large modern family car will fit comfortably with room left for
some general storage (as shown in Figure 6).

13



¥8

3.2.10 This 7m x 3m must be a clear, unobstructed space to allow a vehicle 3.2.12 Visitor spaces must be marked with ‘VISITOR’ where they are located

to enter and exit safely. Garages must also have entrances wide and high within private car parking areas.

enough to allow for large family cars. The space required to open and close

garage doors should also be considered. Driveways in front of garages 3.2.13 Turning/Tracking diagrams using appropriate proprietary software
should be at least 5.5m long, or 6m, clear of a footway, carriageway or may be required. The diagrams should demonstrate whether vehicles can
shared surface. Garages will only be counted as a parking space where they manoeuvre safely into and out of spaces.

meet the minimum size requirements (as shown in Figure 6).

3.2.14 Vehicle access provides a transition from the carriageway across the

3.211 Where a garage court area is provided, an aisle width of 7.3mis footway and into private forecourts. When poorly designed, driveway
necessary to sufficiently accommodate turning movements. A garage bay entrances provide difficult walking environments, due to continual changes
of 7m x 3m is also required (as shown in Figure 7). in cross-falls. This is a particularly challenging issue for disabled or elderly

users, and those with small children or mobility aids. The narrower the

; footway, the greater the impact of gradient changes.
m

A
\

3m garage garage

the frontage of developments is problematic. It eliminates the possibility
forecourt

of on-street parking, creates greater potential conflict points between
om pedestrians and motor vehicles, and is poorly designed. The council’s
preference is the provision of a single 4.6m width vehicular crossover
equivalent to three dropped kerbs and two tapered kerbs, or an entrance
kerb system. Wider than 4.6m width vehicle crossovers may be required
<M, where simultaneous entry exit is required. Pairs of vehicular crossovers near
each other are also discouraged.

I 3.2.15 Additionally, the excessive use of extended dropped kerbs across
2.6m

A
\

Figure 6 Garage dimensions

t 3.2.16 The use of dropped kerbs lower the level of the footway towards the
3m carriageway. Dropped kerbs are no longer supported on heavily trafficked
footways with a footway width in excess of 1.5m. Instead, a short ramp
at the front of the footway (kerbside), providing vehicle transition from
carriageway to footway, should be implemented (as shown in Figures 8 and
Figure 9). The entrance kerb system ensures that the footway is maintained
73m level for the entire length. The transition is provided by using entrance
kerbs or a combination of quadrant kerbs and chamfered kerbs.

Figure 7 Minimum garage court dimensions

14



G8

3.2.17 Through the design of the vehicular access including the materials, 3.2.18 All proposed gated accesses should be set back 5m from the highway

priority must be ensured for pedestrians using the footway where vehicles to help preserve the safety of other road users. This includes proposals for
cross. Materials used should match the existing footway. Edging strips new developments or as part of householder applications on Classified
or other materials should be avoided in a way that would suggest that Roads.

vehicles have priority over pedestrians.
3.2.19 Vehicle crossovers must be perpendicular to the footway. This ensures
Figure 9° Entrance kerb example that motor vehicles cannot drive along the footway in order to gain illegal
access to a property. Additionally, pedestrian visibility is maximised. Parallel
parking adjacent the highway will not be supported on grounds of safety

5 ©Mark Philpotts / City Infinity, used with permission and illegal and dangerous manoeuvring.
EZ:Lance E:fbdrant 3.2.20 Visibility splay areas should be kept clear of obstructions reaching
/ above 0.6m in height, measured from the adjoining highway level. The
footway driver position is typically 2.4m back from the front of a vehicle. Due to
\ / this, visibility splays measuring 2m x 2m either side of an access would aid
N drivers in viewing pedestrians on the footway before exiting the access.

carriageway

3.2.21 Where visibility splays are required, consideration should be given to

the most effective method of achieving this. It is also necessary to consider
Figure 8 Entrance kerb system their wider visual appearance within the street. Treatments may include
hard landscaping, low level landscape planting or railings. The railings must
have adequate gaps to ensure that visibility is available.

15



3.2.22 On-street parking is an efficient option which can work well in certain
situations where there is sufficient space, on roads which do not have not
existing parking pressure®. Where new streets are proposed as part of a
large development, on street parking can be complemented with tree
planting to create an attractive environment. Examples of locations that
are not suitable for on-street parking are listed in Appendix C(ii). Where
surface parking is provided on plot it should be located to the rear or side
of development. This would minimise the impact cars have on the street
scene. Where the only option is to locate parking in front of a building,
it should be enclosed by a high-quality front boundary treatment. For
example, a low wall or hedge.

Figure 10 Landscaped parking court example

3.2.23 Proposals should provide safe access to the highway, taking guidance

from the Local Planning Authority on the most suitable access. They must existing properties where front gardens are converted to hardstanding or
egress typically in forward gear to ensure safety for all road users. parking areas.

o

3.2.24 All parking courts should be well landscaped, carefully lit, limited in 3.2.27 Parking in front gardens should be designed with the retention

size and well overlooked for security purposes. Parking directly adjacent of existing walls, fences, railings or hedging, the minimization of hard,
to living accommodation is not acceptable. Defensible space should be impermeable surfacing and the provision of sufficiently setback gates and
allowed between parking and circulation spaces, as well as the windows of generous planting. Any surface adjacent to the highway needs to be made
living accommodation. up of bonded material eg. permeable block paving, and not loose material,

such as gravel, to avoid loose material spilling onto the highway.
3.2.25 In the case of residential and mixed-use development, parking and

circulation areas require careful designs. Transport developments should 3.2.27 Where development results in existing accesses across the footway
ensure that vehicles can only travel at slow speeds and that pedestrian no longer being required, the existing dropped kerbs or entrance kerbs
movements have priority. Creating a high-quality environment can be shall be reinstated to footway construction. This will be secured on the
achieved through the geometry of the space, the use of appropriate approved plan, as part of the planning approval.

materials, native species planting and good quality signage.

3.2.26 Parking in front gardens should maintain a sense of enclosure and
harmony with the existing streetscape. This is particularly significant for

6 See Manual for Streets (DfT,2007), Manual for Streets 2 (CIHT, 2010) and Car Parking: What Works Where (English Partnerships, 2006)

16



3.3 Cycles

3.3.1 The council considers cycle parking a key element of a development.
Increased cycle parking encourages healthy lifestyles, reduces pressure for

parking, eliminates unnecessary car journeys, and does not add to carbon 5::{:;:1 -

emission or affect air quality.

Cycle parking forms an integral part of any full or reserve matters planning

application. It should not be treated as a secondary issue to be resolved by

condition. It is very important to recognise that there are various types of

cycle (as shown in Figure 11) and many types of people using them. | 2.5m L 4 Z.3m |
' Tandem Recurmibet

3.3.2 A Cycle Design Vehicle (CDV) of 2.3m in length by 1.2m in width will

cover most situations. It must be used when designing facilities for cycles

including all forms of cycle parking.
— —1

@ 3.3.3 Cycle parking should be in the most accessible location, above ground l&i‘léﬂ:::ﬂﬂ'liﬂﬂl'emﬁ-'ﬂr ﬂ:‘r:rﬂ:d‘:-:-'ﬂl length for

and near the main entrance to any development. Cycle access is expected
to be easier than car parking access, except for disabled car parking.
Where basement cycle parking is provided then surface cycle must also be
provided.

3.3.4 Cycle parking must be provided in a well-illuminated location to

3-2.3m
encourage use. Natural surveillance in the area discourages theft. Cycle Cargo bake
storage identified in habitable rooms, general storage areas, bin stores,
circulation areas, or on balconies will not be considered acceptable. Cycle
hire docking stations should not be considered as a substitute for cycle
parking facilities.

18-2.3m 1
Whisslchair-iriendly trcycke

By—
R

Figure 117 Types of cycles

7 CD 195 Designing for cycle traffic (Highways England, 2020)



88

3.3.5 All cycle parking should be in the form of coated or stainless-steel

cycle hoops. The Sheffield type stands demonstrated in Figure 9 exemplify
this standard. An additional crossbar 500mm above the ground must be
provided at locations where children are likely to be regular users. For
example, at schools, libraries, and parks. Other forms of stand (eg. butterfly/
wheel bender/bollard/wave) have been associated with well documented
and unacceptable problems, such as potential damage to wheels.

3.3.6 The council considers double deck cycle parking to be less convenient

than Sheffield type stands and discriminatory for people with low strength.
Those with mobility issues also suffer due to the difficulties involved with
lifting at height. Additionally, limited types of cycles can fit within double-
deck systems in comparison with the Sheffield type stand. Nonetheless,

a small proportion of high quality, hydraulically assisted double deck
systems can be used alongside Sheffield type stands in a limited number
of locations, such as railway stations. This is subject to agreement from the
Local Planning Authority.

3.3.7 These high-quality stands require significantly greater aisle widths

(with @ minimum of 2.5m beyond the lowered frame). Therefore, double
the capacity is not provided. The minimum height requirement to clear
any cycles on the upper deck is 2.6m (as shown in Figure 12). Double deck
parking also requires ongoing maintenance. Evidence of a maintenance
regime should be presented as part of an application. Sufficient Sheffield
type stands must also be provided nearby to cater for the range of cyclists
that are not able to use assisted double deck systems.

—
—

- ——
wwoo9z

=
—

ISOOmm

500mm
2500mm

Figure 12 Double deck stand dimensions

3.3.8 Cargo bikes are increasingly popular for business deliveries, utility and

leisure purposes. Extra-long Sheffield type stands positioned to prevent
trailers blocking adjacent footways, should be provided in locations

where trailers will be commonplace. For example, in town centres, primary
schools, and leisure sites. Cargo bikes, trailers and tricycles are self-
supporting when stationary, yet may require a stand to which they can be
padlocked. This is typically an end stand in a group of stands appropriately
signed. Ground anchors may be an acceptable alternative for self-
supporting cycles.

3.3.9 Additional facilities for cyclists should also be considered when

designing cycle storage locations such as public bike pumps, repairs
stations and charge stations for electric bikes.

3.3.10 Where cycle storage is provided within a standalone store or building,

it must be designed for the exclusive use of cycles and maintained in
perpetuity. Cycle storage areas should be conveniently located with level
access and users should not have to negotiate more than one door with
their cycle (with a minimum width of 1.2m). Cycle Design Vehicle specific
swept-path analysis is expected to demonstrate any proposed paths that
are accessible for a CDV.

18



3.3.11 Where cycle parking is provided to the rear or sides of a building, __ minimum 2000 to edge of aiste
(to permit 2 cycles with overlap on each Sheffield stand)
the access way should be a minimum of 1.5m wide and for a length of no
more than 10m. For longer distances, a wider path is expected. Increased
path widths may be required where paths adjoin buildings or boundary
treatments.

7N

650-750

750-850 min. 550

Tube 45-75
diameter &

3.3.12 Cycle parking for individual dwellings, typically houses, is expected.
This can be either through an internal storage solution as part of an internal [ wina2so T [
non-habitable room, or within a garage or a purpose-built cycle store.
Where rear storage is likely to be required the accessway is expected to be
designed in from the beginning.

Therefore, eliminating the need for cycles to traverse inside the property
from rear to front (and vice versa). The same access way should follow the 1000 1000 1000
standards outlined above.

Figure 13 Sheffield type stand dimensions

% 3.3.13 Sheffield type stands should be spaced in accordance with Figure 13

and Figure 14. The minimum footprint of Sheffield type stands should be
taken as 2.3m x Tm. Sub-standard spacing significantly reduces capacity
and hinders their usage. Sheffield type stands require embedding to a
depth of at least 250mm and concreting into place.

2300

Figure 14 Footprint of parked CDVs
3.3.14 Stands should ideally be installed on level ground. Where stands are

positioned on a slight slope, they should be aligned at right angles to

the slope to prevent bikes from moving. The minimum spacing between -
Sheffield type stands must be 1000mm. This is always measured from the 4 l m
centre line of the stand. Aisles between rows of Sheffield type stands are /} /‘ /
important to allow users to access the stands with their bike. Where stands %, }000 -~

L L — % %, 900mm
are angled, they must ensure a 1000m minimum spacing in between rows O

of Sheffield type stands as per Figure 15.

Figure 15 Stands at 45 degree angle to wall



06

3.3.15 In coastal environments, marine grade stainless steel (SAE 316) is
considered a minimum requirement. This is an expected standard for
developments with close proximity to the coastline, as marine grade
stainless steel has greater resistance to corrosion. Elsewhere, coated steel
should be used.

3.3.16 The use of green roofs is supported on cycle stores as their provision
is more than for aesthetic purposes. They reduce runoff, conserve energy,
reduce pollution, sequester carbon and provide habitat for wildlife.

3.3.17 Three forms of cycle parking are specified:
- Visitor
« Secure covered non-residential
« Secure covered residential

Visitor
3.3.18 Sheffield type stands in a publicly accessible area for visitor parking.
These stands must be in an area with good natural surveillance and in

closest available proximity to the pedestrian entrance to the building they
serve, Figure 16.

Figure 16 Visitor parking example

Secure covered non-residential

3.3.19 For non-residential developments, Sheffield type stands should be
arranged within a robust weatherproof store with a lockable door. The
structure and locking mechanism should be resistant to forced entry. Any
store with plastic or steel mesh panels should have steel bars at sufficient
intervals. This can prevent the removal of cycles via a removed panel.
Authorised users of the store should be provided with keys or contactless
cards to provide access.

3.3.20 The cycle store should be placed in an accessible location near the
entrance. Interior and exterior illumination is necessary. Adequate lighting
should also be provided along the route to the store.

3.3.21 Sheffield type stands within the cycle stores should be
placed in accordance with Figure 19 and Figure 20. Access aisles should
have a minimum width of 1.2m between parked bicycles.
If double stacked cycle parking is proposed, an increase to at least 2.5m
(ideally 3m) depending on the manufacturer’s specification, is required. A
minimum of 2.6m head height is required to ensure the system is usable.
Access doors should have a minimum width of 1.2m. Each cycle space
should be accessible and not obstructed by other cycles in the store.

Figure 17 Secured covered non-residential cycle parking example

20



Secure covered residential

3.3.22 For residential developments, a walk-in store should be constructed
with robust building materials and craft (typically masonry) with a lockable
door. The structure and locking mechanism should be resistant to forced
entry. Authorised users of the store should be provided with keys or
contactless cards to provide access. Padlocks or double doors are not to
be used. If a side hung door cannot be installed, then electrically operated
shutters are acceptable in exceptional circumstances.

3.3.23 The cycle store needs to be in an accessible location at ground level
close to the pedestrian entrance of the building it serves. Interior and
exterior illumination is necessary. Adequate lighting should also be
provided along the route to the store.

16

Figure 18 Residential cycle parking example

3.3.24 Sheffield type stands within the stores should be placed in accordance
with Figure 19 and Figure 20. Any access aisle should have a minimum
width of 1.2m between parked bicycles. Any access door should have a
minimum width of 1.2m. Each cycle space should be accessible and not
obstructed by other cycles in the store.

S50 min 1000c/c 1000c/c

550 min

I

550 min

1
ﬁ

700 + 50
i

CHym
\_/
2300 -
e
o

-oe ALTERNATIVE

AISLE FNTRANCES 1200

1200

DI Lo

Figure 20 Option B Secure covered (inc. residential)

21



c6

3.3.25 Dwellinghouses with front garden cycle sheds are an increasingly
common sight, particularly in terraced neighbourhoods. The council
considers front garden cycle sheds acceptable if they are the minimum
size necessary and exhibit a minimal visual impact on the street. However,
they are unlikely to be acceptable in very small front gardens, in some
conservation areas, and where there is an Article 4 direction in place.

3.3.26 Communal residents cycle parking, sometimes known as bikehangars,
Figure 21, are only considered an acceptable solution where other methods
of cycle provision are not possible. These are typically in existing terraced
properties. Such solutions may require a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) and
the use of a legal agreement secured as part of the planning application.

Figure 218 Communal residential cycle storage

8 The Bikehangar® by Cyclehoop

3.4 Scooter facilities

3.41 Scooters are now a common mode of transport for children and adults

using for leisure trips, school or work travel.

3.4.2 In addition to the expected cycle provision, foot propelled scooter
facilities should be provided within the curtilage of the school sites at
the same ratio. Such facilities should be under cover, in safe well-lit areas,
ideally lockable and near all the main entrances.

3.4.3 Scooter parking generally takes one of two basic forms:

1. Lockable racks — The handle is secured by a catch.
Racks provided in rows looking like a single Sheffield type stand
or held in a ‘mushroom’.

2. Ground stands - The stands grip the wheels.
Stands or pegs can be a cheaper alternative but are generally a
less secure design and may not suit all micro scooter wheel sizes.

3.44 Consideration should be given particularly in universities, colleges,
and sixth forms. Electric micro scooters are likely to be used at these sites
provision should be made for charging facilities within the secure scooter
facility.

3.5 Powered two-wheelers (PTW)

3.5.1 Powered two-wheeler parking should be clearly signed and marked,
indicating that it is reserved for powered two wheelers only

3.5.2 PTW parking should have; dropped kerb access, anchor points, and

natural surveillance. PTW facilities should be illuminated and ideally located

away from drain gratings, manhole covers, studs, cats’ eyes, cobbles and
gravel.

22



3.5.3 PTW parking bays are generally not marked for individual bikes. This
allows flexible and efficient use of limited space by bikes of different sizes.

3.6.3 Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure (EVCI) is a developing
technology. The council expect that connection points are installed in line
with emerging technical requirements and open benchmarks. Connections
conforming to national and/or industry benchmarks such as BS 61851 and
BS 7671 are expected as a default.

3.5.4 Provision should be made to secure PTWs. There are two basic types of

anchor points to which motorcycles can be secured to reduce the risk of
theft:

1. Raised - A horizontal bar is provided at a height of approximately 400-
600mm and requires the user to have their own lock.
Horizontal bars should be welded or fixed with tamper proof bolts.

2. Ground Level — An anchor point below the surface, with a loop
allowing the user’s own lock to be passed through.
Anchor points require regular maintenance and can be dirty to use.

3.6.4 The council requires applications for new development or material
change of use to provide EV charge points that comply with Table 1.

Table 1 EV provision

Percentage of bays
with “active®”
charge point provision

Percentage of bays
with “passive’®”
charge point provision

o 3.6 Electric vehicle charging
w

Residential
development with 20% 80%
less than 10 spaces

3.6.1 Inorder to future proof development ahead of the expected transition
to electric vehicles (EV), the council expects the inclusion of charging points
for electric vehicles in all new developments. Conversions and change of
use applications will be treated on a case by case basis.

Residential
development 50% 50%

ith 10+
3.6.2 The EV charging requirements have been developed according to the W spaces

government’s Road to Zero strategy and the Transport Decarbonisation
Plan alongside BCP Council’s own Carbon Neutrality Strategy. This requires
the council and its operations to be carbon neutral by 2030. The council
must work towards making the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole
region carbon neutral ahead of 2050.

Non-residential
development with 30% 70%
10+ spaces

3.6.5 The EVCl charge requirements increase in line with the number and
intensity of usage as set out in Table 2.

9 Active provision is defined as an actual socket connected to the electrical supply system that vehicle owners can plug their vehicle into.
10 Passive provision is defined as the network of cables and power supply necessary so that at a future date a socket can be added easily.

23



(o)
N

Table 2 Charge point specification

EV charging Charge point Power
requirement specification requirement
Individual 7kw Mode 3 with 230.V AC 32 Amp
fast charge socket Type 2 Connector Single Phase
9 yp dedicated supply
Feeder pillar or 230v AC 32 Amp
Communal . e .
fast charae socket equivalent permitting Single Phase
9 future connection dedicated supply

50kw Mode 4 (DC)
Multi-standard
charge point

Intensive communal
fast charge socket

400v AC 100 Amp
Triple Phase
dedicated supply

3.6.6 Where communal facilities are provided, considered management

practices are expected to resolve. This should be in advance any leasehold
and freehold consents and or responsibilities regarding use, payments,

charges or approvals. Such communal facilities must be capable of

simultaneous use.

3.6.7 The provision of EVCl on-street is permitted in exceptional

circumstances where on site constraints eliminate all other methods of
onsite provision. Details will require agreement with the Local Planning

Authority to ensure that such features do not result in highway safety
issues. Additionally, a TRO will be required for any on-street bays.

3.7 Disabled parking requirements

3.71 To ensure provision of disabled friendly parking spaces, the council
would normally require a level of parking provision for disabled persons.

3.7.2 Parking bays for people with disabilities should be designed to ensure
that drivers and passengers, either of whom may have a disability, can enter
and exit from the car easily and safely. Parking spaces should be 2.6m in
width with a 1.2m wide marked access zone between spaces. A 1.2m wide
safety zone for boot access is also required (as shown in Figure 22).

3.7.3 Alternatively, two standard 2.6m wide spaces with a shared
space of 1.2m between may be considered as per Figure 23.

5m

< >
A
¢ 2.6-m ’
t 5m
4.8 m
A\ 4 v

Figure 22 Disabled bay dimensions

New developments will be encouraged to provide this layout in
commercial car parks.

24



G6

& | &

Figure 23 Alternative disabled bay arrangement

3.74 Disabled parking spaces should be located close to the main pedestrian
entrance to the building it serves, with level pedestrian access across the
entire distance. Parking provision for people with disabilities in on-street
residential locations may be considered.

3.7.5 The level of provision required for both residential and non-residential
(in accordance with best practice guidance) development are outlined in
Appendix A.

3.8 Parking for people with young children

3.8.1 Parents with young children may have difficulties accessing
conventional parking spaces. The provision of dedicated parking should be
considered in retail developments.

3.8.2 Such spaces should be marked with a suitable symbol and located close
to the building. Parking spaces should be 3.6m wide or have a transfer area
1m to one side of a 2.6m standard space as per Figure 24. Where space is
limited, 3.2m wide spaces may be acceptable.

3.8.3 Alternatively, two standard 2.6m wide spaces with a shared
space of Tm between may be considered as per Figure 25.

3.6 .
< m > 3.6m

m 48m m 4.8m

2.6m
< 555 4 \/

Figure 24 Parent and child bay dimensions

2.6 m 1.2m 2.6 m

R
255
55
K
betedete!

K
0055
2R

KR KI5
0
10%e%e]
Koo
‘00

3055
0900 %6%4%
55
R

T
Paletetetetel
K
ot
<
%
5%
RIS

3

K
0%
bt
55

SR
5
0%
o2

K
%!

&
A%
%

s

0&?%

5

KL

bte!

500K

otode%s

S8R5
totetelotetetotete!

%
<

%
%
58
RS
oo

oo et a e e et etatetetele!

020005020 %

>
s
25
o
255
25
2825

KR
s
SRR

%
%
o2,

2
0%
2
"

XS

T

2458

s

55
Eototetettateta!
o

o
25

%S
3
5
o2
o%
X
950
X

IS
KKK
SRS
5
SRS
KRS

m 48m

o,
55
29598
XK
2K
0055
%5
055,
55
255
0RRS

K25
&
o0t
’0
%
<
K
o

KB
25
fate;
fate!
5

o50505e50%8
R
tetetele!

R
o

aoetere!
%5
oo

o

2
QSRRIEEKK,

LA

5
RS
5
5
<

TR
.
et
Seatatotetetetss
Stetototet
XK
RIRSR
SRS
BB

to%e!
otelel

5
%%
R
bo%e!
5
R

z
&
RS
355
t9%s!
ote!
5%
odetetst
55
ot
ool

2%
0%
2505
o%
KK
K
Sotetel
0%
LK
255
KK
0%
Soto%e!
L
Sotte!

%
0%
%5
0249
%X
1249
2K
%X
%
S
R
2%

o%
o
%
s
o

%
%
'S
o2
RS

%

<
o%
o
%
s
%

\4

Figure 25 Alternative parent and child bay dimensions

25



3.9 Underground and multi-storey parking

3.9.1 Parking solutions that incorporate multi-storey car parks above and/or
below ground will be supported in appropriate locations.
For example, locations where a high-quality streetscene is retained. Parking
solutions should be in accordance with the technical guidance offered by
the Institute of Structural Engineers “design recommendations for multi-
storey and underground car parks” (2011) or any future update.

3.9.2 The parking bay sizes for any multi-storey or underground car park
should accord with those set out in this SPD. Additionally, the access road
should be level. Where the land’s topography deems this not possible, a
gradient no greater than 1:20 within the first the 5m from the highway is
required.

& 3.9.3 Basement parking is often preferable to surface parking as it can reduce
the visual dominance of vehicles and can free up green space. Therefore,
enhancing amenity and/ biodiversity. However, surface parking can provide
attractive accessible parking for visitors, disabled drivers and service
vehicles discouraging drivers of those vehicles from parking in unsafe
locations. Therefore, for developments with basement parking and where
on-street parking would cause highway safety and congestion issues some
on-site surface vehicle parking should be provided.

3.94 The need to remove large volumes of earth is a major disadvantage and
this option is often most logical on sloping sites where less excavation is
needed. The entrances to underground and podium car parks should be
located and designed to minimise the impact on the street scene. Flood
risk and land stability should also
be fully considered. There should be a 0.5m raised safety strip either side of
the ramp to protect vehicles and building structures.

3.9.5 Undercroft parking is incorporated into the ground floor of a building

should be enclosed by a wall and grills, as open undercrofts have a

poor appearance. Consequently, problems with security and anti-social
behaviour can emerge. Balconies or roof terraces at first floor level can be
used to counter the deadening impact of parking on the building frontage.
Decorative railings/ grills and planting at the base of the building can also
help to soften the impact.

The council should avoid blank or unattractive elevations and the need for
mechanical ventilation.

3.9.6 Podium car parking with development above enables parts of

the podium roof to be used for green space. For example, communal
roof gardens. The podium creates opportunities for outdoor amenity
and planting, activities that should be maximised. Blank elevations
adjacent to the public realm should be avoided. This can be achieved
through wrapping the podium in active uses or using planted banks.
One disadvantage of this approach is that large and complex structures
can emerge as a result. This may be difficult to adapt and redevelop
incrementally in the future.

3.9.7 Any vehicle parking located behind a vehicle access barrier such as a

gate will be considered as allocated parking as such barriers restrict general
visitor parking.

26



L6

Figure 26 Screened underground parking

Figure 27 Decorative grills

3.9.8 Car stackers and lifts are often suggested as a means of maximising the
space available for off-street car parking. The council accepts the principle
of stackers and lifts in new developments. However, developers should
consider the following points:

where the stacker is accessed directly from the highway, it must not
result in vehicles queuing on the highway

where a stacker is accessed within an off-street car park, and the
spaces are not independently accessible, there must be adequate
circulation space to allow vehicles to wait without blocking the free
flow of traffic either within the car park or on the highway

the council may impose a condition relating to the maintenance of
the stacker on the grant of any planning permission

car lifts should only be considered where it's not possible to install
ramps to basement car parks

EV charging facilities are not generally compatible with car lifts or
stackers

parking spaces accessed via a car lift or car stacker will only be
considered as allocated parking bays.

27



86

4 Parking standards

4.1 Zonal approach

4.1.1 The parking standards are applied on a hierarchical zonal basis within
the BCP area, reflecting differing accessibility levels. These are shown in
Figure 28.

Zone A — Main centres

4.1.2 Zone A comprises an approximate 400 metre boundary (5-minute walk)
around Bournemouth Town Centre, Christchurch Town Centre, Poole Town
Centre, and the Boscombe and Westbourne District Centres. The areas in
this zone have a high degree of accessibility to public transport, services,
shops and other facilities. Car ownership in these locations is far lower than
the BCP average.

Zone B — District centres

4.1.3 The District Centres of Ashley Cross, Ashley Road, Boscombe East,
Broadstone, Castlepoint, Charminster, Hamworthy, Highcliffe, Hinton
Admiral, Kinson, Moordown, Springbourne, Southbourne, Tuckton, Turlin
Moor, Winton and Wallisdown have good local services, shops and other
facilities or are in close proximity to a mainline rail station. These facilities
are generally smaller and have lower accessibility levels than the centres in
Zone A.

4.1.4 The provision of bus services is generally lower than in Zone A. Car
ownership is higher but remains generally lower than the BCP average. An
approximate 400 metres boundary (5-minute walk) has again been applied
around these District Centres.

Zone C — Business hubs

4.1.5 There are several major employment and education centres across the
BCP area, and these have been specifically identified as it is important to
ensure that these locations do not become car dependant. The council will
seek to enhance the attractiveness of public transport and active travel in
these locations.

Zone D— Suburban/rural locations

4.1.6 The remainder of the council’s administrative area is considered
suburban or rural in nature. The lowest level of access to public transport,
services and facilities is demonstrated. These less accessible areas are
where car ownership is at its highest.

28



66

Figure 28 BCP Council Parking Zones map

4 - Filfard ¥ i
\ I
; 3 waTcHAMS sisTERNE
) : N2 e ; v
T )8 ! e F) o o i
- Goleni
i ~, S D i
fm
s £ Canford Cd
R KnNoBCROOK Soden
N 2 Staponit K Oeiges i AVON TYRAELL
» 1] Cound 3 g oM l
g 2 4 it ) i
'3 Wimbarme N 3 e
Pamphill + Minster A A
wipoRkE
Cowarove MINSTER Leigh i Norih Kip ey THORNEY HiLL
| PR .
5, A3
e 5 nomne) 7]
é % e !
Ripley % A
s
van 15Y &
(= HOLMSLEY,
0
S
oubsBURY oA
o
Vo
ConiPailey Sramsgore
2 1
H NPy 2 g\
w )
¥ K .2 vy
B
wekcRorT ossemsi
’, Corfe Mullen
<.,
-
Y
3 seckt
,,
o
s
I s Hint
intan
Ao
acon il il View
%

BCP Parking Zones
I Zone A
B Zone B
Zone C
[ Zone D

20

e

Contains OS data © Crown Copyright and databa?:" right 20,

www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/parkingspdzones 29



00T

4.2 Optimum parking figures

4.2.1 The figures in the following tables reflect a summary of best available

evidence regarding the likely parking demand requirement for most use
classes for across a range of modes.

4.2.2 In determining the parking standards, the underlying principle was that

areas, which already or potentially have a high-level access to facilities and
typically lower car ownership, would be expected to adopt more rigorous
parking standards.

4.2.3 The figures are presented in spaces per square metre of Gross Floor

Area (GFA) of buildings unless otherwise indicated. GFA is defined as
the total area of a building, including the areas of any floors/storeys, as
measured externally. In calculating parking provision, due allowance
has been made for the parts of buildings that are not available for

the predominant use. For example, lift shafts, stair wells, plant rooms,
circulation space and more.

4.2.4 When calculating parking provision, fractions of spaces (where shown)

should be rounded to the nearest whole number. For cycle parking

a minimum of one stand (effectively two spaces) is to be provided.

Cycle provision for change of use or conversion of existing properties
applications will be assessed on its merits, on a case by case basis. In the
presence of constrained sites (where on site provision is not feasible), the
LPA expects cycle parking to be provided through alternative means,
preferably in the form of communal parking schemes (eg bikehangar).

1

Manual for Streets (DfT, 2007)

4.2.5 Where a building is in mixed use (eg shops and flats), the appropriate
parking provision will be considered for each individual use. In the
presence of ancillary uses to the main premises (eg office and store
ancillary to a shop), the appropriate parking provision for the whole
building/buildings will be that attributable to the main use.

4.2.6 The council’s preferred approach to car parking in developments is
unallocated parking provision. Research has suggested that this results
in the most efficient use of spaces'. In residential developments where
more than 50% of car parking is allocated to individual dwellings, a visitor
car parking allowance of an additional 1 space per 5 dwellings should be
provided. In all other types of developments, visitor parking allowance is
included within the figures.

4.2.7 The following tables provides the parking standards against which
all new development within the BCP Council area will be assessed. The
standards apply to all categories of development for which planning
permission is required (new developments, conversions, change of use).
The tables provide standards for all appropriate land uses within the Use
Classes under the Town & Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as
amended).

4.2.8 For most commercial and retail uses in Zone A zero car parking will
be acceptable as this will encourage commuting workers, shoppers,
and visitors to use the good sustainable travel options available in these
locations. The public car parks in these locations will be available for those
who choose to arrive by car.

30



Parking standards by Use Classes

Table 3 B2: General industrial

Use for any industrial process (excluding incineration purposes, chemical treatment or landfill or hazardous waste).

Cars: . . Cycle spaces -
staff and visitor Loading and servicing (minimum of one stand) Minibus/coach PTW
Servicing Management Secure covered (staff): Nil:
Agreement 0.35/100 m? I
Zone A 1/100 m? g . To b'e agreed use public
HGV: 1 /500 m? Public (visitor/staff overflow): with LPA car parking
minimum of 1 space 0.2/100 m?
Zone B 1/100 m?
[0)
Zone C 1.5/100 m? As above As above As above 1:5%
of car spaces
Zone D 1.75/100 m?
'_\
2
Table 4 B8: Storage and distribution Not open to the public. This class includes open air storage.
Cars: Loading and servicin e Minibus/coach PTW
staff and visitor 9 9 (minimum of one stand)
Servicing Management Secure covered (staff):
Agreement 0.2/ 100 m? 9
All Zones 0.5/100 m?2 d . To b.e agreed 1.5%
HGV: 1/250 m? Public (visitor/staff overflow): with LPA of car spaces

minimum of 1 space

0.1 /100 m?

31



Table 5 C1: Hotels and guest houses Hotels, boarding and guest houses - where no significant element of care is provided (excludes hostels).

Figures apply to resident facilities only; non-resident facilities are treated separately.

Cars: . . Cycle spaces .

staff and visitor Loading and servicing (minimum of one stand) Minibus/coach PTW

Zone A 0.5 per bed
Secure covered (staff):
Zone B 0.75 per bed 0.15 / bedroom 1.5%
To be agreed with LPA S 0.05 / bedroom
Zone C 1 per bed Public (visitor/staff overflow): 0.05 of car spaces
/ bedroom

Zone D 1 per bed

C2: Residential institutions
= Residential care homes, hospitals, nursing homes, boarding schools, residential colleges and training centres.

c0

Table 6 C2: Hospitals, C2: Schools and colleges and C2A Secure residential institutions
For detention centres, short term holding centres, secure hospitals, secure local authority accommodation etc please contact local planning authority.

Cars: . . Cycle spaces -
staff and visitor Loading and servicing (minimum of one stand) Minibus/coach PTW
. Secure covered (staff):
i i Tob d with LPA
All zones Stiff {I-fgll2222de (-qi-upl)\:)l\?i?ito(:-:’-cfz Toi T de ?‘gr'?i' WfI loadi 0.2/FTE statff Minibus to be 1.5%
L 0 Include factlities for: foading, ic (visi : agreed with LPA of car spaces
mobility scooters drop-off/pick-up, ambulance Public (V|5|tor/stba;overﬂow). 0.05/ 9 P

32



€0T

Table 7 C2: Nursing and care homes

Cars: . . Cycle spaces -
staff and visitor Loading and servicing (G CEE A Minibus/coach PTW
. Secure covered (staff):
i i To be agreed with LPA
All zones Oftsaf/'ff: I(l)t;;/izgtiv;ls\r/]itsgzzlz) To include fagcilities for: loading 02/ FTE staft Minibus to be 1%
R : ¢ ic (visi : agreed with LPA of car spaces
for mobility scooters drop-off/pick-up, ambulance Public (wsﬂor/;ts(:fdoverﬂow). 0.05 g P
Table 8 C2: Sheltered housing (specialist elderly person’s accommodation)
Sles Loading and servicin Selagpress Minibus/coach PTW
staff and visitor 9 9 (minimum of one stand)
Secure covered residential
i i Tob d with LPA .
0.25 / full time equivalent (FTE) O be agreed wi (resident/staff): Minibus to be 15%

All zones

staff + 0.25/bed + provision for
mobility scooters

To include facilities for: loading,
drop-off/pick-up, ambulance

0.15 / FTE staff
+ Public (visitor) 0.05 / bed

agreed with LPA

of car spaces

33



0T

C3: Dwellings InTables 9 and 10 residential parking requirements are set out by habitable rooms (HR). A habitable room is defined by the census as “the number
of rooms in a household’s accommodation” The term “does not include bathrooms, toilets, halls or landings, or rooms that can only be used for storage”

Table 9 C3: Flats

Number of habitable rooms Cars: residents and visitor Loading and Cycle spaces all zones Minibus/coach PTW
(bedroom equivalent) ZoneA | ZoneB | ZoneC | ZoneD servicing (minimum of one stand) all zones
1-2 HR (studio/1 bed) 0 0 1 1 Secure covered residential:
To be agreed 1/ unit Minibus to be add 1.5%
3 HR (2 bed) 0 0 ! ! with LPA Public (visitor): agreed with LPA of car spaces
4 HR or more (3 bed+) 0 1 2 2 0.1/ unit
Table 10 C3: Houses
Number of habitable rooms Cars: residents and visitor Loading and Cycle spaces all zones Minibus/coach PTW
(bedroom equivalent) ZoneA | ZoneB | ZoneC | ZoneD servicing (minimum of one stand) all zones
1-2 HR (1 bed) 0 0 1 1
Secure covered residential:
3 HR (2 bed) 0 1 1 1 To be agreed 1/ unit Minibus to be add 1.5%
4 HR (3 bed) 0 1 2 2 with LPA Public (visitor): agreed with LPA of car spaces
0.1/ unit
5 HR or more (4 bed+) 0 1 2 2

Table 11 C3: Holiday accommodation (holiday flats, self-catering apartments and serviced apartments)

All zones

1 per unit

To be agreed with LPA.

1/ unit
Public (visitor): 0.1 / unit

Cars: . . Cycle spaces .

staff and visitor Loading and servicing (minimum of one stand) Minibus/coach PTW
Secure covered residential: L

Minibus to be 1.5%

agreed with LPA

of car spaces

34



Table 12 C4: Houses in multiple occupation Use of a dwellinghouse by 3-6 residents as a‘’house in multiple occupation’ (HMO) NB: Large HMOs (more

than 6 people) are unclassified therefore sui generis

All zones

Cars: . . Cycle spaces -
residents and visitor LG S e (minimum of one stand) Tl Ve IEn PTW
Secure covered residential:
0.5 / habitable room Minibus to be 1.5%

1 per HMO

To be agreed with LPA.

Public (visitor):
0.01 / habitable room

agreed with LPA

of car spaces

Class E: Commercial, business and services (principally to visiting members of the public)

Shops, financial and professional services, restaurants, and cafés, gyms, health centres, créches, nurseries and indoor sports/recreation facilities.

SOT

Table 13 Class E: Clinics, health centres, doctors, dentists, vets

Cars: . - Cycle spaces all zones -
staff and visitor Loading and servicing (minimum of one stand) Minibus/coach PTW
Zone A 1/ treatment room
Zone B 2/ treatment room Public (visitor/staff): To be agreed 1.5%
To be agreed with LPA 0.5 / treatment or ith LPA f )
Zone C 2/ treatment room consulting room wit ofcarspaces
Zone D 3/ treatment room

35



Table 14 Class E: Creches/day nurseries

<taff an sisitor Loading and servicing (mininfﬂe;fjrfzsstan g Minibus/coach PTW
Zone A 0.1/ fuI(I Ft_ir?)esgqflfjivalent
Zone B 0.3/ FTE staff Servicing Management Creches/day nurseries:
‘Agreement Secur(()e ;:;Jvirﬁs; f:f\;ered: To b_i ;E;:ed o C;Ei‘?aces
zone ¢ 0.4/ FTE staff t%ilcr:]lf-ljs;edigupqzrf‘ft Public (vi.sito/r): 0.05 / FTE staff "
Zone D 0.6 / FTE staff

(0]

® Table 15 Class E: Indoor sports halls

Cars:

Cycle spaces

staff and visitor Loading and servicing Giifieit i 6heme sl Minibus/coach PTW
Public (visitor/staff): To be agreed Ni:
2 . : '
Zone A 2/100m To be agreed with LPA 0.07 / persons with LPA use pub.llc
car parking
Zone B 3/100 m?
1.5%
Zone C 4/100 m? As above As above As above
of car spaces
Zone D 45/100 m?

36



Table 16 Class E: Offices and businesses Including financial services such as banks and building societies, professional services (other than health and

medical services) and estate/employment agencies.

Cars: . . Cycle spaces -
staff and visitor Loading and servicing (minimum of one stand) Minibus/coach PTW
Servicing Management Secure Covered (staff): Nil:
Zone A Nil: Agreement 1.0/100 m2 To be agreed Use plljblic
use public car park HGV: 1 /500 m? Public (visitor/staff): with LPA car parking
minimum of 1 space 0.2/ 100 m?
Zone B 1/100 m?
[0)
Zone C 2/100 m? As above As above As above of c;rissp/)oaces
Zone D 2.5/100 m?
o
~ Table 17 Class E: Restaurants and cafes For the sale of food and drink, for consumption on the premises.
Cars: Loading and servicin Srak s Minibus/coach PTW
staff and visitor 9 9 (minimum of one stand)
Servicing Management Nil:
Zone A Nil: Agreement Public (visitor/staff): To be agreed Use Iu.blic
use public car park HGV: 1/500 m? 1.5/100 m* with LPA car pr;rking
minimum of 1 space
Zone B 1/100 m?
[0)
Zone C 3/100 m? As above As above As above of c;:r.ip/:aces
Zone D 4/100 m?

37



80T

Table 18 Class E: Retail Shops, food stores, retail warehouses, hairdressers, travel & ticket agencies, post offices, pet shops, sandwich bars, showrooms, domestic

hire shops, dry cleaners, funeral directors.

Cars: . . Cycle spaces .
staff and visitor Loading and servicing (L A Minibus/coach PTW
Servicing Management Nil:
Nil: Agreement Public (visitor/staff): To be agreed "
Zone A . ) . use public
use public car park HGV: 1/ 1000 m? 1.5/100 m with LPA .
. car parking
minimum of 1 space
Zone B 1/100 m?
1.5%
Zone C 3/100 m? As above As above As above
of car spaces
Zone D 4/100 m?

38



60T

Class F.1: Learning and non-residential institutions (buildings regularly in wider public use)
Schools, art galleries, museums, libraries, public halls, places of worship, church halls, law courts. Non-residential education and learning facilities.

Table 19 F.1: Conference centres

Cars: . - Cycle spaces -
staff and visitor Loading and servicing (minimum of one stand) Minibus/coach PTW
Nil: Public (visitor/staff): To be agreed Nil:
Zone A L To be agreed with LPA ' € a9 use public
use public car park 0.07 / persons with LPA .
car parking
Zone B 0.1/ seat
1.5%
Zone C 0.2/ seat As above As above As above
of car spaces
ZoneD 0.2 /seat
Table 20 F.1: Higher education (HE) and further education (FE) facilities
Cars: Loading and servicin G781 geriess Minibus/coach PTW
staff and visitor 9 9 (minimum of one stand)
Zone A 0.1/ full time equivalent o )
(FTE) staff FE & HE puplis.tsedcur(: covered: 0.5
Servicing Management studen 0
ZoneB 0.3 / FTE staff Agreement to include student FE & HE staff: secure covered: 0.15 To b'e agreed 1:5%
. with LPA of car spaces
Zone C 0.4/ FTE staff pick-up/drop-off / FTE staff
Zone D 0.6 / FTE staff Public (visitor): 0.05 / FTE staff

39



OTT

Table 21 F.1: Public libraries, churches, art galleries, museums, places of worship, law courts, public exhibition halls
cars: Loading and servicin Cycle spaces all zones Minibus/coach PTW
staff and visitor 9 9 (minimum of one stand)
Zone A 2/100 m?
Zone B 3/100 m? ic (Vi . 0
To be agreed with LPA Public (VISItOf/SZtaff). To b'e agreed 1.5%

Zone C 4/100 m2 1.2/100m with LPA of car spaces
Zone D 5/100 m?

Table 22 F.1: Schools

Loading and servicing

Cycle spaces
(minimum of one stand)

Minibus/coach

PTW

Cars:
staff and visitor
Zone A 0.1/ fU'(lFt_iI_fE)e;:foJivalent
Zone B 0.3/ FTE staff
Zone C 0.4 / FTE staff
Zone D 0.6 / FTE staff

Servicing Management
Agreement
to include student
pick-up/drop-off

Primary pupils*:
secure covered: 0.1 / student
Primary staff
secure covered: 0.15 / FTE staff
Public (visitor): 0.05 / FTE staff

Secondary pupils:
secure covered: 0.25 / student
Secondary staff:
secure covered: 0.15 / FTE staff
Public (visitor): 0.05 / FTE staff

Creches/day nurseries:
secure covered: covered:
0.15 / FTE staff

Public (visitor): 0.05 / FTE staff

To be agreed
with LPA

1.5%
of car spaces

* Micro scooter storage is also required for primary schools: 0.1/student

40



Class F.2 local community uses (used principally by the local community)
Small local shops and community halls, outdoor leisure/sports, indoor or outdoor swimming pools, or skating rinks.

Table 23 Class F.2: Community halls

Cars: . . Cycle spaces -
staff and visitor Loading and servicing (minimum of one stand) Minibus/coach PTW
Public (visitor/staff): To be agreed Nil:
5 . : .
Zone A 2/100m To be agreed with LPA 0.07 / persons with LPA use pulgllc
car parking
Zone B 3/100 m?
1.5%
Zone C 4/100 m? As above As above As above
of car spaces
= Zone D 4.5/100 m?

Table 24 Class F.2: Retail Shops up to 280sqm selling essential goods, including food, and at least 1km radius from another similar shop.

Cars: : . Cycle spaces -
staff and visitor Loading and servicing (minimum of one stand) Minibus/coach PTW
Servicing Management Nil:
Nil: Agreement Public (visitor/staff): To be agreed "
Zone A . 5 . use public
use public car park HGV: 1/ 1000 m? 1.5/100 m with LPA .
o car parking
minimum of 1 space
Zone B 1/100 m?
[0)
Zone C 3/100 m? As above As above As above 1.5%
of car spaces
Zone D 4/100 m?




AN

Table 25 Class F2: Stadia

Cars: . . Cycle spaces -
staff and visitor Loading and servicing (minimum of one stand) Minibus/coach PTW
s . 1/ 120 spectators Nil:
Zone A 0.02 per spectator To be agreed with LPA Public {visitor/staff): to be agreed use public
0.07 / spectator. . .
with LPA car parking
Zone B 0.03 per spectator
[0)
Zone C 0.05 per spectator As above As above As above 1.5%
of car spaces
Zone D 0.07 per spectator

42



€Tt

Sui Generis

Certain uses do not fall within any use class and are considered ‘sui generis Such uses include student accommodation, theatres, hostels providing no significant

element of care and scrap yards. Petrol filling stations and showrooms selling and/or displaying motor vehicles. Wholesalers, nightclubs, launderettes, taxi businesses,
amusement centres and casinos. For such developments not listed, please contact the local planning authority.

Table 26 Sui generis Drinking establishments Public houses, wine bars or other drinking establishments (but not night clubs).

Cars: . . Cycle spaces -
staff and visitor Loading and servicing (minimum of one stand) Minibus/coach PTW
Servicing Management Nil:
Nil: Agreement Public (visitor/staff) To be agreed "
Zone A . 5 . use public
use public car park HGV: 1/ 500 m?2 1.5/100 m with LPA .
o car parking
minimum of 1 space
Zone B 2/100 m?
1.5%
Zone C 4/100 m? As above As above As above
of car spaces
Zone D 6/100 m?

Table 27 Sui generis Garage showrooms

Cars:

Cycle spaces

Sl e Loading and servicing (T A ] Minibus/coach PTW
Zone A 0.2/100 m?
Zone B 0.25/100 m? 0
To be agreed with LPA 0.1/100 m? To b'ehagreed f 1.5%
Zone C 3/100 m2 with LPA of car spaces
Zone D 5/100 m?

43



4%

Table 28 Sui generis Garage workshops

Cars: . . Cycle spaces -
staff and visitor Loading and servicing (minimum of one stand) Minibus/coach PTW
Zone A 1/100 m?
Zone B 1.5/100 m? )
To be agreed with LPA 0.1/100 m? To b'ehagreed ¢ 1.5%
Zone C 2/100 m2 with LPA of car spaces
Zone D 2.5/100 m?
Table 29 Sui generis: Hot food takeaways For the sale of hot food for consumption off the premises.
Cars: Loading and servicin OTBISELIE Minibus/coach PTW
staff and visitor 9 9 (minimum of one stand)
Zone A Nil: To be agreed Public (visitor/staff): To be agreed useNIlIJ:inc
use public car park with LPA 1.5/100 m? with LPA pub
car parking
Zone B 1/100 m?
1.5%
Zone C 4/100 m? As above As above As above
of car spaces
Zone D 6/100 m?

44



GTT

Table 30 Sui generis Large houses in multiple occupation (HMOs) (more than 6 people)

Cars: . . Cycle spaces -
staff and visitor Loading and servicing (minimum of one stand) Minibus/coach PTW
Secure covered residential:
1/ habitable room
. Minimum 1 space Minibus to be 1.5%
All zones 1 per HMO To be agreed with LHA agreed with LHA of car spaces

Public (visitor):
0.01 / habitable room

Table 31 Sui generis Student accommodation
Purpose-built student accommodation is defined as a‘hall of residence’ with typically a cluster-flat arrangement, usually a warden facility and other communal

facilities, such as shared kitchens and bathrooms’2.

Cars:

Cycle spaces

residents and visitor HeEE g Elel SERT Sl (minimum of one stand) L VY e E PTW
Zone A Nil: use public car park
Zone B Nil: use public car park Secure Covered Residential:
. . 1 0,
: : To be agreed with LPA 1/ unit Tobe agL]IrDeAed with of cz:r.ip/:aces
Zone C Nil: use public car park Public (visitor): 0.1 / unit
Zone D 1 per unit

12 In the case of student accommodation, suitable car club provision will be considered an acceptable alternative to on-site car parking.

45



o1

Table 32 Sui generis Theatres, cinemas, concert halls, bingo halls, and dance halls

Cars: . . Cycle spaces .
staff and visitor Loading and servicing (G CEE A Minibus/coach PTW
Nil: Public (visitor/staff): To be agreed Nil:
Zone A S To be agreed with LPA ) a9 use public
use public car park 0.07 / persons with LPA .
car parking
Zone B 0.1/ seat
[0)
Zone C 0.2/ seat As above As above As above 1:5%
of car spaces
Zone D 0.2/ seat
~ Table 33 Sui generis Wholesalers open to the public
Cars: Loading and servicin Siak s Minibus/coach PTW
staff and visitor 9 9 (minimum of one stand)
Zone A 0.5/100 m?
Zone B 1/100 m? 0
To be agreed with LPA 0.1/100 m? To b'e agreed 1.5%
Zone C 1.5/ 100 m2 with LPA of car spaces
Zone D 2/100 m?

46



LTT

4.3 Variation from the parking standards

4.3.1 The Local Development Plan provides the policy basis for determining
planning applications. The council will expect proposals to incorporate
all requirements and measures to mitigate harmful impacts on the wider
transport network.

4.3.2 |If there is any departure from the standards set out in this SPD, such as
providing a shortfall or overprovision of parking, this will require robust
and evidence-based justification to vary the parking requirements. The
council can also request an assessment on individual sites of local parking
and traffic conditions, in order to consider the risks to highway safety as a
result of the proposed variation.

4.3.3 A parking survey and assessment of the level of ‘parking stress’ (number
of parked vehicles as a percentage of the number of standard available
parking spaces) is a preferred method of analysis. An on-street parking
stress surveys and assessment will be required at the council’s discretion in
order to assess the potential magnitude the displacement impact (if any)
would have on the parking stress on the nearby streets, and consequently
how the impact (if any) from the displacement onto the highway will be
mitigated. Further guidance is available in the council’s Parking Survey and
Assessment Note in Appendix C.

47



8TT

5 Other considerations

5.1 Loading and servicing

5.1.1 Loading and servicing can impact the efficiency of on-site operations,
road safety, congestion levels on surrounding roads and the amenity of the
area.

5.1.2 Loading and servicing requirements may be unique to a site. Activities
should be arranged to minimise, while aiming to avoid and adverse
impacts on the site and surrounding areas. Where loading and servicing
provision is required, clear signs must be provided to avoid being utilised
as an overflow parking area for cars.

5.1.3 Development proposals should make provision for loading and
servicing activities as follows:

- Demonstrate that loading and servicing activities for the site can occur
without disruption to pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles;
both on and off the site.

«  Where no designated areas/bays are provided on-site for loading and
servicing activities, the applicant must demonstrate the procedure of
loading and servicing. This can be presented in a delivery servicing plan,
or parking management plan.

514 In considering planning applications, the council will control the hours
of delivery and/or define routes for delivery activities. This reinforces the
council’s aim of minimising intrusion and disturbance and/or limiting the
impact of deliveries on the road network. Out of peak hours, deliveries are
the default for all loading and servicing arrangements within Zone A and
Zone B.

5.1.5 Asdemand for last-mile deliveries grows the council recognises the
need for freight consolidation and consolidation centres.
To support this the council encourages the use of newer and quieter

delivery vehicles, particularly e-cargo bikes, as well as collaboration
between logistic providers.

5.1.6 Further advice on service vehicle provision can be found in the Freight
Transport Association’s publication “Designing for Deliveries”.

5.2 Shared parking

5.2.1 Shared use may result in a reduction of the number of parking spaces,
which will be considered on a site by site basis.

5.2.2 Conflict should not occur so long as the shared use developments
operate at differing times of day or days of the week, unless the
development is considered ancillary to other activities. For example, food
and drink within a retail area.

5.3 Mobility scooters

5.3.1 Consideration should be given to safe covered storage and charging
points for mobility scooters, electric wheelchairs and similar mobility
aids. This is especially important when designing retirement or warden-
controlled developments.

5.4 Coaches and minibus

5.4.1 Developments that are likely to generate coach traffic must provide
appropriate off-street parking facilities for the stopping, setting down
and picking up of passengers. Appropriate turning facilities (avoiding
the requirement for coaches to reverse in or out of a site where possible,
taking into consideration highway and pedestrian safety) should also be
provided.

48



6TT

5.4.2 In cases where designated bus bay pick-up/drop-off is considered
acceptable, it should ensure adequate space for entry and exit tapers.

5.5 Car clubs and car sharing

5.5.1 A car club allows members to hire a car on an hourly basis for occasional
short-term use. Membership of a car club removes the costs of vehicle
purchase, parking permits, vehicle excise duty, MOT, maintenance and
insurance.

5.5.2 When effectively managed, car clubs have been shown to reduce
car ownership, and particularly ownership of second cars. This can help
to reduce traffic and parking pressure. Therefore, the council wishes to
promote the use of accredited car clubs. BCP Council has an existing car
club network in place, therefore new developments that include a car club
would be expected to join the council’s preferred supplier. A TRO will be
required for any on-street car
club bays.

5.5.3 Nationally, lessons™ have been learned regarding how to operate
successful car clubs. Several key elements are recognised as being crucial to
the success of car clubs:

+ high density housing

« commercial users

+ parking restrictions

« property development

+ supportive Local Authority

« designated on-street parking bay(s)

13 Car-Clubs-in-New-Developments (CoMo, 2016)

AR CLUB OW\_X

Figure 29 Car club bay

5.5.4 The location of car clubs is crucial to their success. Large commercial
users facilitate the use of the car club during the daytime. This occurs
when residents are at work, with residents who use the vehicles mainly in

evenings and weekends. This ensures commercial viability of the car club
and its long-term sustainability.

5.5.5 Car clubs function efficiently by complementing other sustainable travel
modes rather than acting as a standalone solution. Therefore, car clubs
will generally be supported for developments within the Main Centres and
Local Centres (Zones A and B), ensuring that viability can be demonstrated.
In the right location car clubs can be used alongside provision for active
travel and strong parking restrictions to enable lower car ownership and
use. However, car clubs should not be primarily used to overcome a parking
shortfall. Further advice is available from the CoMo website.

5.5.6 Car sharing can be an effective way of reducing single person car trips.
It considers those who do not feel that walking, cycling or public transport

is a viable alternative mode.

5.5.7 Provision of car sharing bays should be based on forecast modal splits

49



0cT

associated with the development. This could be based on a variety of
assessment methodologies. For example, surveys carried out as part of
the travel plan process, the TRICS trip generation and analysis database,
employer held data on employee travel behaviour, or journey to work
census data.

5.5.8 The provision of car sharing bays should be in a preferential location,
usually within proximity to the site entrance. Such bays should be provided
from the outset, as travel patterns can struggle with change once they have
become established. Car share bays are not counted as additional spaces
and should be clearly marked as being for car share use only.

5.5.9 To ensure the success of the car sharing scheme, details must be
provided to state how car sharing bays are expected to be managed. For
example, organisations may wish to organise a bespoke scheme or buy into
an existing car share scheme.

5.5.10 The benefits to employers from promoting car sharing can be
significant, resulting in less land required for car parking.

5.6 Holiday accommodation

5.6.1 Holiday accommodation such as holiday flats, self-catering apartments
and serviced apartments often experience difficulties with their parking
needs.

5.6.2 Conflict is most common when holiday accommodation is proposed
alongside residential development. This is due to the irregular occupancy
and the lower turnover of parking spaces that holiday accommodation
exhibits.

5.6.3 Where residential accommodation and holiday accommodation are
proposed as part of the same development (or site), the council expects

parking provision for holiday accommodation. Requirements include
being on-site, on an allocated basis, grouped together and annotated as
specifically for use of the holiday accommodation

units only.

5.7 Drainage

5.71 Residential car parking can contribute to sustainable water
management. Appropriate design ensures that surfaces are permeable
and help to reduce the overall impact of development on the wider
environment, thus enabling it to be available for use at all times. Such
sustainable urban drainage systems (SuDS) are expected in accordance
with the council’s adopted SuDS policy.

5.7.2 Rain gardens and swales are particularly encouraged in parking
applications. The motivation is to soften the impact of large areas of
blacktop often associated with parking. Similarly, tree planting is expected,
and permeable paving may be suitable in some circumstances.

5.7.3 Any proposed SuDS must take into account a range of guidance. For
example, Environment Agency guidance, and any published Local Strategic
Flood Risk Assessment and provide appropriate arrangements for their
future maintenance. Within 400m of cliff tops and steep slopes, there is a
presumption against the use of soakaways. As a result, alternative measures
will be required.

574 Where a new vehicular access is proposed, provision should be made in

the design of the accessway. This can ensure that no surface water or loose
material drains/spills directly from the site onto the highway.

50



TZT

5.8 School Streets

5.8.1 School Streets involve temporarily closing one or more roads
surrounding a school. The roads can become pedestrian and cyclist only
zones at set times in the morning and afternoon during term time (not
including bank holidays). During these restricted times, motor vehicles
are not permitted to enter the street during the specified times. Valid
exemptions will be considered in exceptional circumstances.

5.8.2 Any vehicle already inside the School Street Zone when the restriction
begins will be able to leave without penalty. Emergency services, residents,
businesses and blue badge holders are exempt from the restriction.

5.8.3 The council supports the principle of School Streets. The council
particularly encourages their usage when developing new school and
existing schools. This can significantly increase the pupil numbers who walk
and cycle to school.

5.9 Controlled Parking Zones (CPZs)
and Residents Parking Schemes (RPS)

5.9.1 A Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) is an area where parking regulations
have been introduced to deal with various parking problems. Designated
parking bays are provided with signs indicating their use. Yellow line
restrictions — single and double — apply outside the designated bays.
Resident Parking Schemes (RPS) are similar to a CPZ, although only apply to
individual streets.

5.9.2 Controlled parking is a useful way of ensuring that the needs of
stakeholders are efficiently managed for the benefit of all. Controlled
parking reduces traffic and congestion for residents. It can allow the flow of
traffic and emergency vehicles through streets with high levels of parking
demand. It is also used by businesses to provide efficient deliveries and

servicing. Controlled parking also encourages shoppers and visitors to
support local businesses.

Figure 30 Parking restriction signage

5.9.3 Where developments are provided with very low or zero parking
provision, it may be necessary to ensure that future residents do not have
access to resident permits. However, special consideration is available for
those in specific criteria such as disabled users. This is secured via a legal
agreement as part of the planning application.

5.9.4 The council is considering implementing appropriate parking controls
such as CPZs to prevent inappropriate parking taking place, particularly at
the boundaries between parking zones. For certain developments, existing
parking controls could be enlarged, or alternatively new parking controls
can be created. This can help to ensure that the development remains car
free. These would be secured via a legal agreement as part of the planning
process.

51



act

5.10 Visibility at accesses

5.10.1 The visibility splays at junctions and site accesses must ensure that
there is adequate inter-visibility between vehicles on the major and minor
arms. Key factors in determining visibility requirements include traffic
speeds, traffic volumes and road configuration on the major road.

5.10.2 For drivers, visibility is required at accesses to allow safe and efficient
egress from a junction. This should be based on vehicle speeds on the
major road and the relevant stopping sight distances (SSDs) for those
vehicles. Researchinto SSDs for cars derived the appropriate SSDs (in
metres) for streets."

Main Road Speed (mph) 10 15 20 25 30 37

Stopping sight distance (m) 11 17 25 33 43 59

(adjusted for bonnet length)

5.10.3 Increased SSD distances to the above may be required in
certain circumstances:

« where the major arm approach road has steep gradients affecting
vehicle stopping speed.

« where there are significant traffic flows of buses or heavy goods vehicles
(5% or more of total flow). These vehicles have different stopping
characteristics to cars.

5.10.4 When a vehicle stops at a junction, the driver position is typically 2.4m
back from stop line (or highway kerb for site accesses). Therefore, an “X”
distance requirement of 2.4m measured into the minor access should be
applied when measuring visibility of vehicles on the main road (as shown in
Figure 31).

Possible features Alternative left-hand visability splay if vehicles approaching
preventing vehicles from from the left are unable to cross the centre line

crossing centre line
-/ ¥ distance "

Y distance -
/ z
El::—:;_;_— — / — — — e — — — — — — — —
— ——____--E----_ e —_—_—_:l———— i___-— *—
% e ] Xdistance
B S A -
Left-hand / T "~ Right-hand
visability splay | visability splay

Figure 31 Junction visiblity

5.10.5 If an “X" distance of less than 2.4m is used, the front of some vehicles
will have to protrude into the carriageway of the main road. This allows the
driver to view traffic on the main road. It is likely to cause increase dangers
for vehicles, particularly on busy roads and for motorcycles. Additionally,
wide vehicles and cyclists who may travel close to the kerb or where narrow
major road lanes exist, forcing vehicles towards the kerb line.

52



XA

5.10.6 A relaxation of the “X” distance down to 2m may be allowed where the 5.11 Road adoption

major arm characterlstics are: 5.11.1 Where roads will serve new developments of five or more, streets will be

»  slow speed (less than 25mph) required to be constructed to an adoptable standard.

+ lightly trafficked (less than 2000 vehicles per day)

5.11.2 Streets that are not constructed to an adoptable standard deny
residents the benefit of being served by an adopted street.
For example, appropriate drainage, street lighting, surfacing materials,
maintenance and service vehicle access. Residents of private streets can
require the council to collect their refuse, which proves problematic within

poorly designed streets.

+ there are no cycle or bus lanes.

5.10.7 Visibility splays should be kept clear of obstruction above 0.6m in
height, measured from the adjoining highway level. However, some
features, including standalone trees, may be accepted within splay areas
provided as they do not create significant blind spots.

Caution must be exercised where developments propose visibility
distances less than the recognised design guideline “X” and “Y” distances
as stated above.

5.11.3 Residential streets, whether to be adopted by the Highway Authority
or not, should be designed to ensure low vehicle speeds and should place
pedestrian movement as highest priority.

5.10.8 Traffic accident statistics within the BCP area (2014-2018) reveal that
31% of accidents occur at priority junctions (excluding traffic signal
and roundabout junctions®). Allowing junctions that do not have the
appropriate visibility will add to the factors that may increase junction
accidents. Therefore, it is expected that new accesses will comply with the
above visibility requirements.

5.10.9 The safety and convenient movement of pedestrians should be a
priority in new developments. Drivers emerging from accesses must
give priority to people on the footway. Pedestrian visibility should be
considered at all vehicular crossovers, where vehicles cross the footway
to gain access to a property. This is particularly important in areas of high
pedestrian movement, or where there is a significant likelihood of children
crossing the access. Consequently, pedestrian visibility splays should be
provided.

15 BCP Council Road Safety Statistics (BCP, 2020)
53



144’

5.12 Street design

5.12.1 As getting the street layout right results in a well-functioning
development and a better place to live the council expects new street
design to accord with national best practice guidance on the subject®.

5.12.2 Opportunities for inappropriate parking should be designed out of
schemes, as far as possible. Providing sufficient designated on-street
parking spaces in the right locations will assist in reducing the instances
where residents feel the need to park on footways or verges. However,
inappropriate parking should also be prevented through the design of
the street. A range of street elements, such as carriageway widths, street
furniture and planting, (including trees
and groundcover planting), can be manipulated to constrain or
direct parking.

K / =—
) A
- i = u
g% |

woml  DIEL G

Figure 32 Street design example: Poole Quarter (2020)

5.12.3 Street layouts and materials used must consider future maintenance
liabilities. However, this should not deter innovation in development
to achieve the required pedestrian friendly, slow speed environments.
Carriageway should continue to not dominate, while facilitating the
movement of service vehicles.

54



T4}

Appendix A

Disabled parking

Disabled car parking spaces should be located close to the main pedestrian entrance.

The number of spaces required for disabled motorists for both residential and non-residential development are presented below.

Non-residential development*

Use

Standard

Employment and business premises,
including educational establishments.

Up to 200 bays:
Individual bays for each disabled employee plus 2 bays or 5% of total capacity whichever is greater.

Over 200 bays:
6 bays plus 2% of total capacity.

Shopping, recreation and leisure.

Up to 200 bays:
3 bays or 6% of total capacity whichever is greater.

Over 200 bays:
4 bays plus 4% of total capacity.

Residential development*

5% of spaces (with a minimum of 1 space) should be able to adapt, in order to meet the requirements of a disabled space,
should a disabled person require its use in the future.

*Notes

A larger proportion of spaces may be required at facilities where a higher proportion of users of visitors with disabilities will be expected.
For example, medical, health and care facilities.

Where the number of vehicle parking bays are less than 10, the LPA will consider the disabled parking provision on a case by case basis,
considering the availability of disabled parking in the vicinity.

55



Appendix B BCP Council Parking Zones map

., 5 K
""K o, £ o 3 BURLEY STREET f
= % 5 St ives ]
N 3 . = o 4
Holt = % Y
- ol reain 5
Sngas ” e : bt
biatuce Bezer = KINGSTON = Y,
— St Loonards | 1 5
Barnsiey 5 x Vi
3 ! i Gefnra
CLAYFORD 5 3 3 Bucley
= g
g E yomTH =
&7 Bank Conge wesi moars o e o eisTERNE. cLOSE
B Broom Hill Ferndown Forest Golf ; e,
T Bothenwood Udidens Park Course & Toptracer. , .
Clapaate . Kingsion Gread
chitsridge “ x $ Hional
s Bonga) S e & Watire Réserve
(e Furzehill % AMEVSFORD < ¥,
Kifigston Lacy % wat ¥ 7
L 5 2 Sandfard 1
w“mb 5 o z 3
5 e ﬁ% Pilfard & 2
a3,
& MATCHAMS BISTERNE
Nauonal Trust- 2 e 5
Kingston sy, R industrial 5 Shorehiald 2
Tadden ., o R iere .
Ht0g,. Golehill e )
HillB01ts 2l TRICKETT'S CROSS &
Ferndown
2on
e £ canford @
5 Battom
i, KoESROOk stapehill King George's P g :
" raetion H 5 -
g A \
o iy % 3
3 Wimbarne & =
Pamphill 3 Hiinata v oy
Ecagraie winBoRNE Lot el North fip ey THORNEY MILL
Fermdown Gorr Club (@ =
L% =" &
— * - q,@f o P %
& r@% Garmpsite: e
= -
N 5 o Ripley 3 £
SHIRLEY. &
/
i o,
L2 Hampraston i HOLMSLEY.
i LONGHAM 23,
P EsstEnd BUDSBURY. P, [
-
o
PARLEY CROSS 97 >
Bransgers
4 N ”
£ o § o i
West Parley 4
MEACROFT. ossemsLl
o
o Corfe Mullen s
®
5 Beckley
“ams
& Hinten
Hinton
Admiral

“&*f‘

racon Hill Hill view

%

Atne.
Brownses
Istand]

RSPE Arme.

& o

www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/parkingspdzones

BCP Parking Zones
. Zone A
B Zone B

Zone C

" Zone D

56



LT

Appendix C(i) Residential parking assessment guidance

This appendix outlines the requirements and the format for a parking survey
and assessment. This applies to new residential development where on-street
car parking is predominately uncontrolled. A parking survey and assessment
is not considered appropriate in controlled parking areas. For other types of
development, the applicant should submit a proposed survey methodology
and justification to the council for written approval prior to undertaking the
survey. For employment developments, the size of the survey area should
correspond to the scale of the development and the likely distance the
employees may be prepared to walk between the site and their vehicle.

Background/supporting information

The council is concerned about any potential impact new developments may
have with less than optimum parking on site and competition for existing
on-street parking. Inconsiderate parking can also lead to harm and adverse
impact on highway safety. New developments can cause disputes between
neighbours over parking.

Where developers wish to provide a different level of parking on-site than
recommended by the SPD, a parking survey and assessment of ‘Parking Stress’
(parked vehicles as a percentage of the number of standard available parking
spaces) will be required to form part of a design-led approach to parking.

The length of a parking space for this purpose is to be extracted as the
standard length of 6m. However, it is acknowledged that vehicles may park at
less than 6m intervals, in which case the existing level of parking stress may
be found to exceed 100%. Figures of more than 100% are not to be used for
proposed development.

Unless a robust justification can be made (eg circumstances or measures which
would be in place to permanently limit the need for parking), overall proposed
levels of parking stress within 100m of a development with greater than 90%
will not normally be acceptable.

Methodology and techniques for parking survey
and assessment

Where the applicant proposes to use off-site parking facilities to meet the
development demand, a parking survey and assessment shall accompany an
application. The LPA will consider this when responding to the application.
Given the level of interest in parking by residents, it is also important that the
parking survey and assessment is available at the time of consultations on
planning applications. Therefore, it should be submitted with applications at
the registration stage unless otherwise agreed with the LPA.

It is not acceptable and may be regarded as unreasonable to leave the
undertaking of a parking survey and assessment until after submission of an
application or to address parking reasons for refusal.

The parking survey and assessment should demonstrate that the impact that
any off-site parking has been considered as part of the development design
process for proposed developments. It also assists in determining whether
the parking provision for the development would be acceptable or whether
further mitigation measures are required.

A completed assessment may not necessarily address every concern of the
LPA. For example, where there is a likelihood of inconsiderate parking, or
where increased interaction would arise between pedestrians and vehicles
(eg. on a pedestrian demand line or walking route between parking and
the development). Additionally, the assessment should cover the condition
of highway safety including, where relevant, an analysis of accidents in
accordance with current good practice.

This is not an exhaustive description of parking impacts on the public
realm or the scope of transport related work which may be necessary for an
application.

57



8¢T

An on-street parking survey and assessment is a necessary component of
transport assessment work, or a supporting statement, for a development
which expects to impact on-street parking.

Requirements for parking survey and parking assessment:

1.

Description of existing and proposed features that will reduce the need for
parking surrounding the development. This includes features that assist
accessibility, such as high frequency public transport and proximity of
facilities (eg. further education) linked to occupants of the development,
car ownership of occupants, car sharing schemes, travel plans.

Details of any proposed arrangement to provide or share parking in
conjunction with any other development or off-street parking facility is
required on the red line of the application plan.

Identification of any need for the introduction or amendment of a Traffic
Regulation Order (TRO). This considers on-street parking, road safety
maintenance, or traffic movement. TROs are subject to consultations and
are a separate process from planning applications. It is recommended
that a TRO (if required) should be requested in parallel with the planning
application. A separate fee may be payable and consent to create a TRO
cannot guarantee planning consent, and vice versa.

Certain locations are susceptible to higher recurring parking demand

at times not covered by the survey, for example seasonal demand from
tourism or nearby events. This should be considered with the assessment
and the applicant should identify/survey the coincidental peal periods.

A plan may appear in the form of a dimensioned sketch, scale plan or aerial
photograph subject to copyright. Detailed annotations should indicate
private accesses, on-street parking bays, unmarked roadside parking,
waiting restrictions less than 24 hours (single yellow lines), and public car

parks up to 0-50m and 50-100m distance from the development. The plan
should also indicate differently all unsuitable locations for parking within
these distances. A list of unsuitable location examples is contained within
Appendix C(ii).

. Where additional on-street parking would reduce the width to less than

required for normal two-way traffic, the plan should demonstrate the
corresponding hourly traffic flows separated into light and medium/heavy
vehicles. If no traffic survey is available, flows can be based on sample
observations during the busiest parking period(s). For this purpose,
medium/heavy vehicles are defined as vans wider than a car, all lorries
and buses. Vehicles, including emergency vehicles, must be able to gain
access and be able to pass in opposite directions. This is necessary in
accordance with dimensions provided by Manual for Streets (DfT, 2007) or
any subsequent replacement guidance.

. The choice of survey days should take account of location and existing

nearby development. For example, in proximity to public amenities or retail
areas, parking may be busiest on Saturdays, while Sundays can be busiest
in residential areas. In areas used by students, surveys should be carried out
in term time. In areas near hotel and guest houses, surveys should ideally
take place in high season or be adjusted to account for seasonal variations.

. Near places of employment and public facilities, parking may be busiest

during working hours on weekdays. Near schools, parking may be busiest
before the start and end of the school day, although the associated peak
period may be of short duration. Surveys should be arranged to capture
the maximum number. Maximum demand and competition for spaces
by residents and visitors can occur in the overnight period, especially at
weekends.

58



6T

9.

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

Where a development is predicted to give rise to demand for on-street
parking amounting to 10% or less of the number of standard spaces within
0-50m, it will normally be acceptable to provide single beat surveys at the
following times:
i) The busiest period within the 18-hour day
6am — midnight on a weekday
ii) The busiest period within the 18-hour day
6am — midnight on a weekend
iii) The busiest overnight 10pm - 6am period

Where the level of on-street parking expected from the development
would exceed 10% of the number of standard spaces within 0-50m, three
survey beats should be undertaken at hourly intervals in each of the
busiest weekday and weekend periods. Additionally, a single beat survey
in the busiest overnight period on two consecutive nights. Thus, in these
circumstances, there would be 8 survey beats.

The onus is on the applicant to justify the busiest days and time periods
for parking. It is recommended that applicants consult with the council
in advance of the dates and times of intended surveys and any special
considerations, via the formal pre-application consultation process.

Surveys and assessments should not be more than 12 months old at the
date of application.

The council is not liable for loss or injury occurring as a result of parking
surveys. Applicants are not agents of the council in undertaking parking
surveys on the highway or in car parks. Applicants must seek permission
before entering any privately-operated public car park. Applicants

and persons engaged by them are responsible for their actions. Only
appropriately trained and insured persons should undertake surveys, and
in a safe and considerate manner.

The preferred way to assess parking conditions is to calculate parking
stress by distance band and length of road. A high result can reveal where

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

current or resultant parking is too close, or potentially inconsiderate or
obstructive.

It is not acceptable to simply count parked vehicles and spaces at
un-notified times or without taking account of distance from the
development or without assessing the number of spare whole standard
parking spaces.

The off-site parking demand (the difference between optimum parking
demand and on-site provision) must be deducted from the number of
spare parking spaces. This is achieved by assigning as much as possible
to the 0-50m distance band. The remainder should be assigned to the
50-100m band according to drivers’ most likely choices. For this purpose,
the number of parking spaces should be taken as the number of whole
standard 6m long on-street spaces excluding unsuitable lengths. Off-site
parking demand should be included in the same way for every committed
or partly occupied development, up to 200m of this development. A
partly occupied development is a development that is permitted but not
occupied at the time of the survey. Off-site parking should be considered
to the extent that it would affect the same parking locations as this
development. A partly occupied development is a development that is
permitted but not occupied at the time of the survey.

No account should be taken of parking spaces greater than 100m walking
distance from the development.

The required parking survey and assessment table is provided in
Appendix C(iii). A form should be accompanied by a plan and other details
as stated above. A separate survey and assessment should be completed
for each day, period and beat. An analysis and interpretation of the
surveys and assessment should be undertaken by the applicant. It must
summarise the impact of the effect upon on-street parking and, where
necessary, set out any proposed mitigation measures.

An example of a parking survey and assessment is described in Appendix

Cliv). 59



0€T

Appendix C(ii) Example of unsuitable locations for on-street parking

Classified Roads where no existing parking provision is available or
where it would result in an adverse impact on the movement or safety of
pedestrians, cyclists or other traffic

waiting restrictions at any time (double yellow lines)
on any zigzag, keep clear or hatched road markings
within stopping sight distance on all sides of a school crossing patrol point

bus stops (for appropriate distances approaching and beyond the boarding
point - subject to requirements of the local highway authority and bus
operators)

bus lanes (during hours of operation), cycle lanes and junction approach
lanes

within 15m of any speed cushion road hump where parking would prevent
buses or ambulances straddling the hump

parking bays reserved for permit holders (during hours of operation),
disabled, taxis, doctors, etc

dropped kerbs (for wheelchair/buggy use or vehicular access)

over-run areas and other areas of carriageway required to enable large
vehicles to turn

entrances to premises where stopping to load/unload or set down/pick up
passengers is frequent or necessary

within 10m of a junction on an unclassified road and/or within 15m of a
junction on a classified road

controlled on-street parking areas

where parking could impact on the condition of road safety for children,
elderly or disabled people or cyclists who are frequent users of the road

60



TET

Appendix C(iii) Recommended output for parking survey and assessment

This form should be accompanied by a plan and other details as required in the guidance. A separate survey and assessment should be completed for each day, period and beat. Add
additional rows as necessary. Input data boxes are shaded green. Output data boxes are shaded yellow.

Parking Survey and Assessment
for proposed development at:

<insert address of development>

Day Period Surveyed
Busiest weekday* Busiest period between 6am — midnight” Overnight period 10pm - 6am”
Busiest weekend day* “delete as appropriate “delete as appropriate
Day/date of survey Time of survey Beat 1/2/3" Name of surveyor
“delete as appropriate

See notes on Location (a) Overall Length No of Observed No of spare | Existing Parking from this Parking from other New %
following page length (b) available for | parking no of parking % parking | development (h) committed develop- parking

parking (c) spaces (d) | vehicles spaces (f) stress () ment (i) stress (j)

parked (e)
Insert survey data below <insert number> <insert number >

0-50m from

development

TOTA

L (within 50m)

50-100m from

development

TOTAL

(within 100m)

Notes for parking survey and assessment form

(a) Street name and from/to address number or car park
name. Tabulate each length or time
restriction (eg single yellow line) separately.

(b) Length of kerb inclusive of unsuitable sections

(c) (b) minus unsuitable lengths

(d) Normally, (c) divided by 6m per space

(nearest whole number below)

(e) Vehicles parked
(f) (d) minus (e) or zero if result is negative

(9) (e) divided by (d) expressed as a percentage

(h) Optimum parking minus on-site parking
provision, assigned to locations in order of

proximity to the development.

(i) Include on-street parking for all permitted
but unoccupied development within 200/400m,

to the extent that it would affect the same
locations as this development.

(j) Sum of [(e) + (h) + (i)] divided by (d) expressed as a
percentage. Results of over 100% (unless currently
existing) for any length of parking within each
distance band 90% may not be acceptable, and an
overall result of more than 90% for all parking within
100m of the development will not normally be
acceptable.




[AN)

Appendix C(iv) Example of parking survey and assessment

A residential development is proposed on garden land at 14 Upway Road.
The optimum number of unallocated parking spaces is nine, yet only six are
proposed on site, leaving three to be found on street.

There is a committed development in Crossway 120m from this development
which will give rise to 6 parked cars on the north side of Crossway. There is
other public parking over 100m from the site, however this cannot be counted
for use by this development.

There are currently waiting restrictions (no waiting at any time) on the
junction radii between the two roads. A private access on the north side of
Crossway with dropped kerbs over a length of 4 metres also exists. These road
lengths are excluded from the availability of current on-street car parking. A
sketch plan outlines the available parking within 50m and 100m of the site.

Within 50m of the site, there are suitable lengths for parking of 70m on the
east and west sides of Upway Road and 30m on the north side of Crossway.
This amounts to a total of 170m which is equivalent to 28 standard spaces in
all. As a result, the on-street parking requirement of

3 spaces is equal to or less than 10% of the actual length of road available for
parking within 50m. Therefore, single beat surveys are required at the busiest
periods in the 18-hour day on a mid-weekday and weekend, plus an overnight
survey. (Note 10% of 28 spaces = 3 when rounded up in this case).

The town centre is 300m away, and on saturdays there is competition for
parking by shoppers. The busiest overnight period is considered to be Tuesday
night/Wednesday morning. Accordingly, the surveys were carried out on:

Wednesday  3pm -4pm
Saturday midday - Tpm
Wednesday  4am - 5am

As an example, the parking survey and assessment table is shown completed
for the overnight survey beat. This example shows one survey beat only.
Similar forms would be required for each beat and period.

For the overnight beat survey, the completed parking survey and assessment
table indicate that the post development parking stress would be 79% within
50m of the development site and 86% within

100m of the development site. Additionally, there would be a dropped kerb
for access to the proposed development. This may need to be taken into
account as it would result in the loss of approximately

one parking space.

62



A.N_H.,m T =1 ﬁuasﬁ&uj
Vornd ety ag

oSy Iwa

IS83=>>3+4 +
I ANWMIG

SR 293

weay o+ I IVLNT ARN T

-

e

33

Weg

qvod hYMd N |

Z

1%‘ .m.__,._erILplezO
. |
o |
; ]

|
'

-z W D.nlm ...UA

1 i \\KN \fvf 1 __

' e MNSIa T _ ® o | |

e MVD_._ e _“wm (_...nvm ; ,_2_0..0_
=L - i

= o9 | ...Z...OM. | i

B ~
WoEl ~1

MNYd WO AIRAS

FGWYAT RINIOS DAY

133

63



VET

Parking Survey and Assessment for
proposed development at:

14 UPWAY ROAD

Day Period Surveyed
Busiest weekday Overnight period 10pm — 6am
Day/date of survey Time of survey Beat 1 Name of surveyor
Monday 8 April 2020 4am AN Other
Location (a) Overall Length No of Observed No of spare Existing Parking from this Parking from other New % Park-
length (b) available for | parking No of vehi- | parking spaces | % Parking | Development (h) Committed Develop- | ing stress (j)
parking (c) spaces (d) | cles parked | (f) stress (g) ment (i)
(e)
Insert survey data below 3 6
0-50m from Upway Rd E side 70m 70m 12 12 0 100% 0 100%
development I RAW side 70m 70m 12 10 2 83% 1 92%
Crossway N side 30m 30m 5 0 5 0% 0 0%
TOTAL (within 50m) § 29 22 7 76% 1 79%
50-100m from Upway Rd E side 50m 50m 8 9 0 112% 0 112%
development -
Upway Rd W side 50m 50m 8 9 0 112% 0 112%
Crossway S side E of Upway | 50m 50m 8 6 2 75% 0 75%
Rd
Crossway N side 100m 96m 16 9 44% 2 6 94%
Crossway S side W of 50m 50m 8 50% 50%
Upway Rd
TOTAL (within 100m) | 77 57 20 74% 3 6 86%

Notes for parking survey and assessment form

(a) Street name and from/to address number or car park

name. Tabulate each length or time
restriction (eg. single yellow line) separately.

(b) Length of kerb inclusive of unsuitable sections

(c) (b) minus unsuitable lengths

(d) Normally, (c) divided by 6m per space

(nearest whole number below)

(e) Vehicles parked

(f) (d) minus (e) or zero if result is negative

(9) (e) divided by (d) expressed as a percentage

(h) Optimum parking minus on-site parking
provision, assigned to locations in order of
proximity to the development.

(i) Include on-street parking for all permitted
but unoccupied development within 200/400m,

to the extent that it would affect the same

locations as this development.

(j) Sum of [(e) + (h) + (i)] divided by (d) expressed as a
percentage. Results of over 100% (unless currently
existing) for any length of parking within each
distance band 90% may not be acceptable, and an
overall result of more than 90% for all parking within
100m of the development will not normally be

acceptable.

64



BCP

Council

Screening Statement on the determination of the need for
Strategic Environmental Assessment for the BCP Council draft
Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

June 2020

135



1. Introduction

1.1 This statement sets out BCP Council’s draft determination under Regulation 9 of the Environmental
Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 (which transposed EC Directive 2001/42/EC) on
whether or not a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) is required for the draft Parking Standards
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD).

1.2 Under separate legislation (Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and associated
Regulations), local planning authorities are required to undertake Sustainability Appraisal (SA) for all
Development Plan Documents (DPDs) to assess the environment, social and economic impacts of the
proposed plan.

1.3 Whilst the Planning Act 2008 and Town and Country Planning (Local Development) (England)
Regulations 2012 removed the requirements for a SA to be produced for all SPDs, the Council is still
required to screen its SPDs to ensure that the legal requirements for sustainability appraisals are met
where there are impacts that are not covered in the appraisal of a parent DPD or where an assessment is
required by the SEA regulations. This statement also sets out whether or not, an SA is required for the draft
SPD.

2. Draft Parking Standards SPD

2.1 In April 2019, a new Council for Bournemouth, Christchurch & Poole came into being. Due to a
fundamental shift in the need to manage growth and plan for sustainable travel, the council is accelerating
the adoption of a consolidated Parking SPD to provide guidance on how parking provision, across all use
classes, should be incorporated into development proposals.

2.2 The SPD will replace the Parking SPDs which operated under the preceding three councils as
follows:

-Bournemouth Parking SPD (2014)
-Poole Parking and Highway Layout in Development SPD (2011)
-Dorset Residential Car Parking Study (2011).

2.3 BCP Council planning decision-making will continue to operate with three statutory Development
Plans for the time being, until a single new Plan is adopted. Thus, the current parent DPDs are the
Bournemouth Core Strategy (2012), Christchurch and East Dorset Local Plan Part 1 (2014), Poole Local
Plan (2018 have all been subject to Sustainability Appraisal incorporating SEA.

3. The Strategic Environmental Appraisal process

3.1 The first stage of the process is for the council to determine whether or not the draft SPD is likely to
have significant effects on the environment. This screening process includes assessing the SPD against a
set of criteria (as set out in Schedule 1 of the regulations). The results of this have been set out in Appendix
1 of this statement. The aim of this statement is to provide sufficient information to demonstrate whether the
SPD is likely to have significant environmental effects.

3.2 The council also has to consult the Environment Agency, English Heritage and Natural England on
the content of this screening statement. A final determination cannot be made until the three statutory
bodies have been consulted and their comments incorporated into the screening report.

3.3 Where the Council determines that a SEA is not required then under Regulation 9(3) the Council

must prepare a statement setting out the reasons for this determination. This statement is BCP Council’s
Draft Regulation 9(3) statement.

136



4. Sustainability Appraisal

4.1

4.2

Whilst there is no statutory reason to undertake a Sustainability Appraisal of SPDs, the council has
considered whether a SA of this draft SPD is required. BCP Council has determined that the draft
SPD is unlikely to have significant environmental, social or economic effects beyond those of the
policy it supplements. These are; policy CS16 (Bournemouth Core Strategy [2012]), Policy KS12
(Christchurch and East Dorset Local Plan Part 1 [2014]), Policy PP35 (Poole Local Plan [2018]), and
informs the application of the following Neighbourhood Plans: Boscombe & Pokesdown
Neighbourhood Plan (2019), Broadstone Neighbourhood Plan (2018) and Poole Quays Forum
Neighbourhood Plan (2017).

In coming to this conclusion BCP Council is mindful that this draft SPD does not create new policies
and serves only to expand on existing policy within its ‘parent DPDs’, the Bournemouth Core Strategy
(2012), Christchurch and East Dorset Local Plan Part 1 (2014), Poole Local Plan (2018) (which have
been subject to SAs incorporating SEAS).

5. Habitats Regulations Assessment

5.1

5.2

5.3

54

In addition to SEA and SA, the council is also required to consider Habitats Regulations Assessment
(HRA). HRA is the process used to determine whether a plan or project would have significant
adverse effects upon the integrity of internationally designated sites of nature conservation
importance, known as European sites or European offshore marine sites. The need for a HRA is set
out within the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (which transposed EC Habitats
Directive 92/43/EEC).

The regulations state the council must assess the potential effects of its land use plans, in this case
the draft SPD, against the conservation objectives of any sites designated for their nature
conservation importance. HRAs1 have been carried out on the ‘parent DPDs’: the Bournemouth Core
Strategy (2012), Christchurch and East Dorset Local Plan Part 1 (2014), Poole Local Plan (2018).

Bournemouth Core Strategy Policy CS16 was screened in to the HRA of the Bournemouth Core
Strategy, the policy is considered unlikely to have a significant effect on the integrity of European
sites however the potential harm could not be ruled out. This is due to the increased development
that is associated with the policy may have an unconfirmed impact on protected sites. Policy KS12
was screened in to the HRA of the Christchurch and East Dorset Local Plan and considered unlikely
to have significant effect on the integrity of European sites however the potential harm could not be
ruled out. Policy PP35 was screened in to the HRA of the Poole Local Plan and considered unlikely to
have significant effect on the integrity of European sites however the potential harm could not be
ruled out.

As the purpose of this draft SPD is to expand on this policy, BCP Council has determined that a HRA
is not required.

6. Conclusions

6.1

On the basis of the screening process it is the BCP Council’s opinion that the Draft Parking
Standards SPD does not require a Strategic Environmental Appraisal or a Sustainability
Appraisal. This is because there will be no significant environmental, social or economic effects
arising from its implementation and that it supplements Policy CS16 (Bournemouth Core Strategy
[2012]), Policy KS12 (Christchurch and East Dorset Local Plan Part 1 [2014]), Policy PP35 (Poole
Local Plan [2018])which already have had SEAs & SAs undertaken.

1 Habitats Regulations Assessment for the Bournemouth Local Plan Core Strategy, Pre-Submission Stage, August 2011

(http://www.bournemouth.gov.uk/PlanningBuildings/Planning/Policy/Local-Plan/CoreStrategy/CoreStrategyFiles/CS-PreSub-

HRA.pdf) Habitats Regulations Assessment for the Town Centre Area Action Plan, Pre-Submission Stage, August 2011
(http://www.bournemouth.gov.uk/PlanningBuildings/Planning/Policy/Local-Plan/TCAAP/AAPEvidenceFiles/AAP-HRA-Report-

PreSubmission.pdf)

137


http://www.bournemouth.gov.uk/PlanningBuildings/Planning/Policy/Local-Plan/CoreStrategy/CoreStrategyFiles/CS-PreSub-HRA.pdf
http://www.bournemouth.gov.uk/PlanningBuildings/Planning/Policy/Local-Plan/CoreStrategy/CoreStrategyFiles/CS-PreSub-HRA.pdf
http://www.bournemouth.gov.uk/PlanningBuildings/Planning/Policy/Local-Plan/TCAAP/AAPEvidenceFiles/AAP-HRA-Report-PreSubmission.pdf
http://www.bournemouth.gov.uk/PlanningBuildings/Planning/Policy/Local-Plan/TCAAP/AAPEvidenceFiles/AAP-HRA-Report-PreSubmission.pdf

Appendix 1 - SEA screening for the Draft Parking Standards SPD

Criteria (Schedule 1 of Environmental
Assessment of Plans and Programmes
Regulations 2004

BCP Council’s response

Characteristics of the plan or programme

(a) the degree to which the plan or programme
sets a framework for projects and other
activities, either with regard to the location,
nature, size and operating conditions or by
allocating resources.

The draft SPD provides more detail to the policies
and principles established within the Local
Development Plan (which have already been subject
to SAs incorporating SEAS). The purpose of the
SPD is to set a framework for the policy’s
implementation and to give developers more
detailed information on the expected parking
standards.

(b) the degree to which the plan or programme
influences other plans and programmes
including those in a hierarchy.

The SPD is at the lower tier of the development plan
hierarchy, as it sits underneath the parent DPDs.
The purpose of the document is to supplement
policy CS16 (Bournemouth Core Strategy [2012]),
Policy KS12 (Christchurch and East Dorset Local
Plan Part 1 [2014]), Policy PP35 (Poole Local Plan
[2018]), and the Boscombe & Pokesdown
Neighbourhood Plan (2019), Broadstone
Neighbourhood Plan (2018) and Poole Quays
Forum Neighbourhood Plan (2017), and to guide the
preparation and determination of planning
applications.

(c) the relevance of the plan or programme for
the integration of environmental considerations
in particular with a view to promoting
sustainable development.

The draft SPD sets out parking standards that seek
to acknowledge that people want to own a car, but
at the same time encourages them to use other
modes of transport to get to their destinations. The
SPD will require applicants to demonstrate why the
level of parking proposed in a development is
appropriate. It encourages a reduced level of
parking dependant on the location of the
development relative to the accessibility of the area.
It seeks to support higher density developments in
the most sustainable locations.

(d) environmental problems relevant to the plan
or programme.

The document seeks to play a part in addressing
people's reliance on car use, and the related issues
of congestion and air quality.

(e) the relevance of the plan or programme for
the implementation of community legislation on
the environment (for example, plans and
programmes linked to waste management or
water protection).

The draft SPD seeks to provide further detail to
policy CS16 (Bournemouth Core Strategy [2012]),
Policy KS12 (Christchurch and East Dorset Local
Plan Part 1 [2014]), Policy PP35 (Poole Local Plan
[2018]), and the draft SPD all comply with
legislation.

Characteristics of the effects and of the area likely to be affected

(a) the probability, duration, frequency and
reversibility of the effects.

The SPD, once adopted, will influence the amount of
car and cycle parking in new development. These
developments are likely to remain in place for a
number of decades, but parking arrangements can
be altered over time. It is hoped that users of
developments will be influenced by the SPD to
change their travel behaviour in the long term to
more sustainable patterns.

(b) the cumulative nature of the effects.

The SPD will be implemented borough wide and the
proposals both on their own and with other plans
and programmes covering the town, are unlikely to

4

138




Criteria (Schedule 1 of Environmental

Assessment of Plans and Programmes
Regulations 2004

BCP Council’s response

result in significant environmental effects beyond
those identified in the SA / SEA of the Bournemouth
Core Strategy (2012), Christchurch and East Dorset
Local Plan Part 1 (2014), and Poole Local Plan
(2018).

(c) the trans-boundary nature of the effects.

There are unlikely to be any trans-boundary effects
resulting from the SPD.

(d) the risks to human health or the environment
(for example, due to accidents).

There are no perceived risks to human health or the
environment arising from the draft SPD.

(e) the magnitude and spatial extent of the
effects (geographical area and size of the
population likely to be affected).

The draft SPD will be implemented across the whole
of BCP Council’'s administrative area.

(f) the value and vulnerability of the area likely to
be affected due to

(i) special natural characteristics or cultural
heritage;

(ii) exceeded environmental quality standards or
limit values; or

(iii) intensive land-use.

The SPD will be applied across the whole of BCP

Council’'s administrative area. The parking standards
and increased bay sizes could result in more or less
intensive land use than might otherwise be the case.

(9) the effects on areas or landscapes which
have arecognised national, community or
international protection status.

The Bournemouth Core Strategy (2012),
Christchurch and East Dorset Local Plan Part 1
(2014), and Poole Local Plan (2018) SAs / SEAs
and HRAs examined how the proposals in the plan
may impact upon the European sites and there are
plans in place to avoid and mitigate adverse effects
on those sites.

139




This page is intentionally left blank

140



Impact Assessment Screening Tool — Parking

Public Sector Equalities Duty

Please answer all the questions and provide a summary of the answers in the Summary and Conclusions box below. Please send a copy of this
document to the Policy and Performance Team

1. Project Title: BCP Council Parking Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
2. Service Unit: Growth & Infrastructure

The Parking SPD sets out a consolidated approach across BCP to supersede earlier legacy council’s Parking
SPDs and establish new local parking standards for residential and non-residential development schemes.
Once adopted the SPD will be a material consideration which will apply when determining planning
applications.

3. Summary of Project:

Response
Yes/No/Maybe/Don’t Know

Equality Impact Assessment Screening Tool

4. Will the policy or service change affect service users, employees or the wider community?
Maybe

Is there likely to be a positive or negative impact in terms of equality? Use the protected Yes — positive impacts
characteristics listed below as defined by either the equality act or by BCP Council to determine if No — in terms of affecting any
this decision will affect any characteristic disproportionally. characteristic disproportionately

'[_J},'IZ

6. Does it relate to a sector or physical area where there are known inequalities? Yes — Town centres
7. Does it relate to a service that is currently underused by people it should reach? No
8. Does the policy or service change relate to functions that previous consultation has identified as No

important to a particular group?

9. Do different groups have different needs or experiences in relation to the policy/service? Maybe
Summary and conclusions
Please use this section to support the responses above and to determine if you will/will not carry out a full EIA.

It is important to remember that even when it has been decided not to carry out a full EIA the outcome of this decision record remains subject to
the general duties and not carrying out a full EIA places the Council at greater risk of legal challenge

The Parking SPD is not a policy or service in itself, hence answer to 4 above. It does however support Local Plan policies and the Planning Service
to ensure appropriate parking provision is delivered as part of new development schemes. When such schemes are submitted to the local planning

Insight, Policy and Performance Team
February 2020


mailto:performance@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

Impact Assessment Screening Tool — Parking

authority for determination, the standards and requirements set out in the Parking SPD will be expected to be complied with to ensure safe and
sustainable parking provision is delivered.

In respect of 5, 6 & 9 above, there is likely to be a positive impact on traffic congestion, air quality, health and wellbeing, and groups across all
socio economic groups and particularly in Town Centres where inequalities across protected characteristics are more concentrated. The protected
characteristic groups likely to benefit from the proposed lower levels of parking provision/better infrastructure standards to achieve a modal shift to
more sustainable travel are set out in the Parking SPD. These include include the ageing population who may choose to walk more than those of
working age, the younger/student population who do not drive, those with long term life limiting illness e.g.asthma aggravated by poor air quality,
those with religious beliefs that require them to travel on foot on certain days e.g. Jewish religion, those on lower incomes who may walk and cycle
as a means of travel. The Parking SPD will ensure that the momentum improves the upward trend in BCP to make public transport, cycling and
walking easier and more attractive to all. There are no groups with protected characteristics that will be disproportionately affected as a result of
the adoption of the Parking SPD.

Will this decision record by supported by a full EIA? No

Assessment Screening Tool completed by: Alexis Edwards/Rebecca Landman Date: 11 June 2020

=
SN
N

Insight, Policy and Performance Team
February 2020



Impact Assessment Screening Tool — Parking

Protected Characteristics

Agel

Disability?

Sex

Gender reassignment®
Pregnancy and Maternity
Marriage and Civil Partnership
Race

Religion or Belief

. Sexual Orientation

10. Armed Forces Community
11. Any other factors/groups e.g. socio-economic status/carers etc*
12. Human Rights

CoNoRrwWNE

H
Ifev contacts for further advice and guidance:

Equality & Diversity:

performance@bcpcouncil.gov.uk
Consultation & Research:

insight@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

' Under this characteristic, The Equality Act only applies to those over 18.

2 Consider any reasonable adjustments that may need to be made to ensure fair access.

3 Transgender refers people have a gender identity or gender expression that differs to the sex assigned at birth.
4 People on low incomes or no income, unemployed, carers, part-time, seasonal workers and shift workers

Insight, Policy and Performance Team
February 2020


mailto:performance@bcpcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:insight@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

144



Agenda Iltem 11

CABINET BCP

Council

Report subject Waste Services Policies
Meeting date 9 September 2020
Status Public Report

Executive summary Since the formation of BCP Council in April 2019 it has been
known that within waste services, there are several operating
procedures that need to be aligned between the three legacy
councils.

Prior to developing our own waste strategy, there are several
primarily operational decisions that need to be made as
carrying on as we are is becoming increasingly difficult.

By addressing and aligning differences in service such as bin
sizes and colours, charges for bins, collections of other
recyclables and subsidies for home composting and real
nappies, efficiencies can be made operationally, and clearer
communication messages given to residents across BCP
Council.

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:

(a) Bin sizes and colours

(1) Recycling — Cabinet approves the replacement of all
current recycling bins, as and when they break, with 240
litre black bins with blue lids.

(i) Refuse — Cabinet approves the replacement of 140 litre
bins in Bournemouth and Christchurch with 180 litre as and
when they break.

(i)  Garden waste

- Cabinet approves the replacement of all 140 litre bins in
Bournemouth with 240 litre bins (black bin with green lid)
and a borrowing of £380k to be repaid over the expected life
of a bin.

- Cabinet approves the replacement of all garden waste bins
which need replacing in Poole and Christchurch when
damaged with 240 litre black bins with green lids.

- Cabinet approves the garden waste price for the 2021

145



service at £49 per bin, which is an above inflation increase
in charge to cover the borrowing cost and allow for the
Bournemouth bins to be replaced with 240 litre bins.

(iv)  Food Waste

Cabinet defers any decision about the possibility of
introducing a food waste service in Poole until further
guidance and information is given by central government.

(b) Charges for bins/bags

- Cabinet approves the harmonisation of charges across the
three areas based on the current prices in Bournemouth. If
180 litre refuse bins are agreed as standard, this price
would increase to £45. If 240 litre garden waste bins are
agreed as standard, this price would increase to £55

- Cabinet approves the removal of the provision of free food
waste liners in Bournemouth and the use of the savings of
£20,000 for waste and recycling education

- Cabinet approves only permitting requests for additional
recycling bins for medical or larger families’ needs

- Cabinet approves the introduction of a charge for properties
with bags, which are not suitable for bins, based on the
projected life of a wheeled bin, which would be a cost of
£12.50 per year (52 bags)

- Cabinet approves the removal of the right to request
additional refuse bags for households with one or more
children in nappies in Christchurch

- Cabinet approves that those in receipt of certain income-
based benefits may be able to have a replacement bin free
of charge. The qualifying benefits are:

o Council Tax Benefit (not Discount)
o Housing Benefit

o Income Support.

(c) Side waste — Cabinet approves the cessation of side waste
collection in Bournemouth and Christchurch to allow
rationalisation of rounds to increase efficiencies.

(d) WEEE collections — Cabinet approves the cessation of WEEE
collections in Bournemouth once the recycling collection service
is brought back in-house in October 2020.

(e) Battery collections — Cabinet approves the introduction of the
service in Poole which would have minimal cost implications.

146




(f) Home compost bin subsidy — Cabinet approves the
introduction of the subsidy in Bournemouth and Christchurch at
a cost of approximately £5,000 per year.

(9) Real nappy incentive scheme — Cabinet approves:

- the introduction of the Real Nappy incentive scheme
currently offered in Bournemouth and Christchurch to
residents of Poole; and

- the introduction of a nappy start-up kit as an alternative to
the current £30 incentive across BCP Council.

Reason for To align waste services between the three legacy council areas.
recommendations

147




Portfolio Holder(s): Councillor Dr Felicity Rice — Portfolio Holder for Environment and
Climate Change

Corporate Director Kate Ryan - Corporate Director of Environment and Community

Report Authors lan Poultney — Head of Sustainability and Strategic Development
Kate Langdown — Head of Neighbourhood Services

Rachel Davies — Waste Strategy Manager

Tina Worthing, Steve Wade, Russell Smith — Financial Services

Laura Neil — Project Leader, Environment

Wards BCP wide

Classification For Recommendation and Decision

1. Background

Since the formation of BCP Council in April 2019 it has been known that within waste
services, there are several operating procedures that need to be aligned between the
three legacy councils.

Whilst a new waste strategy for BCP Council will be produced, there is currently national
uncertainty regarding waste services. In December 2018, the document ‘Our Waste, Our
resources: a strategy for England’ was published followed by a consultation period in
2019. Results of the consultation were published, and the second round of consultations
are due to take place in 2021.

Prior to developing our own waste strategy, there are several operational decisions that
need to be made as carrying on as we are is becoming increasingly difficult. Now
Christchurch is no longer being serviced by Dorset Waste Partnership, it is now possible
to address some of these issues.

148



2. Bin sizes and colours

The tables below give details of the current service provided in each of the three legacy
council areas in relation to bin size and colour of bins. Below each table are different options
to align the service.

(a) Recycling — current service

Bournemouth Christchurch Poole
Colour Black with black lid | Black with green lid | Blue with blue lid
Size 240 litre 240 litre 240 litre
Collection Fortnightly Fortnightly Fortnightly

frequency

Recommended Option — replace all bins, as and when they break, with 240 litre black bins
with blue lids.

Other Options Considered
1. do nothing which would result in a conflicting communications message across the
Council. This would incur extra resources for communications and cause potential
confusion for residents.
2. replace all bins with 240 litre black bins with blue lids at a cost of £2,074,000

(136,000 households, excluding flats) plus delivery costs. Current budget constraints
would currently not support this option.

149



(b) Refuse — current service

Bournemouth Christchurch Poole
Colour Black with black lid | Black with black lid | Black with black lid
Size 140 litre 140 litre 180 litre
Collection Fortnightly Fortnightly Fortnightly
frequency

Recommended Option — replace 140 litre bins in Bournemouth and Christchurch with 180
litre bins as and when they break. * Consideration would be given to introducing a food

waste service in Poole in the future to align services.

Other Options Considered

1. do nothing which would result in a service inequality, although if you include the

weekly food waste service, Bournemouth and Christchurch have an extra 6 litres of
capacity per fortnight than Poole.

replace 180 litre bins in Poole with 140 litres as and when they break. Consideration
would be given to introducing a food waste service in Poole in the future to align
services.

replace 180 litre bins with 140 litre for the whole of Poole at a cost of £625,000 plus
delivery costs (50,000 properties (excluding 20,000 flats)). Current budget
constraints would currently not support this option. Consideration would be given to
introducing a food waste service in Poole in the future to align services.

replace 140 litre bins with 180 litre for the whole of Bournemouth and Christchurch at
a cost of £1,173,900 plus delivery costs (86,000 households (excluding 24,000
flats)). * Current budget constraints would currently not support this option.
Consideration would be given to introducing a food waste service in Poole in the
future to align services.

* Refuse bins in Bournemouth are the oldest across BCP Council and are increasingly failing

150



(c) Garden waste — current service

Bournemouth Christchurch Poole
Colour Black with green lid | Black with brown lid | Green with green lid
Size 140 litre 240 litre 240 litre
Collection Fortnightly Fortnightly Fortnightly

frequency

Recommended Option —

- replace all 140 litre bins in Bournemouth with 240 litre bins (black bin with green lid)
at a cost of circa £380k including delivery/removal costs. The proposal is to borrow
this amount and repay over the expected life of a bin. The cost of repaying the
borrowing will be absorbed into the annual charge for a garden waste bin, and
therefore will be funded from garden waste customers. Bins which need replacing in
Poole and Christchurch when damaged will also be replaced with 240 litre black bins
with green lids.

- set the garden waste price for the 2021 service at £49 per bin, which is an above
inflation increase in charge to cover the borrowing cost and allow for the
Bournemouth bins to be replaced with 240 litre bins.

Other Options Considered
1. do nothing and continue to offer a discount to Bournemouth residents for multiple
bins purchased. This would not be an equitable option and would not align the
service.
2. replace bins that are damaged with 240 litre black bins with green lids. This would

not address the issue of disparity of bin sizes in Bournemouth, and potentially more
bins would be damaged.

151



(d) Food Waste — current service

Bournemouth Christchurch Poole
Colour Brown Brown N/A
Size 12 litre or 23 litre 23 litre N/A
Collection Weekly Weekly N/A

frequency

N/A

It is recommended that a decision about the possibility of introducing a food waste service in
Poole is not taken until further guidance and information is given by central government. In
the meantime, we are starting some work with Waste & Resource Action Programme
(WRAP) to look at the costs involved of introducing a service for Poole.

152



If the above recommendations are approved, it will result in any new properties within BCP
Council being issued with the following bin provision:

Refuse Recycling Garden Waste Food Waste
(subscription (currently only
service) Bournemouth
and
Christchurch)
Colour Black bin with Black bin with blue | Black bin with Brown
black lid lid green lid
Size 180 litre 240 litre 240 litre 5 litre inside
caddy and 23
litre outside
caddy
Collection Fortnightly Fortnightly Fortnightly (Feb — | Weekly
frequency Dec)

. - .
—_—

3. Charges for bins

All three legacy councils charge for refuse and recycling bins when a new property is built.
There is no charge for garden waste bins as the initial cost of bin provision is included in the
annual cost of the collection service. Bournemouth residents are also required to pay for a
new bin (refuse, recycling and garden) if theirs goes missing or is damaged and needs
replacing.

Residents in Bournemouth are also required to pay for any additional refuse and recycling
bins requested, except for where the additional bins are for medical waste or are requested
by those in receipt of means tested benefits. Larger households in Christchurch must also
pay for additional bins. There are currently no charges for additional or replacement bins in
Poole. The table below gives a summary of the current charges for waste containers across
the three areas.

153




Current bin prices, depending on quantity ordered, are approx.:

Bin Size Price per bin
140L £12.50
180L £13.65
240L £15.25

On top of the standard price of a bin there are customer service staffing costs, fulfiliment
costs in the Environment team and delivery vehicle and staffing costs.

Existing bin charges:

Bournemouth Christchurch Poole
New set of bins £98 £58 £85
required
(refuselrecycling)
Replacement Same as a new set | £0 £0
refuse & recycling | - £43 (140l) & £55
bins (24010)
(broken/damaged)
Replacement
garden waste bin £43 £0 £0
(broken/damaged)
Food waste
containers (5l & £0 £0 N/A
23l)

£0 - available for
Food waste liners | collection from
libraries

Residents provide

their own N/A

Rolls of bags
(properties not £0 £0 £0
suitable for bins)

Additional bins/ £0 £0 £0
bags for medical
reasons Provide additional Provide additional Provide additional

154



140l 140l or 26 bags 180l

Additional £55 £35 Not available
recycling bin on
request (no
reflection on
family size)

Additional £55 £35 £0
recycling bin on
request (larger
families)

Additional rubbish | £43 £35 £0
bin on request
(larger families)

Roll of additional Not available £15 Not available
refuse bags (26)
for households
with one or more
children in
nappies

Recommended Option

- harmonise the charges across the three areas based on the current prices in
Bournemouth. If 180 litre refuse bins are agreed as standard, this price would
increase to £45 (from £43). If 240 litre garden waste bins are agreed as standard,
this price would increase to £55 (from £43)

- remove the provision of free food waste liners in Bournemouth and, as they do in
Christchurch, advise residents to provide their own, use newspaper, or nothing at all,
which would make a budget saving of £20,000. Use this money for waste and
recycling education

- only allow requests for additional recycling bins for medical or larger families’ needs

- introduce a charge for properties with bags, which are not suitable for bins, based on
the projected life of a wheeled bin, which would be a cost of £12.50 per year (52
bags)

- remove the request for additional refuse bags for households with one or more
children in nappies in Christchurch

- Those in receipt of certain income-based benefits may be able to have a
replacement bin free of charge. The qualifying benefits are:

o Council Tax Benefit (not Discount)
o Housing Benefit

o Income Support

155



Other Options Considered
1. do nothing which would not be an equitable solution and would not align the service.

2. remove the charges in Bournemouth and Christchurch which would result in loss of
income of circa £40,000.

If these recommendations are agreed, these would be the bin charges for BCP Council:

BCP Council

New set of bins required (refuse/recycling) £100
including food waste caddies for
Bournemouth and Christchurch

Replacement refuse & recycling bins £45 (180I) & £55 (240I)
(broken/damaged)

Replacement garden waste bin

(broken/damaged) £55 (2400)

Food waste containers (51 & 23I) £0

(Bournemouth and Christchurch)

Food waste liners Residents provide their own
Rolls of 52 bags for one year (properties not £12.50

suitable for bins)

Additional bins / bags for medical reasons £0

Provide additional 180l or 26 bags
for properties not suitable for bins

Additional recycling bin on request (no Not available
reflection on family size)

Additional recycling bin on request (larger £55
families)

Additional rubbish bin on request (larger £45
families)

156



Roll of additional refuse bags (26) for Not available
households with one or more children in
nappies

4. Side waste

All properties are provided with a refuse and recycling bin which are collected alternate
weekly. Bournemouth and Christchurch also have a weekly food waste service. Side waste
is not collected in Poole and residents are instructed to take any additional waste, that
cannot be fitted into the relevant bin, to one of the HWRCs. Recycling side waste in
Bournemouth and Christchurch is collected, but now that the Council no longer receives an
income for this material, and must pay to dispose of it, it is no longer financially beneficial to
collect it. Collecting this waste also doesn’t promote waste minimisation or help to rationalise
the rounds to deliver efficiency savings.

Recommended Option — cease to collect side waste in Bournemouth and Christchurch to
allow rationalisation of rounds to increase efficiencies.

Other Options Considered

1. do nothing which would not be an equitable solution and would be a conflicting
communications message across the Council.

2. allow recycling side waste to also be put out for collection by residents in Poole,
which would increase disposal costs and not allow for rounds efficiencies to be
made.

5. WEEE Collections

Small Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment (WEEE) such as kettles, toasters and
hairdryers are collected in Bournemouth as part of the kerbside recycling service, where
items are put next to the bin on collection day. This service is not available in Poole or
Christchurch. The recycling collection service in Bournemouth is currently contracted out to
Urbaser but will be brought back in-house from 1 October 2020.

The cages on the vehicles used to store the WEEE items on the current fleet are often not
sufficient for the amount of waste that is put out for collection. It is difficult to know how much
is going to be presented as this varies between weeks and areas of the town. Therefore,
currently we are not always providing a complete service as it is not possible to collect all
the items, this leads to failure demand. Sometimes the crews try to combat these issues by
putting items in the cab which is not a safe option.

157



Residents in Poole and Christchurch do not have this service and are instructed to take this
type of waste to their HWRC.

Recommended Option — stop WEEE collections in Bournemouth once the recycling
collection service is brought back in-house in October 2020, and advise residents to take
WEEE to their HWRC.

Other Options Considered

1. do nothing which would not be an equitable solution and would be a conflicting
communications message across the Council.

2. introduce a collection of WEEE in Poole and Christchurch which would mean looking
at the possibility of retrofitting existing vehicles to store the WEEE items or the
purchase of new vehicles for a separate collection at significant cost.

6. Battery Collections

In Bournemouth household batteries are collected in plastic bags provided by the resident,
and in Christchurch, they are collected in small red plastic bags when put out by residents
along with their recycling bins. The red plastic bags are emptied into a container in the waste
collection vehicle and the bag returned to the resident, or they are provided with a new one.
This service is currently not provided in Poole. There are some concerns regarding disposal
of batteries when they come into contact with other wastes as they could pose a fire risk.

Recommended Option — introduce the service in Poole which would have minimal cost
implications. It would also offer an outlet for this waste to be recycled rather than potentially
put in refuse bins.

Other Options Considered

1. do nothing which would not align the service across BCP Council and be a conflicting
communications message.

2. remove the service in Bournemouth and Christchurch and advise residents to take

their batteries to one of the HWRCs or collection points in public buildings. This could
potentially lead to more batteries being disposed of in the refuse bins.

158



7. Home Compost Bin Subsidy

Home compost bins have been subsidised for residents of Poole for the past few years
giving them the option to purchase a bin for £6 plus delivery. A budget of £5,000 is allocated
for this annually but for the last three years on average £2,500 has been spent.
Bournemouth and Christchurch have provided subsidies in the past but don’t currently.

Recommended Option — introduce the subsidy in Bournemouth and Christchurch at a cost
of approximately £5,000 per year.

Other Options Considered

1. do nothing which would not be an equitable service across the Council and be a
conflicting communications message.

2. remove the subsidy and therefore residents pay the price stated by the supplier
(currently £19 plus delivery). This would not encourage home composting which
would potentially lead to increased disposal costs.

8. Real Nappy Incentive Scheme

Following the waste hierarchy, it is preferable to encourage waste reduction. Washable
nappies offer a reusable option that will substantially reduce nappy waste in households in
which they are used.

By switching from disposables to reusable nappies families can significantly reduce their
household waste. It is estimated that by using real nappies, the average household waste of
families with babies can be halved, avoiding an average 750kg/household/year. This waste
reduction will have associated cost savings for the local authority.

Bournemouth and Christchurch currently operate an incentive scheme where parents can
claim £30 off the price of real nappies with a minimum spend of £45. Parents can apply for a
voucher before purchase or cash back afterwards, subject to specific criteria. Poole does not
currently have a scheme.

This proposal recommends expanding the scheme to residents of Poole together with a
refresh of the current scheme.

It is proposed that interested parents can still apply for £30 cashback or voucher on a £45
spend. However, as an alternative they can also apply for a real nappy start up kit. BCP
Council would work with two suppliers to offer the discount packs which would normally retail
at £68 - £100. The Council would cover the full cost of £50 to the Council with no additional
cost to the resident. A local and a national supplier have agreed to work with the Council to
provide the discount packs.

The rationale for covering the £50 cost of the bundle is to encourage residents to choose
this option because it offers the opportunity of additional support from the suppliers which
makes continued longer term use of real nappies more likely. It also encourages support of a
local supplier.

159



Recommended Option

- introduce the Real Nappy incentive scheme currently offered in Bournemouth and
Christchurch to residents of Poole

- introduce a nappy start-up kit as an alternative to the current £30 incentive across
BCP Council

Other Options Considered

1. do nothing which would not be an equitable service across the Council and be a
conflicting communications message.

2. remove the Real Nappy incentive scheme in Bournemouth and Christchurch which
would increase waste in the refuse bin and associated disposal costs

160



9. Summary of financial implications

Proposal Comments Revenue
2020/21 2021/22
onwards
£ £
Replace all bins when damaged — no financial
Recycling impact, damaged bins will be charged to 0 0
customer as per proposed policy
Replace Bournemouth and Christchurch 140l
bins with 180l bins when damaged — no financial
Refuse . . . 0 0
impact, damaged bins will be charged to
customer as per proposed policy
Garden Waste Replace all bins in Bournemouth — one off cost
of £379,500 — funded by borrowing over 8 years
- Annual prudential borrowing repayments 0 55,208
- Above mflathn increase in charge to 0 (107,871)
cover borrowing cost
. Remove free food waste liners — assume
Charges for Bins introduction 1 April 2021 0 (20,000)
Harmonise charging for new bins (3,695) (8,868)
Harmonise charging for replacement bins (69,846) (167,632)
Remove request for additional recycling bins — 0 (1,375)
assume introduced 1 April 2021 '
Charges for properties with bags — assume
introduced 1 April 2021 0 (7.500)
Cease collection of side waste — net nil financial
Side Waste impact — uncollected waste anticipated to be left 0 0
at HWRCs for disposal
Cease WEEE collections — net nil financial
WEEE Collections |impact — items anticipated to be left at HWRCs 0 0
for disposal
Battery Collect batteries across BCP Council - revenue 0 0
Collections neutral
Harmonise subsidy across BCP Council — on-
Home Compost going revenue expenditure increase, nil for 20/21
. . 0 5,000
Bins as current budget has capacity to cover for part
year increase
R??I Nappy Introduce nappy start -up kit across BCP Council 0 27,710
Initiative
Waste Education Invest in education to reduce contaminated 0 20,000
waste etc.
Total (73,541) | (205,328)

161




10. Summary of legal implications

The Council has a duty to collect and dispose of recyclable and non-recyclable household
waste. There are no regulations that impose any particular frequency of collection on
authorities (section 45 and 51 Environmental Protection Act 1990).

The European Landfill Directive and the Waste Framework Directive has given the UK
recycling targets of 50% by 2020, and the reduction of bio-degradable municipal waste to
35% of 1995 level also by 2020. Councils also had to collect four recyclable materials by
2015.

The Council can specify what receptacles will be used to collect household waste, and the
kind and number required for a separate collection of recyclable materials (section 46
Environmental Protection Act 1990).

Councils can use, sell or otherwise dispose of collected waste (section 55 Environmental
Protection Act 1990).

In exercising any power (or fulfilling any duty), the Council must act for proper purposes, in
good faith and must exercise their powers properly, following proper procedures and acting
reasonably, i.e. for proper motives and taking into account all relevant considerations,
ignoring irrelevant ones, not acting irrationally and balancing the risks and rewards. In
particular, where considering changes to services, the Council should have due regard to its
public sector equality duty pursuant to section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

Where it is alleged that a Council has failed to comply with its duties, the remedy would
ordinarily be sought by way of judicial review of the Council’s decision. Such a challenge
could be brought by anyone with sufficient interest; in this instance any Council tax or
business rate payer within the administrative area of the Council. It is conceivable that a
challenge could be brought by a party without a local connection, e.g., if the grounds for
challenge were incompatibility with the Council’s adopted stance on the climate emergency.

11. Summary of human resources implications

There are no human resources implications arising from this report.

12. Summary of sustainability impact

Introducing a kerbside household battery collection in Poole will provide an accessible
disposal route, which otherwise may have been put in the refuse bins. Extension of the
subsidised home composting scheme will encourage more residents to home compost
rather than put this waste in the refuse bins or food waste caddies, as well as reducing
disposal costs for the Council. There will also be less waste from disposable nappies put
in the refuse bins if residents are encouraged to use the real nappies scheme.

A full Decision Impact Assessment (DIA) has been completed (ID 134) and can be
viewed in Appendix 1.

162



13. Summary of public health implications

The collection of household waste in a timely and efficient manner is important for public
health and wellbeing.

14. Summary of equality implications

Residents with medical conditions, which mean that they produce extra black or blue bin
waste, are able to have additional capacity if necessary, after consultation with the resident,
at no additional cost. Replacement bins would still incur a charge.

Those in receipt of certain income-based benefits may be able to have a replacement bin
free of charge. The qualifying benefits are:

- Council Tax Benefit (not Discount)
- Housing Benefit

- Income Support

Larger households and those with children in nappies would be provided with extra capacity
if necessary, after consultation with the resident. Extra blue bin capacity would always be
encouraged over black bin if most of the waste is recyclable.

An assisted collection service is available for residents who are unable to present their bin at
the kerbside on collection day and there is no-one else living at the property who is able to
do this. This service is not dependant on bin type or size and will be available to all residents
who meet the criteria.

15. Summary of risk assessment

Failure to align services across the three legacy council areas will result in additional costs in
providing different levels of service, as well as mixed communications to different areas of
BCP Council, resulting in an inefficient service and confusion and frustration for residents.

Background papers

Response to Climate Change Emergency
Our Waste, Our resources: a strategy for England

Appendices
Appendix 1 — Decision Impact Assessment (DIA) ID 134

163



This page is intentionally left blank

164



GoT

Decision Impact Assessment Report BCP
Council

Waste Services

DIA Proposal ID: 134
Assessment date: 7" August 2020
Assessor(s): Laura Neil

Support: Roxanne King

The Decision Impact Assessment (DIA) is a requirement of BCP Council’s Financial and Procurement Regulations. It has been
developed to help project managers maximise the co-benefits of proposals, reduce risk and ensuring that sustainable outputs and
value for money are delivered through every project, plan, strategy, policy, service and procurement.

The following report highlights the opportunities and potential issues associated with the above titled proposal. It has been assessed
against a number of themes and shared with BCP Council Theme Advisors for internal consultation. The RAG ratings and additional
information have been provided by the project manager and may or may not have incorporated feedback from theme advisors.
Results should be scrutinised by decision-makers when considering the outcome of a proposal.

The results of this DIA will be combined with all other assessments to enable cumulative impact data across a wide range of data
sets. Individual DIA reports should be included in proposal documentation and made available to decision makers for consideration.
Cumulative impact reports will be produced annually or as required by the Climate Action Steering Group and Members Working
Group.

For questions and further information, please contact Sustainability Team at DIA@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

Please note: This report is in a draft format and may appear different to future DIA reports.

DIA Report 134/LN/070820


mailto:DIA@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

991

SIA Proposal ID: 134 Welcome Roxanne King

Decision Impact Assessment
Proposal Title:  Waste Services

Review registration Home Page

Climate Change & Energy Complete

~
'}
<

Communities & Culture Complete

Not yet assessed

Waste & Resource Use Complete

Serious challenges - remedial
action required

Economy Complete

Some challenges - further thought
and mitigation action required

Health & Wellbeing Complete

On target - positive or no
negative impacts identified

No positive or negative
sustainability impacts
identified

Learning & Skills Complete

] 10 @

Natural Environment Complete

Sustainable Procurement Complete

[ Submit Proposal }

C00000000

Transport & Accessibility Complete

Ask for help

DIA Report 134/LN/070820



L9T

Proposal Title
Type of Proposal
Brief Description
Assessor
Directorate
Service Unit
Estimated Cost
Ward(s) Affected

Waste Services Policies Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) Supported

Policy

To align BCP waste services across the three legacy councils.
Laura Neil, Project Leader

Environment and Community

Environment

Between £100k and £500k

All Wards

RAG reasoning and proposed mitigation/monitoring actions

12 coeowrn | 15 oiweo

AND PRODUCTION

Theme

RAG reasoning

RAG Details of impacts including evidence and knowledge gaps

Mitigation and monitoring actions

details of proposed mitigation/remedial action and
monitoring (inc. timescales, responsible officers,
related business plans etc)

Climate Change &
Energy

More disposal options for battery recycling. Less residual waste
if more residents use real nappies and home compost.

Changes likely from October 2020/April 2021,
awaiting guidance from National Waste Strategy for
future food waste collections in Poole.

Communities &
Culture

Waste stored, collected and disposed of safely and efficiently.

Waste & Resource
Use

Changes aim to promote recycling and waste minimisation.
Introducing charging for bin replacement across BCP Council
will encourage better care of bins.

Amount of waste produced per household is
monitored as well as the overall recycling rate.

Economy

Jobs will be retained through service changes. BCP operational
efficiencies will have a positive environmental impact.

Funding will be gained through savings and charges to support
roll out of new bin infrastructure.

Number of requests for bin replacements can be
monitored.

Health & Wellbeing

Positive environmental health benefits from the proper storage
and collection of waste. Consideration of waste capacity for
larger families and those with medical conditions. Parity of
service will reduce inequalities across BCP in regard to waste.

Learning & Skills

Savings from policy changes for supply of food waste liners will
fund waste minimisation and recycling promotions and
education.

From April 2021. Evidence shows that education and
promotion work help to minimise waste and increase
recycling.

Natural Environment

Less potential for fly-tipping of garden waste and refuse through
provision of larger waste containers, will have positive impacts
for the natural environment.

Incidents of fly-tipping are monitored.

DIA Report 134/LN/070820




89T

Sustainable Contracts and supply chains will be considered once support

Procurement given for the service changes - after 9th Sept 2020

Transport & i‘oa:j?;gg%efcvg:gifﬂwsgze bins will reduce residents’ need Amount of waste disposed of at HWRCs and visitor
Accessibility Removal of kerbside electrical waste services in Bournemouth nhumbers can be monitored to assess impact of

may result in more visits to HWRCs.

service changes.

DIA Report 134/LN/070820




Agenda Iltem 12

CABINET BCP

Council

Report subject Public Spaces Protection Orders (PSPO)
Meeting date 9 September 2020
Status Public Report

Executive summary This report follows on from a report made to Cabinet in March
2020. It reports the results of a public consultation now completed,
which sought views on the varying of the current PSPO in place for
Poole Town Centre and Holes Bay. The report now recommends
that Cabinet adopt the proposed amendments.

In addition, the report considers the use of PSPO’s across BCP and
seeks approval of a further public consultation which seeks to
consider a BCP wide PSPO aimed at managing general anti-social
behaviour issues across our communities.

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:

1. Cabinet approve the variation of the Poole Town Centre
and Holes Bay PSPO as outlined at paragraph 5 of this
report.

2. The Director of Communities is authorised to undertake
consultation on a BCP wide Public Spaces Protection
Order as set out in paragraphs 11 & 12 of this Report; and
is authorised to finalise the precise terms of the wording of
the conditions on which the consultation will be
undertaken, such wording to be agreed in consultation with
the Monitoring Officer

3. Cabinet considers the outcome of the consultation at a
future meeting with a view to making recommendations in
respect of the Public Spaces Protection Order in light of
the consultation process.

Reason for To vary the terms of the current Poole Town Centre and Holes Bay
recommendations PSPO in order to implement a consistent and balanced approach
which is fit for purpose for the whole of BCP, applying effective
solutions to the complex issues around anti-social behaviour which
seeks a reduction of harmful behaviours that impact negatively on
the wider community, whilst placing the needs of vulnerable people
at its heart.

169



Portfolio Holder(s): Councillor Lewis Allison — Tourism, Leisure & Communities

Corporate Director Kate Ryan, Corporate Director Environment & Community

Report Authors Kelly Ansell, Director of Communities

Andrew Williams, Head of Safer Communities

Wards All Wards in particular Poole Town
Classification For Decision
Background

PSPO Poole Town Centre and Holes Bay

1.

In March 2020, Cabinet approved a public consultation on varying the Public Spaces
Protection Order (PSPO) covering Poole Town Centre which currently seeks to
address anti-social behaviour in the town centre and Holes Bay area. This PSPO
restricts the following:

a. Drinking alcohol in public, whilst behaving in an anti-social manner

b. Begging

c. Sitting or loitering in a public place with a receptacle used to contain monies

from the public

Leaving unattended personal belongings such as bedding or bags

e. Causing an obstruction in shop doorways, or car park or public area such as
hallways, stair wells etc

f. Possession, supply or use of intoxicating substances

g. Behaviour which causes harassment, alarm or distress.

o

Cabinet approved that consultation be conducted on the varying of the order to
remove clauses b) to e), but that clauses highlighted in bold a), f) & g) would remain
in force. A public consultation was undertaken from Tuesday 7 July until Sunday 9
August 2020. Information was circulated to relevant stakeholders, including Poole
Business Improvement District, local community organisations and publicised
through social media and press releases. An online questionnaire was circulated to
gather people’s views on the proposals to vary the current Order.

There were 199 responses to the consultation, and views were finely balanced, with
the majority of respondents agreeing with the proposals to remove clauses B (51%)
& D (52% agreed), equally split on clause C (50% agreement) and disagreeing with
the proposal to remove clause E (54% disagreed). Respondents expressed strong
feelings in their comments on both sides. Examples of comments included:

e The need for better support services for the homeless and genuine beggars to
enable them to improve their lives

170




e Taking a more humane and compassionate approach to supporting the homeless
and genuine beggars

e Concerns that the current PSPO in Poole Town and Holes Bay discriminates
against the homeless by criminalising rough sleeping

o Feeling intimidated by the presence and behaviour of rough sleepers and
beggars

¢ The enforcement of the Poole Town and Holes Bay PSPOs and how this could
be stricter and more systematic

o The placement of the homeless’ belongings in Poole Town and the social and
economic impact this has on the area

¢ The negative impact rough sleeping and drug use has on Tourism in the PSPO
area

4. Prior to the consultation exercise there was a review into tackling street based anti-
social behaviour looking at local evidence and national research. It concluded that
using patrolling CSAS Officers, there is a much greater engagement with those who
are causing anti-social behaviour, which in turn leads to larger numbers being
referred into support services. Ultimately it is through addressing the underlying
causes of the anti-social behaviour, such as addiction, that we will see change. With
CSAS Officers now patrolling in Poole Town Centre, this approach is seeing results
in this area also.

5. ltis therefore recommended that the Poole Town Centre and Holes Bay PSPO is
varied to restrict the following;

a. Drinking alcohol in public, whilst behaving in an anti-social manner
b. Possession, supply or use of intoxicating substances
c. Behaviour which causes harassment, alarm or distress.

6. Subject to Cabinet approval a new Order will be made covering Poole Town Centre
and Holes Bay with these agreed restrictions.

Consistency of Approach to Management of Anti-Social Behaviour Across BCP

7. As noted in the previous report, across BCP - in particular in Bournemouth and Poole
where the issues of street based anti-social behaviour are most prevalent, there has
been a clear and long standing commitment to adopting balanced approaches where
both enforcement and support are at the heart of the models applied.

8. In March 2018, the Community Safety Accreditation Scheme (CSAS) was introduced
into Bournemouth Town Centre, after proving successful in Boscombe. This service
has now been extended to Poole Town Centre. In April 2020, in response to the
Covid 19 pandemic, the Chief Constable of Dorset Police extended the previously
specified geographic CSAS areas to the whole of the BCP area, allowing for flexibility
of deployment and response to issues of anti -social behaviour. However, it should
be noted that the originally allocated CSAS areas remain the focus, with dedicated

171



10.

11.

patrols of accredited officers in place in Bournemouth Town Centre, Boscombe
Precinct, Poole Town Centre and soon, Ashley Road, Poole.

The powers accredited to the individuals through both BCP Council and CSAS
accreditation are;

The power to require name and address for those acting anti-socially

The power to require name and address for those who are begging

The power to remove alcohol from those under 18

The power to confiscate alcohol from those acting anti-socially

The power to require name and address for a qualifying offence

The Power to issue a Fixed Penalty Notice for failure to comply with a Public Spaces

Protection Order.

o The Power to issue a Fixed Penalty Notice for failure to comply with a Community
Protection Notice

e The Power to issue a Fixed Penalty Notice for littering

In March 2020 Cabinet resolved to adopt a consistent approach to enforcement of
street-based anti-social behaviour across BCP, with a focus on the CSAS

service as the means of response. The proposals made continue to ensure that the
balanced approach of enforcement and support remains, and that the benefit of
collaborative partnership working to tackle these complex issues, is maximised.
CSAS Officers will use enforcement powers to tackle anti-social behaviour including
Community Protection Warnings and Notice and will gather evidence for Anti-Social
Behaviour Injunctions where appropriate.

The recent easing of lockdown measures, the re-opening of urban centres and the
hospitality industry as well as the significant increases in visitor numbers to our BCP
beaches, has highlighted the clear need for the Council and the Police to have
sufficient powers available in order to effectively manage ASB, low level crime and
public order issues. There are a number of hot spot areas across BCP where the
easing of lockdown has created community concerns around public consumption of
alcohol and general anti-social behaviour. With several PSPQO’s already in place,
there is often confusion around where these powers are available. In addition,
several existing PSPQO’s across the BCP geography are due to be renewed shortly,
which requires the Council to consult on any proposals relating to these Orders.

In order to adopt a consistent approach to issues of general anti-social behaviour it is
proposed that a further public consultation is completed in order to consider the
implementation of a PSPO covering the whole of the BCP geography, with the
following clauses included;

a. Drinking alcohol in public, whilst behaving in an anti-social manner
b. Possession, supply or use of intoxicating substances
c. Behaviour which causes harassment, alarm or distress.

This Order would replace all existing PSPO'’s relating to alcohol and general anti-social
behaviour across the BCP area, a summary of which is listed in Appendix A.

172



12. Cabinet may also wish to consider whether there are other prohibitions that they
wish the consultation to take into account such as a ban on disposable barbeques in
public spaces or illegal beach camping

Summary of financial implications

13. The costs of the consultation exercise are limited to staff time from the Anti-Social
Behaviour and the Insight, Policy and Performance teams and will be met from within
these existing budgets.

Summary of legal implications

14. The Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 introduced Public Spaces
Protection Orders (PSPOs) to tackle a wide range of anti-social behaviour issues.
The Act gives councils the authority to draft and implement PSPOs in response to
the particular issues affecting their communities, provided certain criteria and legal
tests are met. Under the legislation, PSPOs need to be reviewed every three years.

15. The legal tests focus on the impact that anti-social behaviour is having on victims
and communities. A Public Spaces Protection Order can be made by the council if
they are satisfied on reasonable grounds that the activity or behaviour concerned,
carried out, or likely to be carried out, in a public space:

e has had, or is likely to have, a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the
locality;

e s, oris likely to be, persistent or continuing in nature;

e s, oris likely to be, unreasonable; and

o justifies the restrictions imposed.

16. Given that these orders can restrict what people can do and how they behave in
public spaces, it is important that the restrictions imposed are focused on specific
behaviours and are proportionate to the detrimental effect that the behaviour is
causing or can cause, and are necessary to prevent it from continuing, occurring or
recurring. Orders should not usually be made for issues where there is existing
primary legislation to deal with the issue

17. Before introducing, extending, varying or discharging a PSPO, local authorities are
obliged to consult with the local chief officer of police; the Police and Crime
Commissioner; owners or occupiers of land within the affected area where
reasonably practicable, and appropriate community representatives.

18. The Council has been challenged in the High Court in respect of a number of the
conditions set out in the Poole Town Centre and Holes Bay Public Spaces Protection
Order. Whilst the Council is able to respond to this challenge, a stay in proceedings
has been agreed with the Applicant in order to avoid wasting public money and Court
time should there be a change in approach taken which would negate the purpose of
the challenge in any event.

Summary of human resources implications

19. There are no human resources implications

173



Summary of public health implications

20. What is clear from national research and local engagement is that those who cause
street-based antisocial behaviour or beg are some of our most vulnerable individuals.
They often have a range of complex needs and experience severe and multiple
deprivation. Through better engagement and support into existing services, the work
of the CSAS Officers aims to help tackle these complex needs.

Summary of equality implications

21. Those engaged in street-based anti-social behaviour often have multiple and
complex needs, such as addiction and mental health issues. Their vulnerability
needs to be addressed in any programme aimed at tackling the wider harm that
may be caused to the community through begging, street drinking or associated
ASB. Having patrolling Officers who are able to engage and signpost to support
organisations is a more effective mechanism to achieving real change.
Enforcement action will only be taken where it is appropriate and proportionate to
the behaviour causing harm. These proposals apply to adults only, as different
approaches would be taken for working with children and young people.

Summary of risk assessment

Background papers
Appendices
Appendix A — Current BCP PSPO’s Summary

Previous report:
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s16369/Developing%20a%20harmo
nised%20approach%20to%20tackling%20street-based%20anti-
social%20behaviour.pdf

174


https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s16369/Developing%20a%20harmonised%20approach%20to%20tackling%20street-based%20anti-social%20behaviour.pdf
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s16369/Developing%20a%20harmonised%20approach%20to%20tackling%20street-based%20anti-social%20behaviour.pdf
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s16369/Developing%20a%20harmonised%20approach%20to%20tackling%20street-based%20anti-social%20behaviour.pdf

Appendices
Appendix A — Current BCP PSPQO’s Summary

Area Clauses
\Whole of Bournemouth Alcohol Control
Christchurch Town Centre, Purewell Alcohol Control

and Mudeford Wood

Christchurch Saxon Square car park Alcohol Control & General ASB

Poole Town Centre and Holes Bay Alcohol Control, Begging, Loitering, general
ASB

Poole - Ashley Road & Alexandria Park| Alcohol Control & General ASB

175



This page is intentionally left blank

176



Agenda Item 13

CABINET BCP

Council

Report subject Traffic Regulation Orders - Riverside Avenue
Meeting date 9 September 2020
Status Public Report

Executive summary To approve the advertisement of changes to the Traffic Regulation
Order (TRO) for the prohibition of motor vehicles restriction on
Riverside Avenue shown in Appendix 1.

Recommendations Itis RECOMMENDED that:

Cabinet approve the advertisement of the Traffic Regulation
Order (TRO) for the prohibition of motor vehicles restriction in
Riverside Avenue shown in Appendix 1.

Reason for To implement new restrictions affording better opportunities for the

recommendations walkers and cyclists to enjoy the amenities of the area.

Portfolio Holder(s): Councillor Andy Hadley, Cabinet Member for Transport and
Infrastructure

Corporate Director Bill Cotton, Corporate Director of Regeneration and Economy

Report Authors Sally Swaine, Interim Team Leader - Traffic Management

Wards Littledown & Iford

Classification For Decision

Background

1. Wessex Water Treatment Plant is located at the end of Riverside Avenue. Prior to
April 2020 sole vehicular access to the facility was from Riverside Avenue, resulting
in a significant volume of HGV’s using the road. These HGV’s now use the newly
constructed on/off slip lanes from the A338.

2. Riverside Avenue is a well-used route for walkers and cyclists. The long-distance
path, the Stour Valley Way (Stourhead to Hengistbury Head) which takes in Throop
and Holdenhurst Village, crosses over the A338 via the footbridge (footpath no. K49)
and over Riverside Avenue to Hengistbury Head.

177



3. The section of Riverside Avenue proposed to be closed to vehicular traffic is no
longer necessary to provide vehicular access to the water treatment plant or any
other property. Its closure will enhance the environment for the enjoyment of walkers
and cyclists.

4. Gates would be erected to allow self-enforcement of the restriction whilst
maintaining access for walkers and cyclists.

implications

5. The cost of the advertising the TRO and implementing the works, if the TRO is

made, is estimated to be £7,500 which would be covered by Wessex Fields DLEP
scheme budget.

Summary of legal implications

6.

7.

Highways Authorities are required by The Local Authorities' Traffic Orders
(Procedure) (England and Wales) Regulations 1996 to undertake a statutory
consultation process to make any change to a TRO. This process includes
notifications to all relevant ward councillors and all statutory consultees (including
emergency services, disability groups, local public transport providers, national
transport associations and various council departments) and a three-week public
consultation noticed in the Bournemouth Daily Echo, on the council’s website and by
on-street notices in the relevant locations.

All representations received would be formally considered.

Summary of human resources implications

8.

Negligible.

Summary of sustainability impact

9.

Positive.

Summary of public health implications
10. Positive.

Summary of equality implications

11. Positive.

Summary of risk assessment

12. The initial risk assessment has classed the proposals as low risk.

Background papers

Initial Risk Assessment

Appendices

Appendix 1 — Plan of proposed restriction

178



V1.0 ‘
o o (] OPPMO
nitial Risk Assessment S5
>
—
PROJECT NAME: I Traffic Regulation Order Riverside Avenue
PROJECT NUMBER: To be obtained from PMO
PROJECT RISK LEVEL: LOW
Table 1 - Suggested criteria on which to score the type of project (please tick appropriate category
CRITERIA Score
1) Duration of Project 0-6 months ® 7-12 months Above 1 year '®) 2
2) Effort 1-4 people (FTE) ® 5-10 people (FTE) 11+ people (FTE) 0] 1
3) Business Impact Service Unit/Service 0 More than 1 SU Council/External ® 10
4) Priority Desirable ® Highly Desirable Essential 0 1
=
SgCOStS &/or Savings Up to £250k ® £251k-£500k Over £501k or if project is to be funded through () 2
prudential borrowing
6) Risk Impact Low Impact - Minor service @® Medium Impact - Service High Impact - Significant or total service 0
disruption/inconvenience, minor disruption, More serious injury or disruption, major disabling injury or fatality,
injury, small financial loss, isolated financial loss, adverse media high or catastrophic financial loss, adverse 1
service user complaint. coverage, numerous service user national media coverage, ministerial intervention
complaints in service running.
Risk 17
Score

A numerical rating is applied to each cell (see Table 1) For example a ‘Priority’ of ‘Highly Desirable’ is worth 3 points and a ‘Cost’ of ‘£501-£1m’ is worth 5 points. Totalling the points scored for each
‘criteria’ gives a project score. This score is then mapped against a project-risk status in Table 1 below:

Table 1 - Risk Status

Project Risk Rating

Points Total

Low

Between 10-18

Medium

Between 19-35

High

36+

Initial Risk Assessment

RSA -IRA




This page is intentionally left blank

180



9|ed
610|  zo-00L-pGlgz | SN S

g squnyBumeig | DOW g

JaplQ uolnenbey
olyel| paesodoid
BNUBAY SpISIOAIY

IWWYEDORA
HLMOED
TUNOLLYNHILNI
HLNOWINENOE

T TTRTTT To Toy T sy Uiy Iy wupeacd
R T USEIIRnK] o pee] AR DU RAPAIO0 ST SaSU i UogRTRaL)

AT D) eni) D SR LTS 8 sl 10 P IRROD B 3 eG U0
U 5 SMRING B LI (VI RAATIS: SOUBURL) WS PRTROKIN W e B

wepe ¥l [

A3

S310ON

™

f M-
i |
/..Q
it

¥ 4
" ‘__’.l_'-/_, y
" - \

. e M

ol 4 -
i Fmeea 3N
5 a_ -

suel)sapad/sisioho
loj ebien pue ejeb |
Y% ugamjeq deb spim wg _‘WU\
"uoieoo] sy} je pajejsul-
aq 0} ajeb jusuewlad
¢ /

- ME )

\]
(}
\

]
]
1
1

4,
\

|
-

T,
2

VJI kv
2

1SINYuUap|oH /ﬂw\

Pl



sally.swaine2
Typewritten Text

sally.swaine2_1
Typewritten Text

sally.swaine2_2
Typewritten Text

sally.swaine2_3
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1


This page is intentionally left blank

182



CABINET

Agenda ltem 14

BCP

Council

Report subject

Traffic Regulation Orders - Hurn Court Lane

Meeting date

9 September 2020

Status

Public Report

Executive summary

To approve the advertisement of changes to the Traffic Regulation
Orders (TROs) on Hurn Court Lane to prohibit motor vehicles to
provide a dedicated quiet two-way route for the enjoyment of
walkers, cyclists and horse riders.

Recommendations

It is RECOMMENDED that:

Cabinet approve the advertisement of changes to the Traffic
Regulation Orders for the prohibition of motor vehicles in Hurn
Court Lane as shown in Appendix 1.

Reason for
recommendations

To implement new restrictions to improve road safety and
encourage sustainable means of travel.

Portfolio Holder(s):

Councillor Andy Hadley, Cabinet Member for Transport and
Infrastructure

Corporate Director

Bill Cotton, Corporate Director of Regeneration and Economy

Report Authors Sally Swaine, Interim Team Leader - Traffic Management
Wards Commons
Classification For Decision

Background

1. Hurn Court Lane is a single-track rural lane which is subject to a one-way restriction
(east to west) from its junction with Christchurch Road (B3073) to Mill Lane. The
lane is also subject to a 6’6” width restriction and 7.5T weight limit.

2. Atemporary traffic regulation order to close the road to vehicular traffic throughout
the Blackwater Bournemouth International Growth Programme project works is

currently in place.

183




3. Hurn Court Lane is part of a linking section of quiet lanes between an improved
shared use walking and cycling route, constructed as part of the Blackwater Junction
Improvements, and the public right of way network that connects to Throop.

4. Prohibiting motor vehicle use along the section of Hurn Court Lane shown in
Appendix 1 would provide a dedicated quiet route for walking, cycling and horse
riding, which would encourage sustainable travel.

5. Vehicle access would be maintained to the Camouflage Paintball centre and the
paddock adjacent to the Christchurch Road junction. Gates would be erected to
allow self-enforcement of the restriction whilst maintaining access for walkers,
cyclists and horse riders.

Summary of financial implications

6. The cost of the advertising the TRO and implementing the works, if the TRO is
made, is estimated to be £14,000 which would be covered by the Blackwater
Junction Improvements DLEP scheme budget.

Summary of legal implications

7. Highways Authorities are required by The Local Authorities' Traffic Orders
(Procedure) (England and Wales) Regulations 1996 to undertake a statutory
consultation process to make any change to a TRO. This process includes
notifications to all relevant ward councillors and all statutory consultees (including
emergency services, disability groups, local public transport providers, national
transport associations and various council departments) and a three-week public
consultation noticed in the Bournemouth Daily Echo, on the council’s website and by
on-street notices in the relevant locations.

8. All representations received will be formally considered.

Summary of human resources implications

9. Negligible.

Summary of sustainability impact

10. The prohibition of motor vehicles restriction (including the revocation of the one-way
restriction) would make the route two-way thereby shortening the journey distance
for cyclists and horse riders when traveling west to east by approximately 800m.
Conversely the journey distance for motor vehicles travelling east to west would
increase by 800m.

11. The dedicated quiet route would encourage more sustainable travel due to it being
largely motorised traffic free.

Summary of public health implications
12. Positive.

Summary of equality implications

13. Positive.

Summary of risk assessment
14. The initial risk assessment has classed the proposals as low risk.

184



Background papers

Initial Risk Assessment

Appendices
Appendix 1 — Plan of proposed restriction

185



This page is intentionally left blank

186



V1.0 ‘
[ [ ] o Oppmo
nitial Risk Assessment &
>
—
PROJECT NAME: I Traffic Regulation Order Hurn Court Lane
PROJECT NUMBER: To be obtained from PMO
PROJECT RISK LEVEL: LOW
Table 1 - Suggested criteria on which to score the type of project (please tick appropriate category
CRITERIA Score
1) Duration of Project 0-6 months ® 7-12 months Above 1 year '®) 2
2) Effort 1-4 people (FTE) ® 5-10 people (FTE) 11+ people (FTE) 0] 1
3) Business Impact Service Unit/Service 0 More than 1 SU Council/External ® 10
4) Priority Desirable ® Highly Desirable Essential 0 1
=
ﬁCOStS &/or Savings Up to £250k ® £251k-£500k Over £501k or if project is to be funded through () 2
prudential borrowing
6) Risk Impact Low Impact - Minor service @® Medium Impact - Service High Impact - Significant or total service 0
disruption/inconvenience, minor disruption, More serious injury or disruption, major disabling injury or fatality,
injury, small financial loss, isolated financial loss, adverse media high or catastrophic financial loss, adverse 1
service user complaint. coverage, numerous service user national media coverage, ministerial intervention
complaints in service running.
Risk 17
Score

A numerical rating is applied to each cell (see Table 1) For example a ‘Priority’ of ‘Highly Desirable’ is worth 3 points and a ‘Cost’ of ‘£501-£1m’ is worth 5 points. Totalling the points scored for each
‘criteria’ gives a project score. This score is then mapped against a project-risk status in Table 1 below:

Table 1 - Risk Status

Project Risk Rating

Points Total

Low

Between 10-18

Medium

Between 19-35

High

36+

Initial Risk Assessment

HCL - IRA




This page is intentionally left blank

188



Bio|  €0-004-¥51GZ | SLN:®I€S 1 I
hay squnysumeg | DON e
JaplO uone|nbay
oljel| pesodoid
o2ueT uno) uInH

INNYEHOOEA
HLAMOED
TYNOILYNYILNI
HINOWINENOa

nnmﬂﬁOU WIE
I \ - -
114 £
= = - -
2 #
T ST T R T s R GRS #
T ropeaed .
FAF 0 USETeROK O CeS) Al pUB RARAICO BMouT SaliU | UORETIDOLIN) PRI \s
AT D W O R Leopurs b Amslng 10 0 IRINT0 B0 IR U0 RAT J
BOGRURT 7 BOMRRALING TR LT [NUNGNE ASATER SOUBLELD) WSH PRSTEaded W O B #
,
#
s
: [o)]
: ee]
. i

sueu}sapad/sisioAo

Jo} abian pue ajeb
usamjaq deb apim wg'|
‘uoneodo| siy} je pajejsul

Jusixe OYL [] 990} a)eb Jusuewlad

suelsapad/s)sijoAa”
=y | Jo} eblen pue ajeb
"\ usamjaq deb apim wg'|
b "uoneoo| siy} je pajjeisul
B 8q 0} 8)eb jusueuwlad

Nk \ e \ p, .
-~y Wt P SR

-~ Ve 3 - -

,“
S31ON , ¥ 1 3



sally.swaine2_4
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1


This page is intentionally left blank

190



Agenda Iltem 16

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

191



This page is intentionally left blank



By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

197



This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of Minutes
	Exempt Minutes - Impact of COVID-19 on the provision of leisure and cutural services in Bournemouth / Poole , 29/07/2020 Cabinet

	6 DLEP - FWP Corridor Programme
	Appendix 1 - FWP: Wallisdown Rd Corridor GA
	Sheets and Views
	SHEET 1 - 4VP



	7 Adult Social Care Strategy
	8 Performance Management Framework
	Enc. 1 for Performance Management Framework

	9 Emergency Active Travel Fund Programme
	10 Bournemouth Christchurch Poole Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document
	Enc. 1 for Bournemouth Christchurch Poole Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document
	Enc. 2 for Bournemouth Christchurch Poole Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document
	Enc. 3 for Bournemouth Christchurch Poole Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document

	11 Waste Services Policies
	Appendix 1 - DIA 134 Waste Services Policies

	12 Public Spaces Protection Orders (PSPO)
	13 Traffic Regulation Orders - Riverside Avenue
	Enc. 1 for Traffic Regulation Orders - Riverside Avenue
	Enc. 2 for Traffic Regulation Orders - Riverside Avenue

	14 Traffic Regulation Orders - Hurn Court Lane
	Enc. 1 for Traffic Regulation Orders -  Hurn Court Lane
	Enc. 2 for Traffic Regulation Orders -  Hurn Court Lane

	16 Disposal of Broadwaters site, Wick Lane. Bournemouth (change in sale price)
	Site Plan - Broadwaters, Wick Lane




